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Alpha Bank Albania remains committed to the principles 
and values that have governed its operation since its very 
establishment. Its primary aim is credibility, reliability and 
efficiency in banking services. 

Our everyday mission is to be a trusted partner to all our 
clients by creating relationships based on trust, respect 
and sincerity, relationships that we evolve into powerful, 
longlasting bonds. 

Our vision is to improve constantly our products and 
services in order to meet our clients’ needs and contribute 
on improving the quality of their lives.  

We care about our clients’ savings and we support them 
with beneficial investment and deposit products. 

We care about our clients’ dreams and needs and we 
support them realize them through lending products with 
favorable terms and conditions and preferential interest rates.

We care about our business partners and we support 
them in their daily operations to help them grow and move 
toward success.

We care about our employees by providing them a fair 
working environment through a modern remuneration 
policy, equal opportunities for career development and 
absence of all discrimination

We care about the country we operate and we substantially 
contribute on the growth of Albania’s economy

We care about the environment by developing and 
enhancing sustainable ‘’green practices and environment 
footprint in general.

We care about the society by supporting it through a very 
rich sponsorship program. 

We care about our Shareholders by committing to 
maintain a strong financial position focused on profitability. 

OUR MISSION AND VISION

WE CARE ...



ANNUAL REPORT 2019

5

01  LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

02  LETTER FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

03  MANAGEMENT BOARD 

04  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

  • CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND PRACTICES

  • INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

  • THE SHAREHOLDERS MEETING, BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

  • COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ COMMITTEES FOR THE YEAR 2018

  • MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

  • DESCRIPTION OF THE DIVERSITY POLICY APPLIED TO MANAGEMENT, ADMINISTRATION AND SUPERVISION BODIES

  • REMUNERATION POLICY

05  ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

06  RETAIL BANKING BUSINESS REVIEW 

07  WHOLESALE BANKING BUSINESS REVIEW 

08  OPERATIONS & IT BUSINESS UNIT REVIEW

09  HUMAN RESOURCES 

10  PROMOTIONAL CAMPAIGNS 2019

11  CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

12  EVENT OF THE YEAR



6

vs. 8.46% (2018) show a strong and stable Bank, being far 
above the minimum local regulatory requirements. 

2020 is an unprecedented year due to pandemic COVID-19 
but we remain positive that the instruments issued by the 
Government of Albania will support the economy’s return 
to normality and the extension of the loan payments will 
support the customers through the difficulties. Alpha Bank 
has proven during the 22 years that it operates in Albania 
that it is a trustworthy partner and together with the 
Management team we remain committed to stand by our 
customers and  plan the day after.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to the 
Members of the Board of Directors, the Management 
Board and the Employees of the Bank for their continuous 
commitment and dedication. 
 

 

A. C. THEODORIDIS
Chairman Board of Directors Alpha Bank Albania

Year 2019 was a defining year for Alpha Bank Group. We 
worked systematically on a comprehensive plan that will 
make our bank a key driver of progress and reassert our 
leading role as a financier of households, businesses and 
the Greek economy and effectively create value for our 
shareholders, our customers, and of course, our employees.

The Group’s Pre-Provision Net Income stood at Euro 
1,135.6 million corresponding to circa 2% of Total Assets 
while, profit after tax for the Alpha Bank Group amounted 
to Euro 97 million vs. Euro 53 million in 2018. 

2019 was a challenging year for the Albanian Economy. 
Lower energy production, the completion of projects related 
to the construction of the Trans-Adriatic gas pipeline and 
the November earthquake impacted the economic growth 
resulting at only 2.2% vs. 4.1% of the previous year. 

Regarding the banking sector in Albania, the banking 
consolidation of the last two years has produced an 
enhanced competitive environment which  compels the 
banks to differentiate through more competitive products 
and innovative solutions in order to provide both excellent 
experience and acceptable risks.

The financial situation of the banking sector in Albania 
proves to be strong with a decrease on Non-Performing 
Loans (NPLs) at 8.4% vs. 11.1% of year 2018, with an 
increase of RoA indicator at 1.4% and RoE indicator at 
13.5% while maintaining a high level of capital adequacy 
ratio of 18.3%.
 
During 2019 Alpha Bank Albania performed better 
compared to 2018. The Bank focused its efforts on reducing 
costs and optimizing profitability, improving quality and 
efficiency of processes to strengthen customer experience 
and on maintaining a sound liquidity base. The Capital 
Adequacy Ratio (CAR) was 17.76% vs. 17.14% of 2018), 
the aggregate liquidity ratio was 33.01% vs. 31.91% (2018) 
and a significantly improved NPL ratio (decreased to 4.75% 

Letter from the 
Chairman of the 
Board of Directors
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The banking system in 2019 in Albania, characterized by a 
satisfactory expansion of its activities and its credit portfolio 
quality improvement, performed positively contributing to 
the country’s financial stability. 

During 2019, Alpha Bank Albania (ABA) loans market share 
was 6.4% with a loan portfolio at the end of the year of 
EUR 299 million. Deposits market share was 5.3% as 
total funding from clients was EUR 525 million, increased 
by 5%. It was also accompanied with a relevant shift 
from time deposits to savings and current accounts. The 
aggregate gross Loans to Deposits ratio equals 57%. NPL 
ratio dropped to 4.7% from 8.5% the year before whereas 
the Bank maintained a satisfactory CAD ratio at 17.7% and 
aggregate liquidity ratio at 33%.

The sustainable bank growth, the optimization of the cost 
to income and cost of risk ratios, the further reduction of 
NPL and NPE ratios and the simplification of the ‘’customer 
journey’’ through our servicing channels were our main 
objectives for the year 2019 providing our Customers, both 
individuals and businesses, with personalized products and 
services, fair pricing, simple processes, access anytime and 
anywhere through our digital platforms.

All undertaken actions measured by the key performance 
indicators as they were set by the Board of Directors for 
all employees and managers, were efficiently monitored 
and proved the improvement of the financial position and 
performance of the bank. The Internal Control System was 
improved, enriched in all areas of our banking activities. The 
customer transactions were supported by an upgraded core 
banking system, Flexcube 12.3 and Oracle Banking Digital 
Experience which will substantially improve customer 
experience in both branches and e-banking. 

COSME Loan Guarantee Facility Program was another 
important milestone making Alpha Bank the first bank 
in Albania to sign a Euro 25 million agreement for the 
financing of Albanian Small and Medium Enterprises 

(SMEs) as part of the COSME Loan Guarantee Facility 
Programme, provided by the European Union. Under this 
agreement, Alpha Bank Albania started to grant loans to 
Albanian SMEs with limited available collateral, with the 
backing of COSME guarantees.

Year 2020 so far is a very challenging one. While the effects 
of the November Earthquake were still present, Albania 
and the world had and still have, to face the effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic which already impacts the country’s 
economy, forcing measures for mandatory social distancing 
and temporary closure of many businesses. 

Alpha Bank Albania proved to be well prepared to face 
this challenge with a solid capital position and increased 
liquidity; both very important indicators that enable 
us, to support our customers to surpass the difficulties 
during these unprecedented crisis, as well as to decisively 
contribute to the fortification of the Albanian economy by 
close collaboration the Albanian Government. 

I would like to use this opportunity to thank sincerely all our 
Employees for their hard work, dedication, commitment 
and enthusiastic support in sharing our common vision and 
the Banks’ values.

On behalf of the Management Board and all our staff, I want 
also to thank our Shareholder for his trust and our business 
partners for their loyalty to us.

G. A. PAPANASTASIOU
Chief Executive Officer Alpha Bank Albania

Letter from the 
Chief Executive 
Officer
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This statement is required by the Group Policies on 
Corporate Governance and by Alpha Bank Albania’s 
Corporate Governance Code. Pursuant to these provisions 
the Annual Report of the Board of Directors of Alpha 
Bank Albania (hereinafter the “Bank”) should include a 
Corporate Governance Statement. The reference date of 
the Corporate Governance Statement is 31.12.2019.

A. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND PRACTICES

1. The Corporate Governance Code
The Bank operates within the framework of the Bank 
Corporate Governance Code, which is posted on the Bank’s 
website (http://www.alphabank.al/en/alpha-bank-albania/
corporate-governance-code/)

Effective Corporate Governance constitutes an expressed 
goal of the Bank, which is constantly pursued.

In particular, the Corporate Governance Code as well as the 
Corporate Governance practices which are implemented 
by the Bank are in accordance with the requirements 
of the relevant legislative, supervisory and regulatory 
framework and with the international best practices in 
Corporate Governance. They aim at increasing the long-
term economic value of the Bank, taking into consideration 
the interests of the Shareholders, those transacting with 
the Bank, the Employees and other Stakeholders. 

The said practices are taken into account in Bank’s Corporate 
Governance Code, which sets the framework and guidelines 
for the governance of the Bank as well as in the policies 
and the procedures applied by the Bank pertaining to 
corporate governance issues, such as, indicatively, conflict 
of interests, related parties, remuneration, nomination 
of candidate Members of the Board of Directors and the 
operation of the Committees of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the revision of the 
Corporate Governance Code.

The Corporate Governance Code of Alpha Bank defines the 
duties and allocates responsibilities among the Board of 
Directors, its Committees, the Management Board and the 
other Committees of the Bank, regulates issues pertaining 
to the composition, the operation and the evaluation of the 
Board of Directors, the obligations of its Members, issues 
pertaining to the Shareholders Meeting as well as issues 
pertaining to the Internal Control System of the Bank. The 
principles on which the Corporate Governance Code is 

Corporate Governance Statement 

based correspond to four concepts:
a. responsibility of the Bank’s directors and managers;
b. accountability to the Board of Directors and the Bank’s 
Shareholders;
c. fairness towards all of the Bank’s Stakeholders; and
d. transparency in the relationship between the Bank’s 
managers/executives and the Board of Directors as well as 
the Bank and its Shareholders and Regulators

The Corporate Governance Code of the Bank stipulates 
expressly the distinguished responsibilities of the Chair 
of the Board of Directors, the Vice Chair and the Chief 
Executive Officer.
The Bank complies with the Corporate Governance Code 
and provides explanations in case it deviates from the 
relevant provisions. The Bank did not deviate from the 
Corporate Governance Code in 2019.

The Bank constantly enhances the corporate governance 
framework it applies by adopting practices and measures 
beyond those defined in the relevant legal and regulatory 
framework. 

Furthermore, the Board of Directors examines periodically 
corporate governance issues. During 2019 the bank revised 
the Corporate Governance Code and the Charters of all 
Board of Directors’ Committees in order for them to be fully 
aligned with the relevant regulatory framework and with the 
most recent best practices of corporate governance. Each 
Committee has been assigned with explicitly defined and 
distinct responsibilities. Moreover, the Board of Directors 
reviewed and approved the Whistleblowing Policy and 
Procedures. 

2. Induction and Training Programmes for the Members 
of the Board of Directors
The Bank offers the new Members of the Board of 
Directors an induction programme on Legal and Regulatory 
requirements, Corporate Governance principles, Risk 
Management, Internal Audit, Compliance, Capital 
Adequacy, Financial and Accounting Services, Information 
Technology and Security, and Strategic Planning as well 
as the possibility for relevant information seminars and 
information meetings.

Moreover, the Bank provides continuous informative 
sessions to the Members of the Board of Directors in order 
to update them on current issues of the banking market 
and on the regulatory developments in the financial sector.
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3. Composition and function of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors convenes every two months or more 
often if necessary. The Articles of Association of the Bank 
provide the Board of Directors with the option to meet by 
teleconference. At the beginning of each calendar year, 
the Board of Directors adopts a calendar and a work plan 
for regular meetings during the year. The Minutes of the 
meetings of the Board of Directors and its Committees are 
signed at the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors 
or of the relevant Committee.

The tenure of the Members of the Board of Directors is four 
years. 

The members of the Board of Directors were elected by 
the Shareholders Meetings. The Board’s tenure ends after 
four years from the date the member is registered in the 
National Business Centre. For the avoidance of any doubt, 
the mandate of a Member of the Board of Directors does 
not terminate until the Shareholders’ Meeting has convened 
to elect the new Members of Board of Directors and they 
have been approved by the Bank of Albania.

Although the number of Non-Executives Members of the 
Board of Directors is not stipulated by the domestic legal 
and regulatory framework, according to the group policies 
it cannot be less than 1/3 of the total number of Members. 
Out of the total of seven (7) Members of the Board of 
Directors of the bank the number of non-executive-
members amounts to six (6) of the total, thus exceeding 
by far the minimum number for such members set in the 
group policies.  

Also, in accordance with the group policies at least two 
(2) Non-Executive Members should be Independent. In 
the Board of Directors of the Bank, the respective number 
exceeds, since 57% of the Members are Independent 
Members. 

Although the Board of the Directors has not established 
an attendance objective for its members, the average 
attendance from the members was over 95%. According 
to the Group Policies, it is estimated that there were no 
Member absences from Board meetings without a valid 
reason. The Members of the Board of Directors who were 
absent had informed the Bank in time of the relevant 
reasons.

During 2019, no changes took place in relation to the 
composition of the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors, in accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Code regarding the evaluation of Alpha Bank 
Board of Directors performed an independent three years 
evaluation, of its effectiveness and discussed on the 
relevant action plan. 

The Members of the Board of Directors represent different 
business sectors and are acknowledged for their character, 
integrity, ability of leadership, management, thought and 
constructive collective operation in a team environment as 
well as for their financial knowledge and other professional 
and business experience. 

4. Communication with Shareholders
Alpha Bank S.A. as a shareholder of the Bank has an 
active and enhanced participation in the all issues related 
to the banks operation and performance. The bank 
developed procedures of active communication with the 
Shareholder and establishes the appropriate conditions so 
that the policies and strategies adopted are based on the 
constructive exchange of views with the shareholder.

Also, during 2019, the Financial Statements 2018 in 
accordance with IFRS and Reporting Methodology and 
Content of Financial Reporting were presented and the 
meeting focused on pure business issues and on corporate 
governance issues.

5. Other issues
The Bank, in accordance with the best practices of corporate 
governance, and aiming to positively further enhance the 
collaboration within the Group, is welcoming the Group 
initiative launching a series of meetings between the 
Members of the Board of Directors or Board Committees 
of the Bank and of the Alpha Bank Group. 

The Bank conducted a review of all the Corporate 
Governance documents used by Bank. Following a thorough 
gap analysis, the Corporate Governance Codes and the 
Charters of the Board of Directors’ Committees were fully 
aligned with those of the Group and with the domestic 
legal and regulatory requirements.

Additionally, the Bank has adopted a Code of Ethics for the 
performance of duties with the purpose to implement the 
standards required by modern corporate governance and 
effective Internal Control. Specifically, the Code describes 
the commitments and the practices of the Bank regarding 
its activities, the management, the rules of conduct of 
Executives and Employees towards each other, but also 
towards those transacting with the Bank and towards 
the Shareholders. The said Code, as in force, is posted on 
the Bank’s website (http://www.alphabank.al/en/human-
resources-/code-of-ethics/).

B. INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM

1.Internal Control System
The Internal Control System, on which the Bank places 
great emphasis, comprises auditing mechanisms and 
procedures, relating to all the activities of the Bank, aiming 
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at its effective and secure operation.

The Internal Control System is designed to ensure:
- the consistent implementation of the business strategy             
   with an effective utilisation of the available resources, 
- the identification and management of all risks    
  undertaken, 
- the completeness and the reliability of the data        
  and information required for the accurate and timely    
  determination of the financial situation of the Bank and     
  the generation of reliable financial statements,
- the compliance with the current regulatory framework,      
  the internal regulations, the rules of ethics, 
- the prevention and avoidance of erroneous actions     
  that could jeopardise the reputation and interests of             
  the Bank, the Shareholders and those transacting with   
  it, the effective operation of the IT systems in order to   
  support the business strategy and the secure circulation,     
  processing and storage of critical business information

The Bank has established an Audit Committee, which 
is responsible for the monitoring of financial reporting 
processes, the effective operation of the internal control 
and risk management systems as well as for the supervision 
and monitoring of the regular audit and of the issues 
pertaining to the objectivity and independency of the 
External Auditors.

The Audit Committee cooperates with the Risk Committee 
regarding the oversight of certain key areas of risk and 
capital management and their repercussions on the Internal 
Control System.
The specific duties and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee are determined in its Charter. This Charter was 
reviewed and approved during 2019. 

The evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Internal Control System of the Bank is conducted:

a. On a continuous basis by the Internal Audit Division 
of the Bank through audits effected as well as by the 
Compliance Department with respect to the observance of 
the regulatory framework.

The audit plan of the Internal Audit Division is based on 
the prioritisation of the audited areas, by identifying and 
assessing the risks and the special factors associated 
with them. In addition, any instructions or decisions of the 
Management of the Bank, along with regulatory framework 
requirements and extraordinary developments in the overall 
economic environment are taken into account.

The Board of Directors approves the audit plan based on a 
positive recommendation by the Audit Committee which 
is updated at least every quarter on the implementation 
thereof, the main conclusions of the audits and the 
implementation of the audit recommendations as well as 

on the compliance with the regulatory framework.

b. On an annual basis by the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors, on the basis of the relevant data and 
information from the Internal Audit Division, the findings 
and observations from the External Auditors as well as from 
the Regulatory Authorities.

In 2019, the Audit Committee evaluated the Internal Control 
System of the Bank for 2018.

The External Auditor is appointed by the Shareholders 
Meeting based on the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee. 

The Audit Committee approves the range and the contents 
of the audit activities, through the monitoring of the 
statutory audit of the annual and consolidated financial 
statements and especially its performance, taking into 
account any findings and conclusions of the competent 
authority.

The Bank has in place Policies and Procedures for the 
preparation of the financial statements and the recognition 
of financial events, in accordance with the current legislation 
and the accounting standards in force, as defined in the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The accounting system of the Bank is supported by 
specialised IT systems which have been adapted to the 
business requirements of the Bank and the requirements of 
the accounting standards.

Audit and accounting reconciliation procedures have been 
established in order to ensure the correctness and the 
legitimacy of the entries in the accounting books as well as 
the completeness and validity of the financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors supervises 
and assesses the drafting procedures for the interim and 
the annual financial statements of the Bank, in accordance 
with the current audit standards, and studies the reports of 
the External Auditors as regards deviations from the current 
accounting practices, informing accordingly the Board of 
Directors about the statutory audit’s result, its contribution 
to the integrity of the financial reporting as well as the 
Audit Committee’s role in the said process. Finally, the 
Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independence 
of statutory auditors, in accordance with the laws in force, 
and, in particular, as to the provision of non-audit services 
to the Bank and the Group.

2. Risk Management 
The Bank has assigned the identification, measurement and 
monitoring of the risks undertaken to the Risk Management 
Division. The Risk Management Division reports to the 
General Manager – Chief Risk Officer of the Group through 
Risk Management Business Unit; and to the Chief Executive 
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Officer; to the Risk Management Committee and (through 
the latter) to the Board of Directors of the Bank.

The effective management of all types of risk relies on 
accurate and efficient measurement using specialised 
methods and calculation models, and on the adoption of 
policies and limits through which the Bank’s exposure to 
various risks is monitored. These methodologies allow for 
consistent risk management by all the operational Units of 
the Bank as well as by the Risk Management Committees 
that have been established as described below.

The Operational Risk Committee convenes quarterly 
or whenever deemed necessary depending on the 
circumstances and ensures that the appropriate processes, 
methodologies and infrastructure to manage the operational 
risk of the Bank exist, while approving recommendations to 
limit operational risk.

The Credit Risk Committee convenes quarterly, or 
whenever deemed necessary assesses the adequacy and 
the efficiency of the credit risk management policy and 
procedures of the Bank and resolves on the planning of the 
required corrective actions.

The Troubled Assets Committee (TAC) convenes monthly or 
whenever deemed necessary and examines issues related 
to the portfolios managed by the Non-Performing Loans 
Divisions in order to achieve the operational goals of the 
Bank, pertaining to which it may propose further decision-
making to the Credit Risk Committee and subsequently to 
the Board of Directors for the final approval, through the 
Risk Committee of the Board of Directors

The Assets-Liabilities Management Committee (ALCo) 
convenes monthly or whenever deemed necessary, 
examines issues related to Treasury and Balance Sheet 
Management and the overall financial volumes of the 
Bank and the Group and resolves on them, approving the 
respective actions and policies.

The Bank has fully complied with the provisions of the 
institutional framework with respect to its troubled assets. 
The Risk Committee, a Committee of the Board of Directors 
as described below, provides oversight over all the areas of 
Risk Management of the Bank.

C. THE SHAREHOLDERS MEETING, BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

1. Shareholders Meeting
The Shareholders Meeting is the highest governing body of 
the Bank and resolves on all corporate matters, apart from 
those that fall within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Board 
of Directors, unless the latter resolves, on a particular item 
of its agenda, to relegate it to the Shareholders Meeting. 

Its resolutions shall be binding upon all the Shareholders, 
including those absent or dissenting.

The Shareholders Meeting, unless otherwise foreseen by 
law and the Articles of Association, is vested with exclusive 
authority to resolve on the following matters:
a. amend the Articles of Association, including the 
resolutions to increase or to reduce the share capital;
b.  elect Members to the Board of Directors and award the 
status of Independent Member of the Board of Directors, 
as well as appoint Members to the Audit Committee;
c. appoint external auditors and determine their 
remuneration
d. determines the remuneration of the Audit Committee 
members;
e. adopts the annual financial statements and determines 
the distribution of the annual profits of the Bank and set 
the reserves;
f. terminate the bank’s operations, its restructuring and 
dissolution;
g. resolve on any other issues stipulated by banking law 
and any other law.

2. Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the general 
administration and management of corporate affairs as 
well as for the representation of the Bank in all its relations. 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the formulation of 
policies and the supervision of the activities of the bank. 
The Board of Directors resolves on all issues concerning the 
Bank. It performs any action for which the relevant authority 
is bestowed upon it, apart from those actions for which the 
Shareholders Meeting is the sole competent authority

The primary concern of the Board of Directors, while 
exercising its powers, is to promote the interests of the 
Bank, the Shareholders and its Employees as well as of 
other interested parties (as the case may be). The Board 
of Directors monitors the compliance and adherence to the 
provisions of the law within the framework of the corporate 
interest as well as the compliance to procedures of reliable 
and timely information and communication.
The Board of Directors convenes at least every two months. 
In 2019, it convened 9 times. The average participation rate 
of the Members of the Board of Directors in the meetings 
stood at over 95% (based on the composition of the Board 
of Directors at 31.12.2019).

3. Committees of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors may establish permanent or 
temporary Committees to assist in the discharge of its 
responsibilities facilitate its operations and effectively 
support its decision- making. The Committees have an 
advisory role but may also assume delegated authorities, 
as determined by the Board. Each Committee has its 
dedicated Charter prescribing its composition, tenure, 
functioning and responsibilities 
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The Members of the Risk Committee are appointed by 
the Board of Directors, while the members of the Audit 
Committee are appointed by the Shareholders Meeting 
following recommendations by the Board of Directors. 
The Committees consist of Non-Executive Members. They 
may be assisted in their work by other persons, including 
external advisors.

The main mission of the Committees consists in the 
examination of issues within their mandate, in the 
preparation of draft resolutions to be approved by the 
Board of Directors and in the submission of relevant 
briefings, reports, key information and recommendations 
to the Board. The Committees report regularly to the Board 
of Directors about their work. 
 

Audit Committee
The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include 
but are not limited to those presented below.
The Audit Committee:
• Monitors and assesses, on an annual basis, the adequacy, 
effectiveness and efficiency of the Internal Control System 
of the Bank.
• Supervises and assesses the procedures for drawing up 
the annual and interim Financial Statements of the Bank.
• Reviews the Financial Statements of the Bank, together 
with the Statutory Auditors’ Report prior to their submission 
to the Board of Directors.
• Ensures the independent and unprejudiced conducting of 
internal and external audits in the Bank.
• Assesses the performance and effectiveness of the 
Internal Audit Division and Compliance Department of the 
Bank.
• Meets with the External Auditors of the Bank on a regular 
basis.
• Is responsible for the selection of the Statutory Certified 
Auditors.
The specific duties and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee are determined in its Charter).

Risk Committee 

The main responsibilities of the Risk Committee include but 
are not limited to those presented below.
The Risk Committee:
• Reviews and recommends to the Board of Directors for 
approval the risk and capital management strategy.
• Reviews and recommends annually to the Board of 
Directors for approval the Bank’s risk appetite framework 
and statement.
• Determines the principles which govern risk management 
across the Bank in terms of the identification, measurement, 
monitoring, control, and mitigation of risks.
 Evaluates on an annual basis or more frequently, if necessary, 
the appropriateness of risk identification and measurement 

ExecutiveNon-Executive

Executive

Non-Executive

86%
14%

Non-IndependentIndependent

Non-Independent

Independent

57%
43%

Based on the composition of the
Board of Directors at 31.12.2019

Non-Independent

Independent

67%
33%

Based on the composition of the
Risk Committee at 31.12.2019

Audit Committee
Chair: Stavri Pashko

Frequency: At least once every four 
months

Number of meetings 
in 2019:

6

Average participation 
rate of the Members:

100% (based on 
the Committee’s 
composition at 

31.12.2019)
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systems, methodologies and models, including the support 
of the Bank’s IT infrastructure.
• Reviews regularly, at least annually, the Bank’s ICAAP/
ILAAP and related target ratios and recommends their 
approval to the Board of Directors.
• Assesses the overall effectiveness of capital planning, 
allocation processes and systems, and the allocation of 
capital requirements to risk types.
• Reviews the risk management and the NPE/NPL policy 
and procedures of the Bank.
• The specific duties and responsibilities of the Risk 
Committee are determined in its charter.

D. COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ COMMITTEES FOR 
THE YEAR 2019

CVs of the Members of the Board of Directors
NON-INDEPENDENT, NON EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 

Artemios Theodoridis – Chairman 
He studied Economics and holds an MBA from the University 
of Chicago. He joined Alpha Bank S.A. as Executive General 
Manager in 2002. He has been a member of the Board of 
Directors of Alpha Bank S.A. and a General Manager since 
2005. From March 2017 he is Deputy CEO, Non-Performing 
Loans and Treasury Management. 
He is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Alpha Bank 
Albania since 2012.

Konstantinos Dorkofikis – Vice Chairman
He holds a Bachelor Degree in Electrical Engineering 
from the National Technical University of Athens, as 
well as an MSc in Shipping Finance from City University, 
London. He joined Alpha Bank in 1999. He was Corporate 
Banking Manager from 2007 until June 2013, when he was 
appointed Executive General Manager of Alpha Bank S.A. 
He is the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Alpha 
Bank Albania since 2016

NON-INDEPENDENT, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

Georgios Papanastasiou 
He holds a BSc degree in Economics from Aristotle 
University of Thessaloniki and a MBA degree from Bentley 
College, Massachusetts, USA. 

Mr. Papanastasiou has worked for over three decades in 
the banking sector in the SEE region, namely Greece, North 
Macedonia, Serbia and now Albania. His career started 
at The Bank of Nova Scotia in Thessaloniki, Canada’s 
International Bank and a leading financial services provider 
in North, Central and Latin America and Asia-Pacific. In 
1991, he joined ABN Amro Bank NV, the largest bank in 
the Netherlands and among the biggest in Europe, where 
he served as Area Commercial Manager for North Greece. 
Mr. Papanastasiou in September 2000 joined Stopanska 
Banka AD, Skopje, member of NBG Group where after five 
years as Corporate Advisor and Credit manager, he was 
appointed General Manager B’ in July 2005.  

In January 2009 he joined Alpha bank Group and in April 
2009 he was appointed President of the Executive Board 
of Alpha Bank Serbia AD until April 2017 when he was 
seconded to Alpha Bank Albania to be appointed as bank’s 
Chief Executive Officer on the 20th of December 2017.

Risk Committee
Chair: Georgios Adraktas

Frequency: At least once every four 
months

Number of meetings 
in 2019:

4

Average participation 
rate of the Members:

100% (based on 
the Committee’s 
composition at 

31.12.2019)

Based on the composition of the
Risk Committee at 31.12.2019
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Number of Meetings in 2019 9 6 4

Frequency At least every two months At least once every four 
months

At least once every 
four months 

Tenure 4 years 4 years            4 years

1. Artemios Theodoridis   
(Chairman)

as of 10/03/2016 NEx  - NI

2. Konstantinos Dorkofikis 
(Vice Chairman)

as of 10/03/2016 NEx  - NI

3. Georgios Papanastasiou
(CEO & Member)

as of 03/08/2018 Ex  - NI

4. Ioannis  Parlitsis  (Member) as of 10/03/2016 NEx  - I

5. Ilir Ciko  (Member) as of 10/03/2016 NEx  - I

6. Edlira Luci  (Member) until 26/11/2018 NEx  - I

7. Stavri Pashko (Member) as of 22/10/2018 NEx  - I

8. Tatiana Elezi  (Member) as of 26/11/2018 NEx  - I

1. Stavri Pashko (Chairman) as of 31/05/2018 NEx  - I

2. Georgios Kontogiannis  
(Member)

as of 24/06/2016 NEx  - NI

3. Tatjana Elezi  (Member) as of 07/09/2018 NEx  - I

1. Georgios Adraktas (Chairman) as of 04/03/2016 NEx  - NI

2. Ilir Ciko (Member) as of 24/06/2016 NEx  - I

3. Ioannis Parlitsis  (Member) as of 04/03/2016 NEx  - I

Board of Directors Audit Committee Risk Committee

Executive (Ex)/Non 
executive (NEx)

Executive (Ex)/Non 
executive (NEx)

Executive (Ex)/Non 
executive (NEx)

Non-Independent 
(NI)/Independent(I)

Non-Independent 
(NI)/Independent(I)

Non-Independent 
(NI)/Independent(I) 

Board of Directors Members

Audit Committee Members

Risk Committee Members
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NON-EXECUTIVE, INDEPENDENT MEMBERS

Ioannis Parlitsis
He studied Computer Programming at the Bull General 
Electric. He has worked in Emporiki Bank reaching the 
positions of Deputy General Manager and Chief Operations 
Officer. He also worked in Emporiki Credicom, National 
Bank and Alpha Bank.

Ilir Ciko
He graduated in engineering at the University of Tirana and 
holds an MBA from the University of Nebraska and Faculty 
of Economy of University of Tirana, and an MPA from 
Harvard University, USA. He has lectured business and 
public policy courses since 2004 (currently at the Canadian 
Institute of Technology) and has worked for long time as 
an advisor and consultant for international organizations 
and projects including the World Bank, UNDP, ILO, USAID, 
Oxfam GB etc. He has a considerable experience in the 
public service and during 2003-2005 he was Deputy 
Minister of Economy.

Tatjana Elezi
She graduated in finance at the University of Tirana, Faculty 
of Economics, has completed postgraduate studies in 
“Corporate Finance” at the University Of Toronto, Canada, 
holds a Master Degree in Public Administration, University 
of Nebraska & University of Tirana. Ms. Elezi holds also an 
academic degree “Doctor of Economics Sciences” issued 
at University of Tirana and Certificate in Accounting and in 
Internal Audit in Public Sector. 
She has a long experience as a freelance expert/consultant, 
and has worked for several projects funded from EU, UNDP, 
CEB, PAMECA, etc, in fields of public and private financial 
management, auditing, internal control, risk management, 
and good governance. Since 2016 she is the Head of 
Finance and Accounting Department in Tirana Business 
University, Tirana.

Stavri Pashko
He holds a BSc degree from Università degli Studi di Torino, 
Italy (2004) and a MA degree from University of Malmö, 
Sweden (2013). He is a certified internal auditor, focusing 
his career on roles related to risk control and governance. 
During 2006-2012, Stavri has been working in Albania, 
mainly as internal auditor in the banking sector, as well 
as founding and leading the Albanian Institute of Internal 
Auditors, working as an advisor and consultant for OECD 
and organizing and facilitating workshop and seminars on 
internal audit and risk management topics. In the latest 
years, Stavri has been working in multinational companies, 
headquartered in Sweden such as Telia Company and 
Volvo Group, in industries such as telecommunication 
and automotive. Furthermore, since 2019 he serves as a 
committee member at Guidance Development Committee 
of the Global Institute of Internal Auditors.

SECRETARY

Fatjona Delaj
She graduated from the University “Ismail Qemali” Vlore, 
Faculty of Foreign Languages (English) in 2006 and holds 
an MBA from New York University, Tirana, Albania. She 
joined Alpha Bank Albania in 2014 and apart from her 
function as Senior Executive Assistant she also acts as the 
secretary of the Shareholders Meeting, Board of Directors, 
Audit Committee and Management Board of Alpha Bank 
Albania.

E. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

The Committees composed by Members of the 
Management of the Bank are the Management Board, 
the Assets-Liabilities Management Committee (ALCo), 
the Credit Committees (Performing and Non-Performing 
Loans) the Troubled Assets Committee, and the Risk 
Management Committees (Credit and Operational).

1. The Management Board is the senior executive body 
of the Bank. The Board of Directors has assigned to the 
Management Board the overall daily management of the 
banking business and the implementation of the bank 
policies and Board of Directors resolutions. The Management 
Board submit for approval to the Board of Directors the 
business model of the bank, its strategy, mission and 
vision, the medium term business plan and the annual 
budget of the bank, policies and resolutions, transactions 
under the responsibility of the Board of Directors, etc. 
The Management Board resolves on procedures, work 
flows and manuals in line with the policies of the bank and 
transactions under its responsibility. 

2.The Assets-Liabilities Management Committee (ALCo) 
examines and decides on issues related to Treasury and 
Balance Sheet Management and monitors the course of the 
results, the budget, the funding plan, the capital adequacy 
and the overall financial volumes of the Bank, approving the 
respective actions and policies. In addition, the Committee 
approves the interest rate policy, the structure of the 
investment portfolios and the total market, interest rate 
and liquidity risk limits.

3.The Credit Committees approve new credit or 
restructuring proposals for performing and non-performing 
loans.

4.The Troubled Assets Committee designs, proposes 
and implements the strategy for managing troubled assets 
by Business Unit (Wholesale Banking, Retail Banking), 
geographical region, product, activity, sector, etc.

5.The Credit Risk Committee and the Operational Risk 
Committee are handling and treating issues related to the 
credit risk and to the operational risk.
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2

1

2 2

Banking Activities Risk/NPL's Audit Management

Proffessional Profiles of BoD Members

F. DESCRIPTION OF THE DIVERSITY POLICY 
APPLIED TO MANAGEMENT, ADMINISTRATION AND 
SUPERVISION BODIES

Alpha Bank Albania has adopted the Diversity Policy that 
sets the principles and the approach for the achievement of 
diversity in both the Board of Directors and the Personnel 
in accordance with the group policies as well as with 
European best practices.
The objectives of the Policy are to support and promote 
diversity as well as to engage a broad set of qualities and 
competences when recruiting Members of the Board of 
Directors and Personnel, to achieve a variety of views and 
experiences and to facilitate independent opinions.

1.Board of Directors

Taking into account the existing framework, the Bank 
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board of 
Directors. It recognises that diversity can help achieve 
maximum team performance and effectiveness, enhance 
innovation and creativity and promote critical thinking 
and team cooperation within the Board. In this context, a 
diversified Board Board of Directors fosters constructive 
challenge and discussion on the basis of different points 
of view.

It can help improve decision-making regarding strategies 
and risk-taking by encompassing a broader range of views, 
opinions, experience, perception, values and backgrounds. 
It reduces the phenomena of “group think” and “herd 
behaviour”.
A truly diverse Board of Directors allows and makes 
good use of differences in skills, industry experience, 
background, abilities, qualifications, professional training, 
gender and other distinctions between the Members. 
All Board appointments at the Bank are made on merit 
in the context of the skills, experience, knowledge and 
independence which the Board as a whole requires in order 
to be effective.

1 1

4

0

1

31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70 71-80

Age Range of BoD Members 

2

1 1 1 1 1

Economics Electrical
Engineering

Computer
Programming

Engineering Economy and
Commerce

Finance

Educational profiles of BoD Members
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All the candidates for the Board of Directors are assessed 
on the basis of the same criteria, irrespective of gender, 
since the eligible Members for the Board of Directors must 
fulfil all the conditions set in relation to their qualifications. 
In this context, men and women have equal opportunities 
to be nominated, under the condition that they fulfil all 
the other prerequisites. The Bank does not nominate 
Members to the Board of Directors with the sole purpose 
of increasing diversity to the detriment of the functioning 
and suitability of the Board of Directors collectively or at 
the expense of the suitability of individual Members of the 
Board of Directors.

2.Personnel

To Bank, the provision of equal opportunities for 
employment and advancement to all its Employees is not 
merely a legal obligation, but also a cornerstone of its 
Human Resources Policy. This Policy is incorporated in the 
Human Resources management procedures and practices 
and ensures the implementation thereof in every country 
where the Bank is present.

Seeking to implement gender equality in action and to 
address the issue of the low percentage of women in 
positions of responsibility, issues which are typical of the 
labour market, the Bank takes a number of measures which 
help its Employees balance their professional and family 
life, while also promoting equitable treatment and merit-
based Personnel advancement, with equal advancement 
opportunities for female Employees.

The Bank applies a uniform, gender-neutral salary policy to 
all categories of Personnel. The Bank respects and defends 
the diversity of its Employees irrespective of gender, age, 
nationality, political and religious convictions or any other 
discrimination. Further to the above-mentioned principles, 
the Bank recognises the need for diversity pertaining to 
skills, background, knowledge and experience in order 
to facilitate constructive discussion and independent 
thinking. It ensures top-quality work conditions and 
opportunities for advancement that are based on merit 
and equitable treatment. It offers fair remuneration, based 
on contracts which are in agreement with the conditions 
of the corresponding national labour market and ensures 
compliance with the respective national regulations, inter 
alia, on minimum pay, working hours and the granting of 
leave.

Further to the above, the Bank defends human rights and 
opposes all forms of child, forced or compulsory labour. 
The Bank respects employee rights and is committed to 
safeguarding them fully, in accordance with the national 
and the European Union Law and the Conventions of the 
International Labour Organization.
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Members of the Board of 
Directors

Non-Executive, 
Independent

Executive

Number of beneficiaries 4 1

Fixed remuneration total (amounts in ALL) 5,765,490 -
Variable remuneration total split into: - -

Cash - -

Shares - -
Share-linked instruments - -

Other types - -

Information on the Remuneration of the Members of the 
Board of Directors for the year 2019 (1.1-31.12.2019)

G. REMUNERATION  POLICY

The Remuneration Policy is consistent with the values, 
business strategy, objectives and, in general, the long-
term interests of the Bank and in absence of any detailed 
domestic regulation it complies with the group policies. 

In particular, in the context of effective risk management, 
the Policy discourages excessive risk taking and prevents 
or minimises the emergence of conflicts of interest 
which are to the detriment of the proper, wise and moral 
management of risks. 
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During the year 2019 retail segment managed to provide 
new loans disbursed in the amount of EUR 25.35 million, 
which enabled an increase in the total retail outstanding 
balance of 6.8% at the amount of EUR 105.695 million. 
In particular:

• Housing loans balances amounted at EUR 70.099 
million with an increase of 2.3% compared to end of 
previous year. The new disbursements amounted at EUR 
10.267 million.

• Consumer lending balances amounted at EUR 34.011 
million with an increase of 17.9% compared to end of 
previous year. The new loans disbursed amounted at 
EUR 15.080 million.

• Credit cards balances amounted at EUR 1.475 million 
with a growth rate on total billings 7% compared to 2018 

Retail Banking Business Review 2019

whereas on-us volumes increased by 8%. By the end of 
2019, there were 1,374 active POS-es, 7,081 credit cards 
and 47,264 debit cards in force.

• By the end of 2019, the retail deposits amounted at 
EUR 480.3 million with an increase of 2.1% compared 
to end of previous year. The interest expenses remained 
steady reflecting the strategy of the Bank to maintain 
a natural growth and to optimize the interest expenses.
 
• During the last 2 months 2019 after the earthquake, 
Bancassurance activity took several actions to ensure 
minimizing the effect of earthquake damages, especially 
for the bank’ collaterals toward insurance companies.

• NPL Retail ratio has been reduced to 5.8% at the end 
of year 2019 compared to 7.4% at the end of year 2018. 

TOGETHER
IN EVERY STEP
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Business activity in Albania in 2019 was largely directed 
to real estate, construction particularly in Tirana and 
Durrës but also to tourism, new hotels and residential 
complexes by the sea, logistics and energy. Few PPPs 
were tendered whereas tenders for energy investments, 
especially in photovoltaic but also road construction, 
the train connection Tirana Durrës etc. are expected to 
complete in 2020. 
 
In 2019 new disbursements reached EUR 46 mil and the 
outstanding balance of the loans amounted at EUR 190 
mil while repayments and write offs reached EUR 53 mil. 
During the year new collaborations started with both 

Wholesale Banking Business 
Review 2019

local and international companies operating mostly on 
the growing sectors of the economy like energy, retail 
and tourism. Major efforts was directed to the increase 
SME lending and in September the Bank initiated, first in 
Albania, the COSME program which will grant loans to 
Albanian SMEs with limited available collateral, with the 
backing of COSME guarantees of Euro 25 million.

During the year 2019, the NPL ratio for Wholesale 
Business portfolio has continued its steady decline, 
reaching to 4.2% from 6.1% in Y2018, declining by 31.6% 
and NPE ratio reaching to 8.3% from 12.3% declining 
with 32.6%.

MOVING FORWARD

TOGETHER
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With reference to the key projects in progress the 
following should be mentioned:

• Core banking system upgrade  
Flexcube upgrade project was successfully completed on 
October 2019. The go-live was smooth and without any 
negative impact in the daily operations. Migration business 
reconciliation was successfully performed with minor 
migration issues reported.

• Digital platform upgrade 
Upgrade web & mobile banking (FCDB 2.9) in a single digital 
platform (OBDX 17). Alignment of the digital platform with 
competition in terms of technology, basic functionalities, 
and use friendliness. 
The new platform was successfully introduced to our 
customers as of October 2019. 

• Utility payments project 
Real time payments in favor of the utility providers are 
successfully introduced and implemented to our customers 
(to mention here Albtelecom (fixed telephony, mobile, TV 
& internet), OSSHE (electricity) and UKT (water supply).  
Next milestones: Extend the service with new Utility 
Providers like Pension, Vodafone, Telecom, E-Gjoba: Police 
fines payments etc. 

• Deposit insurance agency reporting on depositor’s 
data quality
DIA (Deposits Insurance Agency) report has been optimized 
during the year achieving prompt generation of the system 
(from 1 working day to less than an hour). Preparation and 
delivery of depositor’s data quality reports for 2019 (on 
monthly and quarterly basis) was completed in due time. 

• Initiatives plan for alpha bank albania branch network 
/ atms network rationalization 
Within the framework of the branch network rationalization, 
during 2019 it was completed successfully on time and on 
budget:

a. The merger of Bilishti branch with Korca branch
b. A 2nd branch in Durres city (Taulantia branch)
c. Installing 3 off-site ATMs (Toptani, Dhermi, Lungomare).

Next milestone:
a. New branch in Tirana city (effective as of February 2020)
b. Off-site ATMs installation 

Operations & IT Business Review 2019  

• Electronic archiving and indexing project
a. Creation of the electronic archive for customer 
information files including existing customer and new ones 
for 8 branches (6 in Tirana area and 2 outside (021 & 022)).
b. Creation of the electronic archive with the daily 
transaction journals and supporting documents for Blloku 
Ambasadave branch for 10 years archive.

• Digital transformation
a. Creation of an enterprise document management 
(EDM SharePoint) application as a one-stop location for 
all branches to have a complete overview of all digitally 
scanned documents (customer files and daily transactions).  
b. Automation of the mail room activities concerning the 
handling of all the incoming and outgoing correspondence

• WI-FI connection for branches & ho 
Successfully implemented on time.
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The ultimate goal for the year 2019 was to establish and 
develop an appropriate work environment where employees 
can succeed and be enabled to deliver sustainable 
organizational performance. We placed particular focus 
on reviewing and designing internal processes in order to 
increase the employee satisfaction.

RECRUITMENT

During the year 2019, we focused in attracting new staff 
based on strict criteria in terms of quality education and 
professional standards according to the business plan, 
organizational needs and budget forecast. 

The Bank is always taking into consideration the possibility 
of covering vacancies from the existing staff, following a 
careful evaluation of:

- Performance at work
- Devotion
- Collaboration standards 
- Integrity and Professional Ethics
- Work Experience 

The Headcount on 31.12.2019 was 418 employees. 67% of 
Alpha Bank Albania employees are female and 33% male. 
211 employees work in branches, while 207 in Head Office.

The aim of ABA is to strongly support the employees 
who have demonstrated devotion, consistency, good 
performance and ambition. 23.2% of the staff was 
promoted or had salary adjustments.

INTERNSHIP PROGRAMME 

Alpha Bank Albania has always shown a strong CSR. In 
the framework of CSR policies, ABA contributes to the 
increased capacities of student of Economic Branches 
through trainings on education of young job seekers 
in Banking Sector, offering of internship possibilities 
increasing the corporate impact in financial education for 
youngsters. In this context, 37 students from public and 
private Universities addressed their internship needs. 

The aim of this process is to attract young talent and 
establish genuine links with Universities. We also participate 
in University career days organized by the corresponding 
student liaison offices, so that we can directly contact 
young professionals entering the labor market. Taking into 
consideration the above, during Year 2020 Alpha Bank 
Albania has hired 7 of the students whom successfully 

Human Resources

concluded their internship programme. 

TRAINING 

During 2019, the Bank has offered a wide range of training 
opportunities to employees of various position and 
qualification level, using a combination of trainings offered 
by internal management and external trainers to support 
employees in their career development. The main focuses 
of Training Programme during 2019 were:
 
a) Strengthening staff capacities through provision of 
training programmes and on-job assistance; 
b) Expanding knowledge and skills to develop leadership, 
management and supervision skills to improve staff 
performance in the institution and in relation with third 
parties.

More specifically:
- to develop sales skills,
- to assimilate and refresh products and services, 
- to develop business and retail knowledge,
- to develop operational knowledge,
- to learn to use the best tools and methods how to be 
attentive  and how to better know the customer,

418 participants attended 4’478 training hours, delivered in 
50 training programs, seminars or conferences organized at 
Group level, as well as inside and outside the Bank, mostly 
regarding topics as: products and services knowledge 
refreshment, sales techniques and customer care service 
as well as on enhancing the leadership and teambuilding 
skills of all Bank’ managers

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

During 2019, the HR focus has been the Performance 
Evaluation Process, whose results were linked with the 
employees improvement, training, career planning and 
rewarding schemes.
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Training 
programmes

50 4 478
418

Training hours Number of 
employees 

attending the 
trainings

Alpha Bank Albania Branch Network 

FemaleMale

Male

Female

67%
33%

207 Employees
in Head Office

211 Employees
in Branches Network

418
EMPLOYEES

IN TOTAL

The cities where Alpha Bank Albania operates:

Tiranë, Fushë Krujë, Durrës, Fier, Lushnjë, Vlorë, Himarë, Sarandë, Shkodër, Elbasan, Librazhd, Korçë, 
Pogradec, Gjirokastër, Tepelenë, Berat, Ura Vajgurore, Lezhë, Laç, Peshkopi, Burrel

REGION 1 REGION 2

Korça Branch Shtraus  Branch 

Lushnja  Branch Bulevardi Bajram Curri Branch 

Saranda Branch Shkodra Branch 

Durrës Branch Lezha Branch 

Elbasani Branch Blloku i Ambasadave Branch

Gjirokastër Branch Tirana Branch

Berati Branch Pjetër Budi Branch

Vlora Branch Zogu i Zi Branch

Fieri Branch Stadiumi Dinamo Branch

Pogradeci Branch Peshkopi Branch

Kristo Negovani Branch - Vlorë Burrel Branch

Tepelena Branch Unaza e Re Branch

Ura Vajgurore Branch Laçi Branch

Librazhdi Branch Fushë Krujë Branch

Himara Branch Kombinati Branch

Taulantia Branch - Durrës Kamza Branch

Vaso Pasha Branch

Tirana

Elbasani

Shkodra

Peshkopi

BurrelLaç

Lezha

Librazhdi

TepelenaVlora

Fieri

Saranda

Gjirokastër

Berati

Ura 
Vajgurore

Lushnja

Korça

Pogradec

Durrës

Kruja
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Marketing Campaigns Summary 
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EDUCATIONAL
European Money Quiz
On 28 March 2019, Alpha Bank Albania supported the 
European Money Quiz which is organized from the Albanian 
Association of Banks (AAB) in cooperation with Bank 
of Albania and the support of the Ministry of Education, 
Sports and Youth.

A number of 500 primary schools’ pupils across Albania 
competed directly in a live national contest and the winning 
team participated in the finals which were organized in 
Brussels.

Internship Program 
The Bank has signed an agreement with the Ministry of 
Education in Albania for offering an internship program for 
the interested student from all over Albania. During the 3 
months period 5 students had the opportunity to work in 
different divisions and departments of the Bank earning 
so a real work experience. An event was organized for the 
distribution of the certificates.

VOLUNTERISM
Volunteer contribution of the staff to Red Cross 
Albania
100 employees of the Bank contributed with basic needs 
items which were donated to Red Cross Albania. 10 staff of 
the Bank then visited one of the social centers in Tirana and 
serves launch to the visitors of the center.

Alpha Blood Donation Day
For the ninth consecutive year the Bank organized on the 
8th of July the blood donation day in collaboration with 
Red Cross Albania. More than 50 employees voluntarily 
participated on the event and the units of blood were 
donated for the children suffering from thalassemia.

SOCIAL 
World Vision Albania
The Bank supported through the Organisation World 
Vision Albania the therapies of 36 children in remote areas 
in Librazhd where medical centers are absent. The team 
which is composed from doctors and therapists assist the 
children every week in their homes.

PRO PAK Centre
The Bank supported the opening of the PRO PAK Center 
managed by Down Syndrome Albania where 100 children 
with disabilities will benefit from the services at newly 
opened through different therapies. The aim of the Center 
is to support people with disabilities have the right to 
access all public services, contribute to the community and 
live valued lives.

Fall in Jazz Festival
The Bank supported the second edition of the ‘’Fall in Jazz’’ 
Festival, the biggest jazz festival in the Country. The festival 
was organized in 4 consecutive days in different places 
with the participation of known performers from Albania, 
Greece etc. All the earnings from the festival went to the 
shelter of ‘’ Woman and children’’ subject to home violence.

Road toward success
On November the Bank supported the “Road toward 
success” event. The four-day event aimed in boosting 
employees’ interpersonal capabilities, in terms of skills 
and experiences. The event serves as well as a charity one, 
since all the incomes from it goes to charity (children’s’ 
homes, elders’ home or families in need).

OTHER 

41st International Conference of Data Protection and 
Privacy Commissioners
Alpha Bank supported the 41st International Conference of 
Data Protection and Privacy Commissioners, which is the 
first conference of this size and importance organized in 
Albania.

The Conference gathered over 700 among participants 
and invitees, representatives from 160 international and 
regional authorities.The dominant feature of this Open 
Session was the interaction and cooperation among 
representatives of DPAs, academia, industry, civil society 
and media. Topics dealt with included exchanges relating 
to common standards for the protection of data and 
privacy; addressing the global privacy challenges of data 
driven business models; data protection and competition 
as converging digital regulation; accountability as a global 
bridge to support high standards of data protection; 
and lastly discussions on the future challenges for data 
protection authorities and data protection officers.

Corporate Social Responsibility 
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Initiatives undertaken related to the earthquake in 
Albania
In the light of the earthquake of the November 26, 2019, 
Alpha Bank Albania undertook several actions such as:

• Donation of basic products for the people hospitalized in 
emergency centers;

• Support of the charity concert ‘’ You will never be alone’’;

• Monetary donation through the Albanian Association 
Banks;

• Donation of the fund allocated for Christmas basket to 
the account opened to support the earthquake affected 
households;

• Organisation of a festive event with more than 85 children 
hospitalized in different hotels in Durres; 

Alpha Bank Group supported as well with a direct donation 
at the account opened by the Government.
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Together, one team one dream: 

On September 28, 2019 it was organized the biggest 
team building event Alpha Bank Albania has done all the 
years it operates in Albania. 380 employees out of 417 
were present during the day where 15 different activities 
took place. 

Event of the Year

All the activities were chosen with the aim to further 
strengthening the team spirit and to get the employees 
interact and collaborate with each other as a team who 
shares the same values and goals even though out of the 
usual work environment.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders and Management of Alpha Bank Albania SHA 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Alpha Bank Albania SHA (“the Bank”), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flows statement for the year ended, and 

notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Bank as at December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Albania, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 

Emphasis of matter 

We draw attention to Note 31 in the financial statements describing management’s evaluation of the 

actual or potential impact of the effects of the COVID-19 coronavirus on the Bank. Our opinion is not 

modified in respect of this matter. 
 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report prepared by Management of the Bank in accordance with Article 53 of 

Law no. 9662, dated 18 December 2006 "On Banks in the Republic of Albania", amended, but does not 

include the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be 

made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements does 

not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In 

connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with 

governance. 

http://www.deloitte.al/


 

 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank 

or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are 

responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professionalscepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

  



 

 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 

to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 

Deloitte Audit Albania SHPK 

Rr. Elbasanit, Pallati poshte Fakultetit Gjeologji - Miniera,   

Tirana, Albania  

Identification number (NUIS): L41709002H 

 

 
Enida Cara 

Engagement Partner 

Statutory Auditor 

 

 

August 6, 2020        

Tirana, Albania  
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
(Amounts in LEK’000) 

     

 

 Notes 

For the year ended 

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended 

December 31, 2018 

Interest income 6 2,371,820  2,451,163  

Interest expense 6 (388,297)  (368,529) 

Net interest income  1,983,523  2,082,634  

     
Fee and commission income 7 489,423  521,754  

Fee and commission expense 7 (59,578)  (58,719) 

Net fee and commission income  429,845  463,035 

     
Gains less losses on financial 

transactions 8A (28,170)  (666,439) 

Other operating income 8B 49,585  14,092  

Total income  2,434,783  1,893,322 

     

Personnel expenses 9 (737,008)  (758,080) 

Depreciation and amortization 16, 17 (281,286)  (106,373) 

Operating expenses 10 (1,079,383)  (1,305,597) 

Total operating expenses  (2,097,677)  (2,170,050) 

     

Impairment of “Loans and advances”  15 (318,945)   (696,920)  

Impairment of “Debt Instruments” 14  49,760   (47,769)  

Recoveries from written off loans  70,097  110,533 

Net impairment loss  (199,088)  (634,156) 

Profit / (Loss) before income tax  138,018  (910,884) 

Income tax credit/ (expense)  11 -  (67,072) 

Profit / (Loss) for the year  138,018  (977,956) 

     
Other comprehensive income/(loss):     
Items that may be reclassified to 

profit or loss      
Revaluation of Fair Value through 

Other Comprehensive Income 

(FVOCI) securities 14 260,128  306,075 

Deferred tax expense 11 (39,019)  (45,911) 

Revaluation of securities, net of tax  221,109  260,164 

 

Other comprehensive income for the 

year  221,109  260,164 

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) 

for the year  359,127  (717,792) 

 

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to 

and forming part of the financial statements set out on pages 8 to 104. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
(Amounts in LEK’000) 

  

           

 Notes Share Capital   

Regulatory 

Reserves   

Other 

Reserves   

Accumulated 

Losses   Total  

           

Balance at January 1,2018  10,960,120  817,483  110,996  (2,311,604)  9,576,995 

           
Impact from the implementation of IFRS 9 as at 

January 1, 2018      77,218  (197,271)  (120,053) 

Loss for the year  -  -  -  (977,956)  (977,956) 

Net change in fair value of FVOCI financial assets 25 -  -  182,946  -  182,946 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  260,164  (1,175,227)  (915,063) 

           

Balance at December 31, 2018  10,960,120  817,483  371,160   (3,486,831)   8,661,932 

           
           

Profit for the year  -  -  -  138,018  138,018 

Net change in fair value of FVOCI financial assets 25 -  -  221,109  -  221,109 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  221,109  138,018  359,127 

           

Balance at December 31, 2019  10,960,120  817,483   592,269  (3,348,813)  9,021,059 

 

 

 

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements set out on pages 8 to 104.
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Statement of cash flows 
(Amounts in LEK’000) 

 

 Notes 

For the year ended 

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended 

December 31, 2018 

Cash flows from operating activities:     
Profit/(Loss) before taxes  138,018  (910,884) 

Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortization 16,17 281,286  106,373 

Gain on sale of property and equipment  (1,342)  (2,046) 

Property and equipment written off 16 9,083  24,365 

Impairment losses and provisions on Loans and 

Advances to customers to cover credit risk 15 288,032  696,920 

Impairment on securities  15,839  47,769 

Unrealized gain of financial assets measured at 

FVTPL  (17,127)  (12,393) 

Interest income 6 (2,371,820)  (2,451,163) 

Interest expense 6 388,297  368,529 

Net cash from operating activies  (1,269,734)  (2,132,530) 

(Increase) of Compulsory reserve 12 (120,597)  (894,625) 

(Increase) of Loans and advances to customers  (195,319)  (6,047,550) 

(Increase) of Other assets 18 (45,696)  (232,124) 

Increase/(Decrease) of Due to banks 21 (2,496,837)  1,632,813 

Increase of Due to customers 24 2,485,421  2,361,876 

Increase of Other liabilities 26 12,503  9,765 

Interest paid  (345,382)   (354,372) 

Interest received  2,524,634    2,603,541 

Net cash flows used in / (from) operating 

activities  548,993  (3,053,206) 

Cash flows from investing activities:     
Purchase of property, equipment and intangibles  16,17 (77,799)  (108,232) 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  1,342  2,046 

Proceeds from sales/maturities of investment 

securities  4,705,613  (5,105,910) 

Purchases of investment securities  (5,141,893)  3,659,470 

Net cash flows (used in)/ from investing activities  (512,737)  (1,552,626) 

Cash flows from financing activities:     

Subordinated debt payments  (33,052)   (34,590) 

Leases payments   (165,985)   (14,872) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (199,037)  (49,462) 

Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash 

equivalents  (150,699)  

             

(1,127,906) 

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (313,480)  (5,783,200) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year   16,362,088  22,145,288 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 28 16,048,608  16,362,088 

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of thefinancial 

statements set out on pages 8 to 104. 
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1. General 

Alpha Bank A.E. – Tirana Branch was established in 1998 as a branch of Alpha Bank A.E., Athens (“Head 

Office”), which is the ultimate parent of the Alpha Bank Group of companies. As of 19 December 2006 the 

Head Office’s Board of Directors approved a change in the name of the Bank to Alpha Bank – Albania (“the 

Bank”). The Bank’s registered offices are located at Rruga e Kavajes, Business Center G – Kam, 2nd floor, 

Tirana, Albania.  

On 29 February 2012 the Bank was transformed to a subsidiary based on the Decision no. 14 of the Supervisory 

Council of Bank of Albania (hereinafter refered to as “Central Bank”) and was licensed on 17 May 2012 for 

rendering payment transfers, credit and deposit activities, and other activities according to the Banking Law (No. 

8365 dated 2 July 1998, amended on 18 December 2006) and the Law on the Bank of Albania (No. 8269 dated 

23 December 1997) and changed the name to Alpha Bank Albania SHA.  

The immediate and ultimate controlling parent of the bank is Alpha Bank A.E. 

The Bank has 33 branch offices throughout the country (2018: 33 branch offices), with 11 branches being in 

Tirana (2018: 11 branches). 

The Bank’s Board of Directors as specified in the articles of association and relevant legal and regulatory 

framework is one of the most important governing bodies of the Bank and is composed by the following 

members: 

Role/position Name 

Chairman Non-executive Artemios Theodoridis 

Vice Chairman Non-executive Konstantinos Dorkofikis 

Member Independent Ilir Ciko 

Member Independent Tatjana Elezi 

Member Independent Ioannis Parlitsis 

Member Executive Georgios Papanastasiou 

Member Independent Stavri Pashko 

 

The Audit Committee oversees the preparation and publication of the annual Financial Statements of the Bank 

and the Group as well as the internal and external audits of the Bank. The Audit Committee is composed by the 

following members: 

Role/position Name 

Chairman  Stavri Pashko 

Member  Tatjana Elezi 

Member  Georgios Kontogiannis 

  

 

2. Basis of preparation 

These financial statements relate to the fiscal year 1.1 – 31.12.2019 and they have been prepared: 

a) in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB).and 

b) on the historical cost basis. As an exception, some assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Those 

assets are mainly the following: 

- Derivative financial instruments 

-  Investment securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

- Investment securities measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis to take into account current conditions, and 

the effect of any revisions is recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised.  
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2. Basis of preparation (Continued) 

The financial statements are presented in Lek, rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

The estimates and judgments applied by the Bank in preparing the financial statements are based on historical 

information and assumptions which at present are considered appropriate. 

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis to take into account current conditions, and 

the effect of any revisions is recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised. 

  

2.1 Adoption of new and amended standards 
 

 IFRS 16 Leases 

In the current year, the Bank has applied IFRS 16 that is effective for annual periods that begin on or after 

January 1, 2019. 

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant 

changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring 

the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-

term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor 

accounting have remained largely unchanged. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Bank’s financial 

statements is described below. 

The Bank has applied IFRS 16 as of January 01, 2019  using modified retrospective approach, by using 

practical expedient and replacing all the requirements of the previous Standard IAS 17. The detail of the 

changes in accounting policies are disclosed below and in notes 16 and 25 

a) Impact of the new definition of the lease 
 

The Bank has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess whether a 

contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 

will continue to be applied to those leases entered or changed before 1 January 2019. The change in definition 

of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 determines whether a contract contains a lease on 

the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on ‘risks and rewards’ in IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.  

 

The Bank applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all lease contracts entered 

into or changed on or after 1 January 2019, (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). In 

preparation for the first-time application of IFRS 16, the Bank has carried out an implementation project. The 

project has shown that the new definition in IFRS 16 will not significantly change the scope of contracts that 

meet the definition of a lease for the Bank. 
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2. Basis of preparation (Continued) 

2.1 Adoption of new and amended standards (Continued) 

b) Impact on Lessee Accounting 

(i) Former operating leases 

IFRS 16 has changed how the Bank accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 

17, which were off‑balance sheet. 

Applying IFRS 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the Bank has: 

 Recognised right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially 

measured at the present value of the future lease payments; 

 Recognised depreciation of right‑of‑use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement of profit 

or loss 

Separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) an 

interest (presented within operating activities) in the cash flow statement. 

 

Lease incentives (e.g. rent-free period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets 

and lease liabilities whereas under IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive, amortised as a 

reduction of rental expenses on a straight-line basis. 

 

Under IFRS 16, right‑of‑use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.  

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets), the Bank has opted to 

recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16. This expense is presented within 

‘other expenses’ in profit or loss. 

The Bank has used the following practical expedients when applying the cumulative catch-up approach to 

leases previously classified as operating leases applying IAS 17. 

 The Bank has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 

characteristics.  

 The Bank has adjusted the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount of 

provision for onerous leases recognised under IAS 37 in the statement of financial position 

immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing an impairment 

review.  

  The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases for which the 

lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application.  

 The Bank has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date 

of initial application.  

  The Bank has used hindsight when determining the lease term when the contract contains options to 

extend or terminate the lease. 
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2. Basis of preparation (Continued) 

2.1 Adoption of new and amended standards (Continued) 

       c)  Impact on Lessor Accounting  

IFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under IFRS 16, a lessor continues 

to classify leases as either finance leases or operating leases and account for those two types of leases 

differently.  However, IFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular regarding 

how a lessor manages the risks arising from its residual interest in leased assets.  

Under IFRS 16, an intermediate lessor accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate 

contracts. The intermediate lessor is required to classify the sublease as a finance or operating lease by 

reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease (and not by reference to the underlying asset as 

was the case under IAS 17).  

The Bank as of the year end does not have sub-leases for its leases recognized as right-of-use assets. 

      d)  Financial impact of initial application of IFRS 16  

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the 

statement of financial position on January 1, 2019 is 2.02%. 

The Bank has recognised ALL 1,477,465 of right-of-use assets and ALL 1,477,468 of lease liabilities upon 

transition to IFRS 16. The net impact in retained earnings is zero 

 

The following new amendments to the existing standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) are effective for the current reporting period: 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” - Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019), 

 Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019), 

 Amendments to IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” - Long-term Interests in 

Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019), 

 Amendments to various standards due to “Improvements to IFRSs (cycle 2015-2017)” resulting 

from the annual improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23) primarily with 

a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019), 

 IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019). 

 

The adoption of these amendments to the existing standards and interpretations has not led to any material 

changes in the Bank’s financial statements. 
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2. Basis of preparation (Continued) 

2.2 Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s 

financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 

become effective. 

 

 IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021), 

 Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” - Definition of a Business (effective for business 

combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of that 

period). 

 Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement” and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020), 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in 

Associates and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 

or Joint Venture and further amendments (effective date deferred indefinitely until the research project on 

the equity method has been concluded), 

 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” - Definition of Material (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020), 

 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 

 

The Bank has elected not to adopt these standards, revisions and interpretations in advance of their effective 

dates. The Bank anticipates that the adoption of these standards, revisions and interpretations (except of 

IFRS 16 as disclosed below) will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Bank in the 

period of initial application.   
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies  

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of Alpha Bank Albania SHA have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. 

(a) Foreign currency transactions 

In preparing the financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Bank's functional currency are 

recognized at the spot rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the operation at the 

spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that 

date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the income statement.Non-

monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rateruling at initial recognition at the date of the transaction.The exchange differences 

relating to these items are part of the change in fair value and they are recognized in the income statement or 

recorded directly in equity depending on the classification of the non-monetary item”. 

The applicable rates of exchange (Lek to foreign currency unit) for the principal currencies as at December 

31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

 2019 2018 

USD 108.64 107.82 

EUR 121.77 123.42 

GBP 143.00 137.42 

 

 (b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

(i) Date of recognition 

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at the date that the Bank becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. 

(ii) Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The Bank recognises financial assets or financial liabilities in its statement of financial position when it 

becomes a party to the terms of the contract. 

At initial recognition the Bank measures financial assets and liabilities at fair values. Financial instruments 

not measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and 

minus income or fees that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument. 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognized at the settlement date with the 

exception of equity shares and derivatives that are recognized on trade date. For bonds that are measured at 

fair value, the change in fair value during the period between the trade date and the settlement date is 

recognized in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income based on the bond’s classification category. 

 (iii) Classification of financial assets  

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:  

 Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with gains or losses 

recycled to profit or loss on derecognition 

 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

For each of the above categories the following apply: 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iii) Classification of financial assets (Continued) 

 A) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

In this category are classified the financial assets that satisfy both of the following criteria: 

- are held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows, 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

The above category is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and is periodically 

assessed for expected credit losses, as it is further described in note 16. 

 

 B) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with gains or losses 

recycled to profit or loss on derecognition 

In this category are classified the financial assets that satisfy both of the following criteria: 

- are held within a business model whose objective is a both to collect contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets, 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

The above category is periodically assessed for expected credit losses, as it is further described in note 14. 

 

C) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets included in this category are: 

i.  those acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term to obtain short term profit (held 

for trading). 

The Bank has included in this category bonds, treasury bills and a limited number of shares. 

ii. those that do not meet the criteria to be classified into one of the above categories 

iii.  those the Bank designated, at initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss. This 

classification option, which is irrevocable, is used when the designation eliminates an accounting 

mismatch which would otherwise arise from measuring financial assets and liabilities on a different 

basis (i.e. amortised cost) in relation to another financial asset or liability (i.e. derivatives which are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss). 

As at the reporting date, the Bank had not designated, at initial recognition, any financial assets as at fair value 

through profit or loss. 

Business Model assessment 

The business model reflects how the Bank manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. That 

is, the Bank’s business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 

selling financial assets or both. The Bank’s business model is determined at a level that reflects how groups 

of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. Accordingly, business 

model does not depend on management’s intentions for an individual instrument but it is determined on a 

higher level of aggregation. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iii) Classification of financial assets (Continued) 

C) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (Continued) 

Business Model assessment (Continued) 

The business models of the  are determined by the Asset Liability Committee (ALCo) which decides on the 

determination of the business model both for the loans and advances to customers and the securitiesportfolio. 

In this context: 

• Loans and advances to customers and due from banks are included in the business model whose objective 

is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (hold to collect) 

• For bonds and in general for fixed income investments, the Bank has identified the following business 

models: 

- Business model whose objective is to hold financial instruments in order to collect their contractual 

cash flows (hold to collect) 

- Business model that aims both at collecting contractual cash flows and selling (hold to collect and sell) 

- Trading portfolio. 

The determination of the above business models has been based on: 

• The way the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model 

are evaluated and reported to the Bank key management personnel. 

• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 

business model) and, specifically, the way those risks are managed. 

• The way the managers are evaluated (e.g., whether the evaluation is based on the fair value of the assets 

managed or the contractual cash flows collected). 

• Past and expected frequency and value of sales from the portfolio 

The Bank, at each reporting date, reassesses its business models in order to confirm that there has been no 

change compared to the prior period or application of a new business model. In the context of the reassessment 

of the hold to collect business model past sales as well as expected future sales are taken into account. In this 

assessment, the following cases of sales are considered consistent with a hold to collect business model: 

a) Sales of non performing loans due to the credit deterioration of the debtor, excluding those sales of 

loans considered as credit impaired at origination. 

b) Sales made close to the maturity of the financial assets so that the proceeds from the sales approximate 

the collection of the remaining contractual cash flows. In these cases, the Bank defines as ‘close’, what 

is less than 5% of the total life of the instrument remaining at the time of sale. 

c) Sales (excluding a and b) which are infrequent (even if significant in value) or insignificant in value 

both individually and in aggregate (even if frequent). The Bank has defined the following thresholds: 

− Significance: Sales exceeding 5% the previous reporting period gross balance of the respective 

portfolio 

− Frequency: Significant sale transactions occurring more than twice a year. 

Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) assessment of the contractual cash flows 

For the purposes of applying the SPPI assessment: 

− Principal is the fair value of the asset at initial recognition, which may change over the life of the 

financial asset (for example if there are repayments of principal). 

− Interest is the consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal 

amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks (i.e. liquidity 

risk) and costs, as well as a profit margin. 

Contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks and volatility in the contractual cash flows that are not 

related to a basic lending arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do 

not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iii) Classification of financial assets (Continued) 

C) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (Continued) 

Business Model assessment (Continued) 

Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) assessment of the contractual cash flows (Continued) 

In this context, in assessing whether contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank assesses whether the instrument 

contain contractual terms that change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows. More specifically, the 

following are taken into account: 

- Leveraged payments 

- Payments linked with the variability in exchange rates 

- Conversion to equity terms 

- Interest rates indexed to non-interest variables 

- Prepayment or extension options 

- Terms that limit the Bank’s claim to the cash flows from specified assets or based on which the Bank has 

no contractual right to unpaid amounts 

- Interest-free deferred payments 

- Terms based on which the performance of the instruments is affected by equity or commodity prices 

In addition, in determining whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding, it is assessed whether time value of money element has been modified. Time 

value of money is the element of interest that provides consideration for only the passage of time. That is, the 

time value of money element does not provide consideration for other risks or costs associated with holding 

the financial asset. However, in some cases, the time value of money element may be modified. That would 

be the case, for example, if a financial asset’s interest rate is periodically reset but the frequency of that reset 

does not match the tenor of the interest rate or if a financial asset’s interest rate is periodically reset to an 

average of particular short- and long-term interest rates. In such cases, the Bank assesses the modification to 

determine whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding. The objective of the assessment is to determine how different the contractual 

(undiscounted) cash flows could be from the (undiscounted) cash flows that would arise if the time value of 

money element was not modified (benchmark test). The effect of the modified time value of money element 

must be considered in each reporting period and cumulatively over the life of the instrument. If the Bank 

concludes that the contractual (undiscounted) cash flows could be significantly different from the 

(undiscounted) benchmark cash flows, the contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. According to the policy set by the Bank, the above assessment 

test does not result in significant different contractual cash flows when the cumulative difference over the life 

of the instrument does not exceed 10% and at the same time the number of individual cash flows with a 

difference of more than 10% do not exceed 5% of total reporting periods of the asset until maturity. 

 

Reclassification of financial assets 

Reclassifications of financial assets between measurement categories occur when, and only when, the Bank 

changes its business model for managing the assets. In this case the reclassification is applied prospectively. 

Changes in the business model of the Bank are expected to be rare. They arise from decisions of the Asset 

Liability Committee (ALCo) as a result of external or internal changes which must be significant to the entity’s 

operations and demonstrable to external parties. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

 (iii) Classification of financial assets (Continued) 

Reclassification of financial assets 

If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value 

through profit or loss measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain 

or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial asset and fair value is 

recognized in profit or loss. The same happens if the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortised 

cost measurement category and into the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement 

category, however in this case the difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial asset and 

fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income. The effective interestrate and the measurement of 

expected credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the reclassification. However, the lossallowance would 

be derecognized (and thus would no longer be recognized as an adjustment to the gross carrying amount)but 

instead would be recognized as an accumulated impairment amount in other comprehensive income. 

If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and 

into theamortised cost measurement category, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross 

carrying amount. Atthis date, the effective interest rate of the asset is calculated while the date of the 

reclassification is treated as the date ofinitial recognition for impairment calculation purposes. 

If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and 

into thefair value through other comprehensive income measurement category, the financial asset continues 

to be measured atfair value. As in the above case, at this date, the effective interest rate of the asset is calculated 

while the date of thereclassification is treated as the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation 

purposes. 

Ιf a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement 

category and intothe amortised cost measurement category, the asset is reclassified at its fair value at the 

measurement date. However, thecumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income 

is reversed and adjusted against the fair valueof the financial asset at the reclassification date. As a result, the 

financial asset is measured at the reclassification date asif it had always been measured at amortised cost. This 

reversal affects other comprehensive income but does not affectprofit or loss and therefore is not a 

reclassification adjustment under IAS 1. The effective interest rate and the calculation of expected credit losses 

are not affected. However, the loss allowance is recognized as an adjustment to the gross carrying amount of 

the financial asset from the reclassification date. 

If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income 

measurement category and into the fair value through profit or loss measurement category, the financial asset 

continues to be measured at fair value. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment (in 

accordance with IAS 1) at the reclassification date. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Bank derecognizes financial assets when: 

• the contractual rights to the assets cash flows expire, 

• the contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets are transferred and at the same time all 

the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred, 

• loans or investments in securities are no longer recoverable and consequently are written off, 

• the contractual cash flows of the assets are significantly modified. 

In the case of transactions where despite the transfer of the contractual right to receive the cash flows from 

financial assets both the risk and rewards remain with the Bank, no derecognition of these financial assets 

occurs. The amount received by the transfer is recognized as a financial liability.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iii) Classification of financial assets (Continued) 

 

In the case of transactions, whereby the Bank neither retains nor transfers risks and rewards of the financial 

assets, but retains control over them, the financial assets are recognized to the extent of the Bank’s continuing 

involvement. If the Bank does not retain control of the assets then they are derecognised, and in their position 

the Bank recognizes, distinctively, the assets and liabilities which are created or retained during the transfer. 

No such transactions occurred upon balance sheet date. In case of a change in the contractual terms of a 

financial asset, the change is considered significant and therefore it results in the derecognition of the original 

financial asset and the recognition of a new one when one of the following criteria is met: 

- Change of issuer/debtor 

- Change in denomination currency 

- Consolidation of different types of contracts 

- Consolidation of contracts that do not entirely satisfy the criterion that cash flows are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

- Addition or deletion of equity conversion terms 

- Separation of a non-SPPI debt instrument into two or more new instruments so that the reason that leads 

to SPPI failure of the original instrument is not included in all of the new instruments. 

- Significant modifications occurring due to the commercial renegotiation of the contractual terms of 

performing borrowers. 

In case of derecognition due to significant modification, the difference between the carrying amount of the 

original asset and the fair value of the new asset is directly recognized in the Income Statement. Additionally, 

in case the original asset was measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative 

gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss. 

In contrast, if the change in contractual cash flows is not significant, the gross carrying amount of the asset is 

recalculated by discounting new contractual cash flows with the original effective interest rate and the 

difference compared to the current gross carrying amount is directly recognized in profit or loss (modification 

gain or loss) in the line item “Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk”. Fees related to the 

modification adjust the carrying amount of the asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified 

financial asset through the effective interest method. 

(iv) Classification of financial liability and equity 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Bank are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of the financial liability and 

equity instruments.  

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities  

The Bank classifies financial liabilities in the following categories for measurement purposes: 

a) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 

i. This category includes financial liabilities held for trading, that is: 

• financial liabilities acquired or incurred principally with the intention of selling or repurchasing in the 

near term for short term profit, or 

• derivatives not used for hedging purposes. Liabilities arising from either derivatives held for trading or 

derivatives used for hedging purposes are presented as “derivative financial liabilities” and are measured 

according to the principles set out by the bank. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iv) Classification of financial liability and equity (Continued) 

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities  (Continued) 

a) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (Continued) 

ii. this category also includes financial liabilities which are designated by the Bank as at fair value through 

profit or loss upon initial recognition, when: 

• doing so results in more relevant information, because either: 

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 

otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on 

different bases; or 

- a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its 

performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 

or investment strategy, and information about the Bank is provided internally on that basis to the 

Bank’s key management personnel; or 

• the contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the Bank measures the compound financial 

instrument as a financial liability measured at fair value through profit or loss unless: 

- the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be 

required by the contract or 

- it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar hybrid instrument is first considered that the 

separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited. 

It is noted that in the above case, the amount of the change in fair value attributable to the Bank’s 

credit risk is recognized in other comprehensive income, unless this treatment would create or 

enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Amounts recognized in other comprehensive 

income are never recycled to profit or loss. 

b) Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 

The liabilities classified in this category are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Liabilities to credit institutions and customers, debt securities issued by the Bank and other loan liabilities are 

classified in this category. 

c) Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and commitments to provide loans at a below market interest 

rate 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 

the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with 

the agreed terms. 

The financial guarantee contracts and the commitments to provide loans at a below market interest rate are 

initially recognized at fair value, and measured subsequently at the higher of: 

• the amount of the provision determined during expected credit loss calculation 

• the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization which is calculated based on the term of 

the instrument. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iv) Classification of financial liability and equity (Continued) 

 

d) Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or 

when the continuing involvement approach applies 

In the first case the liability should be equal to the amount received during the transfer while in the second 

case it should measured in such a way that the net carrying amount of the transferred asset and the associated 

liability is: 

• The amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Bank, if the transferred asset is measured 

at amortised cost or 

• Equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Bank when measured on a stand-

alone basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value. 

e) Contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination 

Such contingent consideration is subsequently measured at fair value with changes recognized in profit or 

loss. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities (or part thereof) are derecognized when the contractual obligation is been discharged, 

cancelled or expires. 

When a financial liability is exchanged for another liability with substantially different terms, the exchange is 

accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new one. The 

same applies in cases of a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it 

(whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor). The terms are considered substantially 

different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms (including any fees paid net of 

any fees received), discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the 

present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.  

In cases of derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the 

financial liability) extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-

cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the amounts are reported net on the balance sheet, only when the 

Bank has the legally enforceable right to offset recognized amounts and there is the intention to settle on a net 

basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivatives are financial instruments that upon inception have a minimal or zero fair value that subsequently 

changes in accordance with a particular underlying instrument or indices defined in the contract (foreign 

exchange, interest rate, index or other variable). 

All derivatives are recognized as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair 

value is negative. 

Derivatives are entered into for either hedging or trading purposes and they are measured at fair value 

irrespective of the purpose for which they have been transacted. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

(iv) Classification of financial liability and equity (Continued) 

FX Swaps 

These types of swaps are entered into primarily to economically hedge the exposures arising from customer 

loans and deposits. 

For those cases for which no hedge accounting is applied, swaps are accounted for as trading instruments. 

The result arising from these derivatives is recognized as interest and foreign exchange differences, in order 

to match with the interest element and foreign exchange differences resulting from the deposits and loans, 

and as other gains less losses on financial transactions. 

Determination of fair value 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, in the principal market for the asset or 

liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The Bank measures the fair value of assets and liabilities traded in active markets based on available quoted 

market prices. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 

exchange, dealer, broker, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 

occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Especially, for the measurement of securities, the Bank 

uses a particular range of prices, within the bid-ask spread, in order to characterize the prices as prices of an 

active market (the difference between bid and ask prices quoted should not exceed 1.5/100 nominal value). 

Furthermore, if quoted market prices are not available on the measurement date, but they are available during 

the three last working days of the reporting period and there are quoted prices for 15 working days during the 

last month of the reporting period and the criteria of the bid-ask spread is met, then the market is considered 

to be active. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by the use of 

valuation techniques, appropriate in the circumstances, and for which sufficient data to measure fair value are 

available, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. If 

observable inputs are not available, other model inputs are used which are based on estimations and 

assumptions such as the determination of expected future cash flows, discount rates, probability of 

counterparty default and prepayments. In all cases, the Bank uses the assumptions that ‘market participants’ 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 

interest.Assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value or for which - fair value is disclosed-, are 

categorized according to the inputs used to measure their fair value as follows: 

• Level 1 inputs: quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets, 

• Level 2 inputs: directly or indirectly observable inputs, 

• Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs used by the Bank, to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not 

available. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued) 

In particular, the Bank applies the following: 

Financial instruments 

For financial instruments the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price, unless 

the fair value can be derived by other observable market transactions relating to the same instrument, or by a 

valuation technique using mainly observable inputs. In these cases, if the fair value differs from the transaction 

price, the difference is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. In all other cases, fair value is 

adjusted to defer the difference with the transaction price. After initial recognition, the deferred difference is 

recognized as a gain or loss only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor that market participants 

would take into account when pricing the instrument. 

When measuring fair value, the Bank takes into consideration the effect of credit risk. Specifically, for 

derivative contracts, the Bank estimates the credit risk of both counterparties (bilateral credit valuation 

adjustments). 

The Bank measures fair value for all assets and liabilities separately. Regarding derivative exposures, however, 

that the Bank manages as a group on a counterparty basis and for which it provides information to the key 

management personnel, the fair value measurement for credit risk is performed based on the net risk exposure 

per counterparty. Credit valuation adjustments arising from the aforementioned process are allocated to either 

assets or liabilities, depending on whether the net exposure to the counterparty is long or short respectively. 

Furthermore, the fair value of deposit accounts with a demand feature (such as saving deposits) is no less than 

the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid. 

The principal inputs to the valuation techniques used by the Bank are: 

- Bond prices - quoted prices available for government bonds and certain corporate securities. 

- Credit spreads - these are derived from active market prices, prices of credit default swaps or other 

credit based instruments, such as debt. Values between and beyond available data points are obtained by 

interpolation and extrapolation. 

- Interest rates - these are principally benchmark interest rates such as the LIBOR, OIS and other quoted 

interest rates in the swap, bond and futures markets. Values between and beyond available data points 

are obtained by interpolation and extrapolation. 

- Foreign currency exchange rates - observable markets both for spot and forward contracts and futures. 

- Equity and equity index prices - quoted prices are generally readily available for equity shares listed on 

stock exchanges and for major indices on such shares. 

- Price volatilities and correlations - Volatility and correlation values are obtained from pricing services 

or derived from option prices. 

- Unlisted equities - financial information specific to the company or industry sector comparables. 

- Mutual Funds- for open-ended investments funds listed on a stock exchange the published daily 

quotations of their net asset values (NAVs). 

- Loans and Deposits – market data and Bank/customer specific parameters. 

 

‘(c) Non financial assets and liabilities 

The most important category of non financial assets for which fair value is estimated is real estate property. 

The process, mainly, followed for the determination of the fair value is summarized below: 

- Assignment to the engineer- valuer 

- Case study- Setting of additional data 

- Autopsy - Inspection 

- Data processing - Calculations 

- Preparation of the valuation report 

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

23 
 

3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(c)   Non financial assets and liabilities (Continued) 

To derive the fair value of the real estate property, the valuer chooses among the three following valuation 

techniques: 

- Market approach (or sales comparison approach), which measures the fair value by comparing the 

property to other identical ones for which information on transactions is available. 

- Income approach, which capitalizes future cash flows arising from the property using an appropriate 

discount rate. 

- Cost approach, which reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace the asset with 

another asset with similar specifications, after taking into account the required adjustment for 

impairment. 

Examples of inputs used to determine the fair value of properties and which are analysed to the individual 

valuations, are the following: 

- Commercial property: price per square meter, rent growth per annum, long-term vacancy rate, discount 

rate, expense rate of return, lease term, rate of non leased properties/units for rent. 

- Residential property: Net return, reversionary yield, net rental per square meter, rate of continually non 

leased properties/units, expected rent value per square meter, discount rate, expense rate of return, lease 

term etc. 

- General assumptions such as the age of the building, residual useful life, square meter per building etc. 

are also included in the analysis of the individual valuation assessments. 

It is noted that the fair value measurement of a property takes into account a market’s participant ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the asset in it’s highest and best use or by selling it to another market 

participant that would use the asset in it’s highest and best use. 

 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee  

The Bank, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances 

to customers not measured at fair value through profit or loss as well as for off-balance sheet exposures (letters 

of guarantee, letters of credit, undrawn loan commitments). 

The loss allowance for loans and off-balance sheet exposures is based on expected credit losses related to the 

probability of default within the next twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk 

from the date of initial recognition in which case expected credit losses are recognized over the life of the 

instrument. In addition, if the financial asset falls under the definition of purchased or originated credit 

impaired (POCI) financial assets, a loss allowance equal to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized. 

a) Default definition 

The Bank has adopted as default definition non-performing exposures (NPE), as defined in the EBA 

Guidelines (GL/2016/07), thus harmonizing the definition of default used for accounting purposes with the 

one used for regulatory purposes. 

b) Classification of exposures into stages based on credit risk (Staging) 

For the purposes of calculating expected credit losses, the exposures are classified into stages as follows: 

• Stage 1: Stage 1 includes performing exposures that do not have significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. Stage 1 also includes exposures for which credit risk has been improved and the exposure has 

been reclassified from stages 2 or 3. 
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3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee (Continued) 

b) Classification of exposures into stages based on credit risk (Staging) (Continued) 

In this stage, expected credit losses are recognized based on the probability of default within the next twelve 

months. 

• Stage 2: Stage 2 includes performing exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition. Stage 2 also includes exposures for which credit risk has been improved and 

the exposure has been reclassified from stage 3. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are 

recognized. 

• Stage 3: Stage 3 includes non performing/impaired exposures. In this stage, lifetime expected credit 

losses are recognized. 

As an exception to the above, for purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) exposures, lifetime expected 

credit losses are always recognized. Purchased or originated credit impaired exposures include: 

- Exposures that at the time of acquisition meet the criteria to be classified as non- performing 

exposures. 

- Exposures for which there has been a change in repayment terms, either due to financial difficulty or 

not, which resulted in derecognition and recognition of a new impaired asset (POCI) expect when 

derecognition is due to the change of debtor of a corporate loan in which case the creditworthiness of 

the new debtor is reassessed. 

c) Significant increase in credit risk 

In determining significant increase in credit risk of an exposure since initial recognition and the recognition 

of lifetime expected credit losses instead of 12 months expected credit losses, the Bank assesses, at each 

reporting date, the risk of default compared to the risk of default at initial recognition for all its performing 

exposures including those with no delinquencies. 

The assessment of the significant increase in credit risk is based on the following: 

•Quantitative Indicators: refers to the quantitative information used and more specifically to the 

comparison of the probability of default (PD) between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. 

• Qualitative Indicators: refers to the qualitative information used which is not necessarily reflected in the 

probability of default, such as the classification of an exposure as forborne performing (FPL, according to 

EBA ITS). Additional qualitative indicators, both for corporate and retail portfolios are also reflected 

through the Early Warning indicators where depending on the underlying assessment, an exposure can be 

considered to have a significant increase in credit risk or not. Especially for special lending portfolio, 

additional qualitative indicators are captured through slotting category. 

• Backstop Indicators: in addition to the above, and in order to capture cases for which there are no triggers 

reflecting the increase in credit risk, based on qualitative and quantitative indicators, the 30 days past due 

indicator is used as a backstop. 

Calculation of expected credit loss 

The measurement of expected credit losses is made as follows: 

− For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between: 

(a) the contractual cash flows and 

(b) the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive 

− For undrawn loan commitments, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between: 

(a) the contractual cash flows that are due if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the 

loan; and 

(b) the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn down. 

For letters of guarantee and letters of credit, the loss is equal to the expected payments to reimburse the holder 

for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Bank expects to receive from the holder.  
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3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee (Continued) 

c) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) 

 

For present value calculation, original effective interest rate is used as a discount rate. Especially for POCI 

assets credit adjusted effective interest rate is used. 

The Bank calculates impairment losses either on a collective (collective assessment) or on an individual basis 

(individual assessment), taking into account the significance of an exposure or the borrower’s limit. In 

addition, exposures that do not have common credit risk characteristics or for which there are no sufficient 

historical behavioral data are assessed on an individual basis. 

The Bank calculates expected credit losses based on the weighted probability of three scenarios. More 

specifically, the Group Economic Research Division produces forecasts for the possible evolution of 

macroeconomic variables that affect the level of expected credit losses of loan portfolios under a baseline and 

under alternative macroeconomic scenarios and also generates the cumulative probabilities associated with 

these scenarios. 

The mechanism for calculating expected credit loss is based on the following credit risk parameters: 

• Probability of Default (PD): It is an estimate of the probability of a debtor to default over a specific 

time horizon. 

• Exposure at default (EAD): Exposure at Default is an estimate of the amount of the exposure at the time 

of the default taking into account: (a) expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including 

principal and interest payments; (b) the expected use of credit limits and (c) accrued interest. The 

approved credit limits that have not been fully disbursed represent a potential credit exposure and are 

converted into a credit exposure equal to the approved undrawn credit limit multiplied by a Credit 

Conversion Factor (CCF). The Credit Conversion factor of credit exposure is calculated based on 

statistical models. 

• Loss given default (LGD): Loss given default is an estimate of the loss that will occur if the default 

occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those 

expected to be received, including the liquidation of collaterals and cure rate. 

(d) Measurement of expected credit losses on receivables from customers 

Receivables from customers are derived from the Bank’s commercial, other than loan, activity. The loss 

allowance for receivables from customers is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses 

(there is no stage allocation) based on the simplified approach provided by IFRS 9. 

(e) Presentation of expected credit losses in financial statements 

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the Balance Sheet as follows: 

- Financial assets measured at amortised cost: loss allowance is presented as a deduction from the gross 

carrying amount of the assets. 

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: for those assets no loss 

allowance is recognized in the Balance Sheet, however, its amount is disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements. 

- Letters of credit/letters of guarantee: loss allowance is recognized in line “Provisions” of liabilities in Balance 

Sheet.  

- Undrawn loan commitments: When there is not also a loan, loss allowance is recognized in line “Provisions” 

of liabilities in Balance Sheet. If a financial asset includes both a loan and an undrawn loan commitment, the 

accumulated expected credit losses of the loan commitment are presented together with the accumulated 

expected credit losses of the loan, as a deduction from its gross carrying amount. To the extent that the 

combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are 

recognized in line “Provisions” of liabilities in Balance Sheet.  
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3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee (Continued) 

(f) Presentation of expected credit losses in financial statements (Continued) 

The amount of expected credit losses for the period is presented in the caption “Impairment losses and 

provisions to cover credit risk”. In the same caption the following are also recognized: recoveries from written-

off loans measured at amortised cost or at fair value  through other comprehensive income, modification gains 

or losses of loans measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and the 

favourable changes in expected credit losses of POCI assets in case expected credit losses are less than the 

amount of expected credit losses included in the estimated cash flows on initial recognition. 

(g) Forward looking info in the impairment policy 

 IFRS 9 requires that more than one scenarios to be examined for ECL calculation. The implemented 

approach according to Bank’s methodology is to examine there (3) different scenarios, namely 

baseline, optimistic and adverse. By default the weight attributed to baseline scenario is 50%, while 

the remaining 50% is allocated to optimistic and adverse based on their respective weights; 

 In order to construct the respective weights attributed to optimistic and adverse scenarios, the accuracy 

of projections of the explanatory (macro-variable) variable used in the regression analysis, derived 

from European Commission regarding the Albanian economy was examined. The aim was to 

consistently examine the forecasting accuracy of an independent third party, whose objectivity cannot 

be questioned.  

 European Commission consistently issued forecasts for the Albanian economy from FY 2014 and 

onwards. The attention was concentrated on autumn forecasts issued in November of each fiscal 

period, since the accuracy of projections for the same fiscal period (i.e. the fiscal year associated to 

the issuance of the publication) is greater (than any previous forecasts e.g. spring or summer forecasts), 

since the bulk of the period referred to has already elapsed; 

(h) Write-offs 

The Bank proceeds with the write-off of loans and advances to customers when it has no reasonable 

expectations for their recovery. In this case, the loss allowance is used against the carrying amount of the 

financial asset. 

Credit impairment losses on due from banks and bonds 

The Bank, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on due from banks 

and bonds not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The loss allowance is based on expected credit losses related to the probability of default within the next 

twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from the date of initial recognition in 

which case expected credit losses are recognized over the life of the instrument. In addition, if the financial 

asset falls under the definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, a loss 

allowance equal to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized. 

a) Default definition 

Due from banks and bonds are considered impaired when the external rating of the issuer/counterparty is 

equivalent to default (D). In case there is no external rating, then the instrument is characterized as impaired 

based on internal rating. If there is also an exposure to the corporate issuer/counterparty to the loan portfolio 

which has been classified as impaired, the instrument is also characterized as impaired. 
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3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee (Continued) 

Credit impairment losses on due from banks and bonds (Continued) 

b) Classification of due from banks and bonds into stages based on credit risk (Staging)  

For the purposes of calculating expected credit losses, the exposures are classified into stages as follows: 

• Stage 1: Stage 1 includes non impaired instruments that do not have significant increase in credit risk since 

initial recognition. Stage 1 also includes instruments for which credit risk has been improved and the 

instrument has been reclassified from stages 2 or 3. In this stage, expected credit losses are recognized based 

on the probability of default within the next twelve months. 

• Stage 2: Stage 2 includes non impaired instruments for which there has been a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition. Stage 2 also includes instruments for which credit risk has been improved and 

the instrument has been reclassified from stage 3. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized. 

• Stage 3: Stage 3 includes impaired instruments. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized. 

As an exception to the above, for purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) instruments, lifetime 

expected credit losses are always recognized. An instrument is characterized as purchased or originated credit 

impaired when: 

• The instrument (or the issuer) has an external rating that corresponds to default at the time of acquisition 

• Corporate bonds resulting from debt restructuring are classified as purchased or originated credit impaired, 

based on the guidelines applicable to the loan portfolio. 

When a debt security has been purchased at a large discount and does not fall into any of the categories 

mentioned above, the Bank examines the transaction in detail (transaction price, recovery rate, issuer’s 

financial condition at the time of purchase, etc.) in order to determine whether it should be recognised as 

purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI). Classification in this category requires documentation and 

approval by the relevant committees of the Bank. 

c) Significant increase in credit risk 

The classification into stages for the purpose of expected credit loss measurement is based on the credit rating 

of rating agencies or, for corporate securities issued by Greek issuers for which there is also an exposure in 

loan portfolio, on the issuer’s internal rating. 

The Bank defines as low credit risk all investment grade securities, which are classified in Stage 1. 

The determination of significant increase in credit risk for non-investment grade securities is based on the 

following two conditions: 

- Downgrade in the issuer / counterparty’s credit rating on the reporting dates compared to the credit rating on 

the date of the initial recognition.- Increase in the probability of default of the issuer / counterparty for the 12-

month period compared to the corresponding probability of default at initial recognition. 

- Additionally, the Bank monitors the change in the credit spread since initial recognition. A change in credit 

spread at the reporting date that exceeds a specific threshold compared to the credit margin prevailing at the 

date of initial recognition is a trigger for reviewing the securities classification stage. 

d) Calculation of expected credit loss 

The expected credit loss is the present value of the difference between: 

(a) the contractual cash flows and 

(b) the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive 

For present value calculation, original effective interest rate is used as a discount rate. Especially for POCI 

assets credit adjusted effective interest rate is used.  
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3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee (Continued) 

Credit impairment losses on due from banks and bonds (Continued) 
 

 (c) the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive 

For present value calculation, original effective interest rate is used as a discount rate. Especially for POCI 

assets credit adjusted effective interest rate is used. 

For the calculation of the expected credit loss, the following parameters are used: 

• Probability of default (PD): the probability of default over the next 12 months is used to calculate the 

expected credit loss for 12 months, and the probability of default over the life of the instrument is used to 

calculate the lifetime expected credit losses. 

• Exposure at default (EAD): In the case of securities, the Bank estimates the future unamortised cost in 

order to calculate the EAD. In particular, for each period, EAD is the maximum loss that would result 

from issuer / counterparty potential default. 

• Loss given default (LGD) is the percentage of the total exposure that the Bank estimates as unlikely to 

recover at the time of the default. The Bank distinguishes sovereigns from non-sovereign issuers / 

counterparties as regards to the LGD estimation. In case the Bank has also granted a loan to the issuer / 

counterparty of the security, the estimated LGD is aligned to corresponding estimate for the loan portfolio 

(taking into account any potential collaterals the loan portfolio is likely to have against the unsecured debt 

securities). 

e) Presentation of expected credit losses in financial statements 

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the Balance Sheet as follows: 

- Financial assets measured at amortised cost: loss allowance is presented as a deduction from the gross 

carrying amount of the assets. 

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: for those assets no loss 

allowance is recognized in the Balance Sheet, however, its amount is disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements. 

The amount of expected credit losses for the period is presented in the caption “Impairment losses and 

provisions to cover credit risk”. The caption includes also the favourable changes in expected credit losses of 

POCI assets in case expected credit losses are less than the amount of expected credit losses included in the 

estimated cash flows on initial recognition. 

(f) Impairment losses on non-financial assets 

The Bank assess as at each balance sheet date its nonfinancial assets for impairment, particularly, property, 

plant and equipment, investment property, goodwill and other intangible assets and right of use assets. 

In assessing whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired both external and internal sources of 

information are considered, of which the following are indicatively mentioned: 

- The asset’s market value has declined significantly, more than would be expected as a result of the passage 

of time or normal use. 

- Significant changes with an adverse effect have taken place during the period or will take place in the 

near future, in the technological, economic or legal environment in which the entity operates or in the 

market to which the asset is dedicated. 

- Significant unfavorable changes in foreign exchange rates. 

- Market interest rates or other rates of return of investments have increased during the period, and those 

increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in calculating an asset’s value in use. 

- The carrying amount of the net assets of the entity is greater than its market capitalization. 

- Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset.  
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3.    Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(d) Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters 

of credit and letters of guarantee (Continued) 

Credit impairment losses on due from banks and bonds (Continued) 

(f) Impairment losses on non-financial assets (Continued) 

Specifically for right of use assets, triggers for impairment include: 

- The existence of leased properties that are neither used nor leased by the Bank. 

- The fact that the present value of the leases received in the event of a sublease is lower than the value of 

the rents paid under the lease. 

In addition, collection of dividends from subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is considered as a possible 

impairment indicator when investments are tested for impairment at each reporting date. 

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 

carrying amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 

value in use. 

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount received from the sale of an asset (less the cost of disposal) in an 

orderly transaction between market participants. 

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash –

generating unit through their use and not from their disposal. 

For the valuation of property, plant and equipment, value in use incorporates the value of the asset as well as 

all the improvements which render the asset perfectly suitable for its use by the Bank. 

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 

carrying amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount received from the sale of an asset (less the cost of disposal) in an 

orderly transaction between market participants. 

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash –

generating unit through their use and not from their disposal. 

For the valuation of property, plant and equipment, value in use incorporates the value of the asset as well as 

all the improvements which render the asset perfectly suitable for its use by the Bank. 

Comparatives  

To the extent considered necessary the comparatives have been adjusted to facilitate changes in presentation 

of the current year amounts.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(e) Lease 

The Bank is a leasee in both operating and finance leases. 

The Bank is a lessee in both operating and finance leases. At inception, the Bank assesses whether a contract 

is or contains a lease. If the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time for consideration, then the contract is accounted as a lease. 

The lease term is determined as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both periods covered by 

an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option and periods covered by 

an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. After lease 

commencement, upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that 

is within the control of the lessee, the Bank, as a lessee, reassesses the lease term. The Bank revises the lease 

term if there is a change in the non cancellable period of a lease 

The Bank, as a lessee, for all leases recognizes a right of use asset and a lease liability at the commencement 

of the lease. The right of use asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the initial lease liability amount, 

any initial direct costs and an estimate of the obligation for costs to refurbish the asset, less any lease incentives 

received.  

Right-of use assets are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation, any accumulated 

impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.  

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the 

useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. Right-of-use assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date to determine whether there is an indication of impairment and if they are impaired the carrying 

amount is adjusted to its recoverable amount with the difference recorded in profit or loss (par. f of Accounting 

Policies).  

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less at the commencement date) and leases for which the 

underlying asset is of low value (less than 5.000 EUR when new) the Bank does not recognize a right-of-use 

asset and a lease liability but instead recognizes the lease payments associated with those leases as an expense 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments that are not paid at that date, net 

of cash lease incentives. Lease payments include fixed payments and variable payments that depend on an 

index (such as an inflation index) or a rate and are discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Incremental borrowing rate is determined by using as reference rate Alpha Bank’s secured funding rate, 

adjusted for different currencies and taking into consideration government yield curves, where applicable.  

After the commencement date, the Bank measures the lease liability by increasing the carrying amount to 

reflect interest, reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying 

amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.  

Right of use assets are included within Property, plant and equipment and the lease liability is included in 

Other liabilities.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(f) Recognition of income and expenses 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the 

revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue 

is recognized. 

(i) Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense is recognized in the income statement for all interest bearing financial assets and 

liabilities. Interest income and expense is recognised on an accrual basis and measured using the effective 

interest method. Especially for POCI assets, interest income is calculated using credit-adjusted effective 

interest rate. Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial 

asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank 

estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does 

not consider the expected credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between 

parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. For financial assets, in particular, 

the following apply:  

- For those financial assets classified within Stage 1 or Stage 2 for the purpose of expected credit losses 

measurement, interest income is calculated by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying 

amount of the asset.  

- For those financial assets classified within Stage 3 for the purpose of expected credit losses 

measurement, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost 

of the asset.  

- For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets interest income is calculated by applying 

the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset.  

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to assets that require a substantial period of time to get ready for 

their intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. Capitalisation ceases when substantially 

all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are complete. 

(ii) Fee and commission income and expense 

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset 

or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. 

Fee income can be divided into the following two categories: 

Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time 

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include 

commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees. 

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred 

(together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is 

unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognised over the commitment period 

on a straight line basis.  

Fee income from providing transaction services 

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as 

account servicing fees, sales commission, placement fees, or the arrangement of the acquisition of other 

securities, are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are 

linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria. Other fees and 

commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are 

received. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(g) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with the Central Bank, 

Loans and Advances to financial institutions and Reverse Repo agreements with original maturities of less 

than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the 

Bank in the management of its short-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 

(h) Intangible assets 

Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 

benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 

software, from the date that it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software is four years. 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate 

(i) Property and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Right of use assets are included in this category. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 

bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing 

the items and restoring the site on which they are located. When parts of an item of property or equipment 

have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 

equipment. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds 

from disposal with the carrying amount of the item of property and equipment, and are recognised net within 

other income in profit or loss. 

i. Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 

item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its 

cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-

to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

ii. Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 

of an item of property and equipment.  

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 Furniture and other equipment 5 years 

 Vehicles    5 years 

 Computers    4 years 

 Leasehold improvements  the shorter of useful life and lease term 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(j) Reposessed assets 

Repossessed properties comprise non-financial repossessed assets acquired through enforcement of security 

over non-performing loans and advances to customers that do not earn rental, and are not used by the Bank 

and are intended for disposal in a reasonably short period of time, without significant restructuring.  

Reposessed assets are initially recognised and subsequently remeasured at the lower of their carrying amount 

and net realizable value, which is their expected sale price after the deduction of any sales expenses. Any loss 

arising from the above measurement is recorded in profit or loss and can be reversed in the future. Assets in 

this category are not depreciated. Gains or losses from the sale of these assets are recognized in the profit or 

loss. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Bank estimates 

the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. 

(k) Provisions and contingent liabilities 

The amounts recognized by the Bank in its financial statements as provisions are derived from the best estimate 

of the outflow required to settle the present obligation. This estimate is determined by Management after 

taking into account experience from relevant transactions and in some cases expert reports. In case the amount 

recognized as a provision is affected by a variety of factors, its calculation is based on the weighting of all 

possible results. At each balance sheet date, provisions are revised to reflect current best estimated of the 

obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 

The Bank does not recognize in the statement of financial position contingent liabilities which relate to: 

- possible obligations resulting from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 

Group, or  

- present obligations resulting from past events for which:  

(a) it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or 

(b) the amount of liability cannot be measured reliably. 

The Bank provides disclosures for contingent liabilities taking into consideration their materiality. 

(l) Employee benefits 

(i) Compulsory social security contributions  

The Bank makes only compulsory social security contributions that provide benefits for employees upon 

retirement. The social insurance authorities are responsible for providing the legally set minimum threshold 

for pensions in Albania under a defined contribution pension plan. The Bank’s contributions to the benefit 

pension plan are charged to the profit or loss as incurred. 

i. Paid annual leave 

The Bank recognizes as a liability the undiscounted amount of the estimated costs related to annual leave 

expected to be paid in exchange of the employee’s service for the period completed. 

ii. Employee Health Insurance 

The Bank also operates a defined contribution employee health insurance plan. The contribution is payable to 

the insurance company in proportion to the services rendered to the Bank by the employees and is recorded as 

an expense under ‘Personnel expenses’. Unpaid contributions are recorded as a liability. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(m) Income tax expense 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expenses. 

(i) Current tax  

The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from accounting profit or loss 

because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 

taxable or deductible. 

Corporate tax expense is recognized in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 

directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years in 

accordance with the Albanian tax legislation. Taxable income is calculated by adjusting the statutory profit 

before taxes for certain income and expenditure items as required under Albanian law. The tax rates and tax 

laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date 

2019:15% (2018: 15%). 

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognisedfor 

all taxable temporary differences, except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses, to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and 

the carry forward of unused tax losses can be utilised except where the deferred tax asset relating to the 

deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income is also 

recognised in equity, or in other comprehensive income and not in the profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 

to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 

extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 

asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(n) Equity reserves 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Bank’s statement of financial position include: 

- ‘The regulatory reserve’, of Lek 817,483 thousand, was established according to the Central Bank 

regulation “On Bank’s Regulatory Capital” approved by the Bank of Albania Supervisory Board with 

decision no.69 date 18/12/2014. Banks and branches of foreign banks create reserves of 1.25% up to 2% 

of the total risk weighted assets, by appropriating one fifth of the profit after taxes and before payment 

of dividends(Note 25). 

- ‘Translation reserves’ which represents the amount added to the historical cost of the paid up capital of 

the branch upon its transformation into subsidiary using the exchange rates as of December 31, 2011.  

- ‘FVOCI reserve’ which comprises changes in fair value of investment securities measured at FVOCI.. 

 

(o)   Related party definition 

According to IAS 24, a related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 

financial statements. For the Bank, in particular, related parties are considered: 

a) An entity that constitutes for the Bank: 

i) a subsidiary, 

ii) a joint venture, 

iii) an associate and 

iv) a Post-Employment Benefit Plan,  

b) A person or an entity that have control, or joint control, or significant influence over the Bank. 

c) A person and his close family members, if that person is a member of the key management personnel. 

 

The Bank considers as key management personnel all the members of the Bank’s Board of Directors and of 

the Bank’s Management Board while as their close family members it considers their children and spouses or 

domestic partners and their dependants and the dependants of their spouses or domestic partners. 

Related parties are also considered the entities controlled or jointly controlled by the above mentioned persons 

and more specifically the entities in which the above persons participate with more than 20% (see note 30). 

 

(p) Gains less losses on financial transactions 

Gains less losses on financial transactions include: 

- fair value changes of financial assets and liabilities, 

- gains and losses arising from the modification of the contractual terms of financial assets measured at fair 

value through profit or loss, 

- gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities due to early repayment, 

including conversion of loans into shares, disposal or significant modification of the contractual terms, except 

for gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost which are 

recognized in a separate line item of the Income Statement, 

- exchange differences arising from the translation of financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

(q) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances.  

(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances 

The Bank, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances 

to customers not measured at fair value through profit or loss as well as for off-balance sheet exposures (letters 

of guarantee, letters of credit, undrawn loan commitments). The loss allowance for loans and off-balance sheet 

exposures is based on expected credit losses related to the probability of default within the next twelve months, 

unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from the date of initial recognition in which case 

expected credit losses are recognized over the life of the instrument. In addition, if the financial asset falls 

under the definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, a loss allowance equal 

to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized.  

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are 

reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. To the extent 

that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by -/+ 5%, the provision would be estimated Lek 

45,006 thousand higher or Lek 45,006 thousand lower.  

(b) Uncertain tax positions. 

The Bank's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each reporting period. 

Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely than not 

to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. The 

assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

end of the reporting period, and any known court or other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for penalties, 

interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management’s best estimate of the expenditure 

required to settle the obligations at the end of the reporting period. During 2018, the Bank has not been subject 

to tax control from the Tax Authorities. 

(c) Determining fair values 

For assets and liabilities traded in active markets, the determination of their fair value is based on quoted, 

market prices. In all other cases the determination of fair value is based on valuation techniques that use 

observable market data to the greatest extent possible. In cases where there is no observable market data, the 

fair value is determined using data that are based on internal estimates and assumptions i.e. determination of 

expected cash flows, discount rates, prepayment probabilities or potential counterparty default. Information 

about fair values of financial assets and liabilities that were valued using assumptions that are not based on 

observable market data is disclosed in Note 5. 

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

37 
 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

(r) Going Concern 

The Bank applied the going concern principle for the preparation of the financial statements as at December 

31, 2019. For the application of this principle, the Bank takes into consideration current economic 

developments in order to make projections for future economic conditions of the environment in which it 

operates. The main factors that cause uncertainties regarding the application of this principle relate to the 

economic environment in Albania and abroad, to the liquidity levels of the Albanian Republic and the banking 

system, as well as to the effects of the spread of coronavirus (Covid-19) in Europe in the first quarter of 2020. 

The emergence of coronavirus in Europe in the first quarter of 2020, which soon received pandemic features, 

is adding a major uncertainty in terms of both macroeconomic developments and the ability of businesses to 

operate under the regime of the restrictive measures imposed. This development is expected to adversely affect 

the ability of borrowers to repay their liabilities and, consequently, the amount of expected credit risk losses. 

The financial implications depend to a large extent on how long this crisis will last and vary on a case-by-case 

basis as each sector of the economy is affected differently. In the context of efforts to relieve individuals and 

businesses most affected by the coronavirus and its associated restrictive measures, the Albanian government 

has announced a package of tax and other relief measures. At the same time, the supervisory authorities of the 

systemic banks are taking a number of measures to enhance the liquidity of the credit institutions and also 

facilitate the gradual absorption of the effects on the capital adequacy ratios. 

 

In particular regarding the Bank's liquidity levels, it has been noted that there has been no adverse change due 

to Covid-19 in the last two months. During this period there was no outflow of deposits and the majority of 

interbank repos were renewed. As a result, the liquidity buffer of the Bank remained stable. 

Based on the above and taking into account: 

- the Bank’s high capital adequacy (note 4 h), 

- the structure of its Liquid Assets, and short term liabilities, presented with a high liquidity buffer, 

- the actions taken by the Bank to address the issue of non-performing loans and clean its Balance Sheet 

since year 2015, resulting in a considerably low NPL Ratio, 

- the amount of available eligible collaterals through which liquidity is ensured, to the extent required, 

through the mechanisms of the regulator or/and third sources, 

- the measures taken by the Bank to protect its employees from coronavirus, the implementation of 

actions under the Business Continuity Plan and the activation of the ability for teleworking at a large 

scale whilst ensuring that critical operations are performed, 

- the decisions of the Government to adopt a series of fiscal and other measures to stimulate the economy, 

as well as the decisions of Bank's supervisory authorities to provide liquidity and capital adequacy 

support to the extent that this is affected by the spread of the coronavirus. 

- the Bank estimates that, at least for the next 12 months, the conditions for the application of the going 

concern principle for the preparation of its financial statements are met. 

The Bank relies also on the support from its Group as their support is available on a need basis. 
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4. Financial risk management 

(a) Introduction and overview 

The Bank is exposed to the following risks from financial instruments: 

 Credit risk – defined as the potential that an obligor will fail to meet his/her obligations (principal, 

interest, fees) on time or in full according to the contractual agreed terms. Credit risk arises from the 

potential that an obligor is either unwilling to perform on an obligation or the obligor’s ability to perform 

such an obligation is impaired resulting in economic loss to the Bank. In addition, losses result from a 

reduction in portfolio value due to actual or perceived deterioration in credit quality. 

o Concentration risk is a subcategory of Credit risk and includes the following: 

-  Large exposures to single obligors or group of connected obligors 

- Significant exposures to groups of counterparties whose probability of default is driven by common 

underlying factors such as the Industry Factor, Macroeconomic Environment, Geographical Location 

and Product Type. 

o Counterparty risk – defined as the risk that the counterparty to a transaction could default before the 

final settlement of the transaction’s cash flows. A loss would occur if the transaction or the portfolio 

of transactions with the counterparty has a positive value at the time of default. 

 Liquidity risk - defined as the risk to earnings arising from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations as 

they become due, or fund new business, without incurring substantial losses as well as the inability to 

manage unplanned contraction or changes in funding sources. Liquidity risk also arises from the Bank’s 

failure to recognize or address changes in market conditions that affect the ability to liquidate assets 

quickly and with minimal loss in value. 

 Market risk - defined as the risk of reduction in economic value or reported income due to unfavorable 

changes in the value or volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates, stock exchange indices, equities 

and commodities. Therefore, market risk includes the following risk types: interest rate risk, foreign 

exchange risk, equity index risk, equity risk and commodity risk. It refers to both the trading and the 

banking book. 

 Operational risk - defined as the risk of the occurrence of an event, with or without financial impact, 

resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, IT systems, people (intentionally or unintentionally) 

and from external events. Operational risk also includes legal risk. 

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, 

policies and processes for managing risks, and the Bank’s capital. 

Risk management framework 

The Board of Directors has the oversight of the Bank’s risk management framework. Within this context the 

Board of Directors is assisted by the Risk Committee. The specific duties and responsibilities of the Risk 

Committee are determined in the ‘Rules and Regulations’ of the Risk Committee, on the basis of the internal 

procedures adopted and implemented by the Bank in accordance with the provisions of the law and the 

regulatory framework.  

 

The Risk Committee reviews, amends and updates the Credit, Impairment and Write Off policies, following 

the previous review from the Credit Risk Committee. The relevant policies are ratified by Board of Directors. 

Additionally it promotes and ensures a robust risk and compliance culture. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(a) Introduction and overview (Continued) 

The Risk Committee is the competent body that recommends to the Board of Directors the risks undertaking 

and capital management strategy, which corresponds to the business objectives of the Bank and monitors and 

checks its implementation. The Risk Committee evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 

management policy and procedures of the Bank, in terms of the: 

 Undertaking, monitoring and management of risks per category of transaction and customer and per risk 

level (i.e. country, profession, and activity). 

 Determination of the applicable maximum risk appetite on an aggregate basis for each type of risk and 

further allocation of each of these limits per country, sector, currency, business unit etc. 

 Establishment of stop-loss limits or of other corrective actions. 

Additionally the Risk Committee ensures communication among the Internal Auditor, the External Auditors, 

the Supervisory Authorities and the Board of Directors on risk management issues. It convenes on a periodic 

basis, but not less than four times a year. 

The Board of Directors has authorized different committees for the governance of risks as follows:  

 Market risk, including the interest rate and liquidity risk: the Asset Liability Committee (ALCo);  

 Credit risk: Risk Committee, Credit Committee, Credit Risk Committee; and  

 Operational risk: Operational Risk Committee. 

The risk management framework describes the approaches adopted by the Bank regarding the capital adequacy 

requirements defined under the Basel II/Capital Requirements Directive and the country regulatory 

framework. The Bank has adopted a holistic approach to the risk management. Risk types are not managed 

independently but, on the contrary, on a unified basis that accounts for the possibility of overlaps among risks. 

During the business strategy processes, particular emphasis is placed on the strict observation and 

determination of the acceptable risk limits.  

The Risk Management Division is administratively independent of executive Units, Units engaged with 

transactions or accounting activities and Units that utilize the risk analysis prepared. The Risk Management 

Division is responsible for the design and implementation of the risk management policies, according to the 

Board of Directors and General Management guidelines.  

In particular the Risk Management Division acts as follows: 

 Introduces and applies the appropriate methods and models for risk management, including the risk 

identification, assessment, monitoring, controlling, reporting and stress testing. 

 Reviews, amends and proposes updates on the Credit, Impairment and Write Off policies. 

 Specializes, in cooperation with other competent Units, the risk limits by identifying/indicating parameters 

specific to each type of risk, and monitors them by establishing appropriate procedures. 

 Establishes early warning criteria for portfolios, on an overall and individual basis, and recommends 

appropriate procedures and actions, according to relevant exposure. 

 Validates the policies, processes and methodologies for financial assets and liabilities valuation and 

controls the appropriateness of prices used in the valuation process. 

 Recommends techniques for risk mitigation or risk adjustment to acceptable levels. 

 Assesses, regularly, the adequacy of the risk management methods and systems used and recommends 

corrective actions when deemed necessary. 

 Establishes control mechanisms for the implementation of the risk policies through analytical or on-site 

reviews as well as through ex-post credit review. 

 Prepares and submits reports to the Board of Directors and the Management through the relevant 

Committees. 

 Co-operates with the competent Units for the calculation of capital requirements as well as for the 

development of relevant methodologies and techniques. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(a) Introduction and overview (Continued) 

To exercise its duties effectively, the Unit has access to all activities and Units, as well as to all of the Bank’s 

data and information required to accomplish its tasks. 

The Risk Management Policies of the Bank are established to identify and analyse, apart of the risks faced by 

the Bank, also to set appropriate risk limits and checks, and to properly monitor risks and adherence to limits. 

The Risk Management Policies and Procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the market 

conditions and the products offered. The Bank, through continuous training process aims to develop a 

disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand own roles and duties. 

Alpha Bank Group Risk Management Framework 

Alpha Bank Albania, as subsidiary of Alpha Bank A.E. applies the same principles as defined by the Group 

in the area of Risk Management. Such principles shall be in line with international and local standards for 

effective risk management. Risk culture is embedded into all business units through the implementation of the 

Alpha Bank Group Risk Framework and initiatives aligned to the Group Risk Strategy. 

 Alpha Bank Group commits to achieving a strong control environment, and a distinctive risk management 

capability that enables Business Units to meet their performance objectives, and to achieve continuous 

improvement in the area of risk management. Alpha Bank Group undertakes regular risk assessments for 

the different risk types and particularly as part of the strategic planning process, and at times of change 

and project planning.  

 The risk management framework relies on the following guiding principles: 

o the risk management framework is risk-appetite driven; 

o the risk management framework is an integral part of business strategy and decision making; 

o the risk management framework is responsibility driven; 

o the risk management framework promotes transparency through clear communication lines; 

o appointed personnel involved in the governance model has an active role to play in managing risks and 

possess the necessary skills and resources to manage it effectively; 

o appointed personnel has a good understanding of their roles and responsibilities within the risk 

management framework; 

o all risk identification, assessment, monitoring, reporting, control/mitigation activities, and systems are 

well documented, and adequate information and reporting mechanisms are provided to all levels of 

Management and Business Units. 

 The risk management framework is dynamic; it evolves constantly in response to changes in strategic 

goals, and internal (organisational and business) and external (market) conditions. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument will 

fail to meet its contractual obligations on time or in full. Credit risk arises from the potential that an obligor is 

either unwilling to perform on an obligation or its ability to perform such obligation is impaired resulting in 

economic losses to the bank. In addition, losses result from the reduction in portfolio value due to the actual 

or perceived deterioration in the credit quality of the obligor. 

Credit risk is considered the most significant risk for the Bank.  

The Bank recognizes the need to identify, to measure, to monitor and to control the credit risk inherent in its 

retail and wholesale activities as well as to determine that it holds adequate capital against the risk and is 

adequately compensated. The Bank aims to maintain the credit risk exposures within acceptable levels. The 

Bank has authorized and established the respective committees to manage the credit risk. The Risk Committee 

is responsible for providing oversight of the credit risk management framework, the established Credit 

Committees and Credit Divisions are responsible for overseeing the credit risk activities, the Credit Risk  

Committee and the Risk Management Division are responsible for proposing the credit policies and 

procedures, the Audit Committee and the independent Internal Audit Division are responsible for ensuring 

that the credit risk practices are sufficient and appropriate for the credit risk-taking activity.  

The Risk Management Division  insures compliance and monitors the implementation of the risk policies in 

line with Group and Bank’s strategy and to local regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee of the Bank 

is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and for reviewing the 

adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank Audit 

Committee is assisted in these functions by the Internal Audit Department. The Internal Audit undertake 

regular reviews of risk management controls and procedures and reports results to the Audit Committee. 

The Bank, in order to effectively manage the credit risk has developed specific methodologies and systems to 

identify and assess the credit risk. These systems and methodologies are continuously evolving in accordance 

with the macroeconomic, legal and regulatory development and also based on the economy structural and 

industry sectorial developments. 

The main tools for the identification and assessment of the wholesale and retail credit risk are the credit risk 

rating, Score Models and grading systems. Grading, score models and rating systems are subject to continuous 

quality control to ensure at all times their proactive ability.  

The validation of the models used for the measurement and evaluation of the Bank’s credit risk is in line with 

the Group’s Credit Risk Models Validation Framework, which is based on the supervisory framework and 

best practice. During 2019 the Bank has qualitatively and quantitatively validated these models and has 

improved them in accordance with the changes in the economic and financial environment.  

It should be mentioned that in 2019, the Bank recognizing the inherent model risk, derived from the model 

complexity and aggregated model risk, has adopted a Model Risk management framework which includes the 

principles of credit risk models development policy and risk models validation framework. 

Obligors Rating Scale  

Borrowers are rated in the following rating scales:  

ΑΑ, Α+, Α, Α-, ΒΒ+, ΒΒ, ΒΒ-,B+, Β, Β-, CC+, CC, CC-, C, D, D0, D1, D2  

For special purpose finance (Structured and Shipping Financing) special models have been designed (slotting) 

with the following categorization scale:  

Strong (Class 1), Good (Class 2), Satisfactory (Class 3), Weak (Class 4), Default (Category 5).  

For presentation purposes of table “Loans by credit quality and IFRS9 Stage”, the “strong” rating includes the 

rating scales AA, A+, A, A-, BB+ and BB and Categories 1 and 2, “satisfactory” rating includes the rating 

scales BB-, B+, B, B-, CC+, CC and Category 3, and “ under close monitoring” (higher risk) includes the 

rating scales CC-, C and Category 4. Last, default category, includes the rating scales D, D0, D1, D2 and 

category 5. 

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

42 
 

4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b) Credit risk (Continued) 

Environmental and Social Risk 

Within Credit Risk Management Framework and Credit Policy, it has been integrated the assessment of the 

compliance with the principles of an environmentally and socially responsible financing towards legal entities. 

The main purpose is the management of potential risk arising from the operations of obligors that may be 

connected with a damage to the environment or the society, or with any direct threat of such a damage, having 

as a result a negative impact on the business operations and financial results of the Bank. 

 

In terms of credit risk management, the Risk Management Division is responsible for: 

- monitoring credit risk in order to ensure compliance with the credit risk strategy and policy as well as 

effectiveness of counter measures and management actions; 

- identifying and assessing existing and potential credit risks inherent in products/activities; 

- assessing the impairment and regulatory provisions levels for the loan portfolio; 

- reporting to the Risk Committee on identified or imminent problems related to changes in the current or 

expected risk profile. 

In addition, the Bank performs semi – annual credit stress tests in order to assess the vulnerability to possible 

future events such as changes in economic or financial environment which may have adverse or unfavourable 

effects on its credit exposures and its ability to withstand such changes. Results of such stress tests may be 

used as drivers for further optimization of Risk portfolio monitoring.   

The Bank assesses on each reporting date whether there is evidence of impairment in accordance with the 

general principles and methodology set out in IFRS9 and the relevant implementation guidance as well as the 

Impairement Policy Principles. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

 Note Category 

As at 

December 31, 2019  

As at 

December 31,2018 

Balances with Central Bank 12 Standard 6,989,744  7,126,020 

Loans to financial institutions 13 Standard 14,088,526  14,482,979 

Loans and advances to customers 15 

See 

below 35,007,564  35,459,774 

Investment securities measured at 

FVOCI  Standard 16,249,370  15,223,765 

Investment securities measured at 

FVPL  Standard 1,224,850  1,655,481 

   73,560,054  73,948,019 

Undrawn credit commitments 29 Standard 1,936,726   1,960,743 

Letters of Credit 29 Standard    
Guarantees in favor of customers 29 Standard 583,205   613,276 

   2,519,931  2,574,019 

      
Total exposure, after impairment   76,079,985  76,522,038 

The standard category represents neither past due nor impaired exposures. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b) Credit risk (Continued) 

Past due exposures 
An Exposure is past due if the counterparty's credit obligation is materially more than one day past due 

according to the technical specifications text ‘Final Draft on the materiality threshold for Credit obligations 

past due’ issued by EBA on 28.9.2016. The amount due is considered as the sum of the principal, interests and 

charges/commissions that is over one day due at the account level.  

 

Forborne Exposures 

An exposure is considered as Forborne if there is a significant modification of initial contractual terms by 

granting more favorable terms (Concession) or partial or total refinancing of current outstanding debts 

(Refinancing) to Borrowers with Financial Difficulty. The total gross amount of Forborne loans as at 

December 31, 2019 are 3,337,837 thousand leke (2018: Lek 4,766,950 thousand). 

 

Financial Difficulty  

Financial Difficulty is defined as the situation where the borrowers are unable to comply or are about to face 

difficulties in servicing their credit obligations as per the current loan repayment schedule due to the worsening 

of their financial status.  

 

Unlikeliness to Pay (UTP)  

An exposure is flagged as ‘Unlikely To Pay’ (UTP) when it is less than 90 days past due and the Bank assesses 

that the borrower is unlikely to fully meet his credit obligations without the liquidation of collateral, regardless 

the existence of any past due amount or the number of days past due, with the exception of the cases of 

collaterals that are part of the production and trade chain of the borrower  

 

Non-Performing Exposures  

An exposure is considered as non-performing when at least one of the following criteria apply at the time of 

the credit risk rating assessment:  

• The exposure is more than 90 days past due (NPL).  

• Legal actions have been undertaken by the Bank – Legal (NPL).  

• The exposure is classified as Forborne Non-Performing Exposure, as defined in the Implementing 

Regulation (EU) 227/9.1.2015,  

• It is assessed as Unlikely to Pay (UTP),  

 

When a Wholesale Banking borrower has an exposure that is more than 90 days past due and the amount of 

this exposure exceeds 20% of total exposures of the borrower, then all exposures of the borrower are 

considered as non-performing (Pulling Effect).  

 

Default Exposures  

An exposure is considered as Default when the criteria specified by the definition of Non-Performing 

Exposures are met.  
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b) Credit risk (Continued) 

The following table presents the interest income from loans for the year 2019 and 2018 per IFRS 9 Stage. 

 

2019 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Total interest 

income 

Retail Lending 599,871 91,729  40,966  - 732,566 

Corporate Lending 513,827 86,739  89,829  - 690,395 

Public Sector 52,437 1,730  - - 54,167  

Total interest income 1,166,135 180,198  130,795  1,477,128  

2018 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

 

Total interest 

income 

Retail Lending 547,784 85,476 36,433 - 669,693 

Corporate Lending 420,998 149,169 152,486 - 722,653 

Public Sector 43,499 - - - 43,499 

Total interest income 1,012,281 234,645 188,919 - 1,435,845 

      

Bad Debt Write-off 

Write-offs are defined as the accounting reduction of a debt, which does not mean waiving the legal claim 

against the debtors and, hence, the debt may be revived. Proposals for (full or partial) write-offs on the debts 

may be submitted to the competent committee on the condition that the following have been carried out: 

 The relevant agreements with the clients have been terminated. 

 Payment orders have been issued against all the liable parties. 

 The procedure for the registration of compulsory encumbrances has commenced. 

 At least one real estate property has been auctioned, in order for the privileged claims (through the final 

creditors priority list) and, as a result, for the possible losses of the Bank to be finalized. 

 Equal impairment provision at least during the quarter preceding the one of the proposal. 

Written – off loans Mortgage Consumer Credit Cards Corporate Total  

At January 1, 2018 337,363 151,483 89,190 4,611,241 5,189,277 

Write – off 71,778 48,513 16,463 593,840 730,594 

Recoveries (13,425) (8,500) (30,699) (57,909) (110,533) 

At December 31, 2018 395,716 191,496 74,954 5,147,172 5,809,338 

Write – off 78,628  40,561  4,477  348,675  472,341 

Recoveries (23,300) (10,551) (1,412) (34,834) (70,097) 

At December 31,2019 451,044 221,506 78,019 5,461,013 6,211,582 

The Bank frequently monitors the written – off portfolio. The Bank has recovered 70,097 Lek thousand during 

the year 2019 (2018: Lek 110,533 thousand). 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b) Credit risk (Continued) 

Write-downs 

Write-downs are defined as the permanent accounting reduction of a debt, as a result of a legally binding 

decision or agreement (court judgment, contractual agreement etc.), which is no further claimable and, hence, 

is considered as definitively non-receivable, whereas it also entails the fact that the Bank definitively and 

irrevocably waives its right to claim the written-down debt, unless (in case of settlement) it is ascertained that 

the terms set by virtue of the aforementioned decision or agreement were violated.From the total amount of 

written off loans during 2019 of  Lek 472,341 thousand (2018: Lek 730,594 thousand), the amount of Lek 

131,256 thousand represents write downs. 

Collateral 

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests over 

property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value 

of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and periodically updated as percollateral type. Collateral 

generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part of reverse 

repurchase and securities borrowing activity. An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security 

enhancements held against loans and advances to customers is shown below: 

 

  

  

 

  

 
As at December 31, 

2019 

As at December 31, 

2018 

Corporate Lending 16,288,860   15,981,516 

Real estate collateral 13,185,614   12,379,450 

Financial collateral 27,946   36,145 

Other collateral 3,075,300   3,565,921 

Retail Lending 10,853,000   10,549,782 

Real estate collateral 10,538,364   10,289,715 

Financial collateral 263,084   183,114 

Other collateral 51,552   76,953 

Public sector 1,436,886   2,567,136 

Real estate collateral -   - 
Financial collateral 1,436,886   2,567,136 

Other collateral -   - 

Total 28,578,746   29,098,434 
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4.  Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) 

Concentration by location 

Concentration by location for loans and advances is measured based on the location of the Bank entity holding the asset, which has a high correlation with the location 

of the borrower. Concentration by location for investment and trading securities is measured based on the location of the issuer of the security. 

 2019 2018 

 Albania Othercountries Total Albania Othercountries Total 

Balances with Central Bank  6,989,744 - 6,989,744 7,126,020 - 7,126,020 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 1,081,409 13,007,117 14,088,526 617,086 13,865,893 14,482,979 

Loans and advances to customers, net 31,716,806 3,290,758 35,007,564 31,595,612 3,864,162 35,459,774 

Securities FVOCI 10,939,443 5,309,927 16,249,370 11,083,786 4,139,979 15,223,765 

Securities FVPL - 1,224,850 1,224,850 - 1,655,481 1,655,481 

Total 50,727,402 22,832,652 73,560,054 50,422,504 23,525,515 73,948,019 

The ‘Other countries’ category represents counterparties located in European countries. See Note 14 for further details on the FVOCI financial assets with other 

countries. 

FVOCI in Albania, represent treasury bills and bonds issued by the Albanian Government. 
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4.  Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b)   Credit risk (Continued) 

Rating analysis 

Rating analysis for balances with Central Banks, Loans and advances to financial institutions, and Debt Securities for December 31,2019 and December 31,2018 is 

presented as below: 

 2019  2018 

Rating 

Central 

Banks 

Due from 

Banks FVOCI FVPL   Total  

Central 

Banks 

Due from 

Banks FVOCI FVPL   Total 

AAA        -     -     484,819   -     484,819  

AA+   -       -       -     

                                      

1,096,300  

                                        

1,096,300    -     -     -     1,114,455   1,114,455  

A-        -     -     -     -     -    

BBB+   -     

                                               

2,271,490    -      

                                               

2,271,490        -    1,026,948     -     541,026    1,567,974 

BBB   -     

                                               

1,313,850    -       -     1,313,850       -    652,795      -     -    652,795    

BBB-   1,378,141  1,378,140.88       

B+ 6,989,743  11,550,321  18,540,064  7,126,020     -    11,186,307  -    18,312,327 

B-  487,080   487,080  - 12,186,150 - - 12,186,150 

B  8,921,720   8,921,720  - - 1,905,716 - 1,905,716 

BB+       - - 724,479 - 724,479 

BB-   1,962,229  1,962,229  - - 491,987 - 491,987 

CCC        -     -     430,457   -     430,457  

Unrated  1,094,386 1,358,679  128,550 2,581,615   -    617,087       -     -    617,087    

 6,989,743 14,088,526 16,249,370 1,224,850 38,552,489  7,126,020 14,482,980      15,223,765 1,655,481 38,488,246 
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4.  Financial risk management (Continued) 

(b) Credit risk (Continued) 

Concentration by industry 

The amounts presented as per concentration by industry are gross presented in gross. 

 

Loans and advances to customers 2019 

% on 

total   2018 

% on 

total  

Public Sector 5,606,001 15%  7,051,001 19% 

Manufacturing 6,971,629 19%  6,061,568 16% 

Wholesale and retail trade 6,028,576 17%  4,970,645 13% 

Services 1,585,881 4%  2,040,863 6% 

Construction 745,124 2%  1,552,669 4% 

Shipping 1,032,941 3%  1,264,335 3% 

Other sectors 677,756 2%  838,361 2% 

Transportation 318,158 1%  460,221 1% 

Hotels/Toursim 333,260 1%  249,476 1% 

Real Estate Development 0 0%                          -    - 

Mortgage loans 8,694,843 24%  8,632,877 23% 

Consumer and credit cards 4,381,747 12%  3,823,796 10% 

Business loans to individuals 101,079 0%  111,148 - 

 36,476,995 100%  37,056,960 100% 

 

Concentration by industry 

Off balance sheet items 2019 

% on 

total   2018 

% on 

total  

Financial Institutions and other financial 

services        10,864 1%  0 0% 

Wholesale and retail trade      552,799 30%  928,949 37% 

Manufacturing      450,259 25%  755,329 30% 

Other sectors        57,770 3%  92,942 4% 

Construction        66,524 4%  6,627 0% 

Transportation        30,571 2%  2,334 0% 

Hotels/Toursim        13,489 1%  1,031 0% 

Consumer and credit cards      642,492 35%  737,669 29% 

Business loans to individuals          2,783 0%  12,239 0% 

 1,827,551 100%  2,537,120 100% 

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

49 
 

4.  Financial risk management (Continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk to earnings arising from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations as 

they become due, or fund new business, without incurring substantial losses, as well as the inability to manage 

unplanned contraction or changes in funding sources. Liquidity risk also arises from the Bank’s failure to 

recognize or address changes in market conditions that affect the ability to liquidate assets quickly and with 

minimal loss in value. 

The Board of Directors with the assistance of the Risk Committee has assigned the liquidity management and 

the risk liquidity management to the Assets-Liabilities Committee (ALCo).  

The ALCo approves the recommended liquidity risk policy, measurement techniques, limits and internal 

indicators and reviews them on an annual basis – or more frequently when required- in order to ensure that 

they remain in line with the Bank’s risk appetite, activities and business objectives. 

Liquidity Risk Measurement 

The main measure of liquidity risk is Liquidity Gap, which represents the maturity schedule showing assets, 

liabilities and off balance sheet exposures by time band according to their maturity. 

The respective Liquidity and Interest Rate Risk Gaps of 2019 and 2018 take into consideration the economic 

conditions of the country, the characteristics of each product and the behavior of the clients and also the 

competition’s current structure, in the context of a more efficient and effective management of Liquidity and 

Interest Rate risk of the Banking Book.  

 

The Risk Management Divisionapplies the appropriate stress test scenarios with respect to liquidity risk. The 

stress test scenarios are based on scenarios that, if materialized, may have a significant impact on the liquidity 

position of the Bank. The principle is to determine the funding needs arising from these situations and to 

ensure that an adequate course of action is established.The stress tests are performed on a periodic basis to 

cover both regulatory requirements and internal needs.  

Liquidity Stress Test 

Three types of scenarios are taken into consideration: 

 systemic (or market) stress scenario, 

 idiosyncratic stress scenario (in relation to the institution), 

 globalstress scenario. 

The ALCo is responsible for approving and reviewing stress test scenarios on an annual basis s along with 

internal liquidity risks indicators.  

Liquidity Crisis Management 

In case a potential crisis is identified through daily and intra-day checks on liquidity or the review of future 

cash flow projections, the ALCo members are notified accordingly. The ALCo requires immediate 

notification of early warning signs of a liquidity crisis following the information received by the respective 

units for any specific developments in their area of responsibilities that might reflect an adverse effect in the 

Bank’s liquidity position. The ALCo assesses the external conditions and the Bank’s overall liquidity 

position. 

The situation is closely monitored for as long as a liquidity crisis is deemed to be a possibility. Frequent crisis 

management meetings may take place for the duration of this period in order to monitor prevailing market 

conditions and establish the appropriate steps to be taken in the event of an actual liquidity crisis. 

 

In the event of an actual liquidity crisis, the Contingency Funding Plan is implemented. 

Apart from the Contingency Funding Plan, Alpha Bank Albania has developed a Resovery Plan that is aimed 

at ensuring the survival of the institution in times of distress that pose a threat to its viability. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

Exposure to liquidity risk  

The tables below set out the remaining undiscounted contractual maturities of the Bank’s liabilities and assets, 

including nonfinancial items: 

 

 December 31,2019 

 Up to 1 

month  

 1 to 3 

months  

 3 to 12 

months  
 1 to 5 years  

 Over 5 

years  
 Total  

       

 Cash and balances 

with Central bank  2,113,020 1,006,333 3,632,109 2,085,791 - 8,837,253 

 Loans and advances   

to financial 

institutions   14,088,526 - - - - 14,088,526 

 FVOCI  1,557,178 - 1,078,666 8,373,720 5,239,806 16,249,370 

 FVPL  (1,013) 1,095,930 129,933 - - 1,224,850 

 Loans and advances 

to customers  1,081,355 1,011,403 6,916,863 17,408,013 8,589,930 35,007,564 

 Total Assets 18,839,066 3,113,666 11,757,571 27,867,524 13,829,736 75,407,563 

       

 Due to banks  25,855 - - 1,436,885 - 1,462,740 

 Derivative Financial 

Liabilities 34 - - - - 34 

 Due to Customers 17,066,088 6,892,672 24,676,373 15,210,546 - 63,845,679 

 Subordinated Debt  2,858 - - 1,948,320 - 1,951,178 

 Other liabilities  719,359 - - - - 719,359 

 Lease Liability 14,302 28,542 127,081 540,301 625,818 1,336,044 

Total Liabilities 17,814,194 6,892,812 24,677,126 18,800,284 1,130,618 69,315,034 

       

Marginal Gap 1,024,872 (3,779,146) (12,919,555) 9,067,240 12,699,118  

              

6,092,529  

Cumulative Gap 1,024,872  (2,754,274) 

           

(15,673,829) (6,606,589) 6,092,529  - 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) 

Exposure to liquidity risk (Continued) 

 

 December 31,2018 

 Up to 1 

month  

 1 to 3 

months  

 3 to 12 

months  

 1 to 5 

years  

 Over 5 

years   Total  

             

Cash and balances 

with Central bank 2,190,165 997,704 3,655,149 1,792,665 - 8,635,683 
Loans and advances 

to financial 

institutions 14,482,979 - - - - 14,482,979 
FVOCI 1,896,990 - 2,925,514 7,163,256 3,238,005 15,223,765 
FVPL (4,750) - 333,272 1,326,959 - 1,655,481 
Loans and advances 

to customers 1,116,585 1,189,297 6,703,743 18,141,061 8,309,088 35,459,774 

 Total  Assets 19,681,969  2,187,001  13,617,678  28,423,941  11,547,093  75,457,682  

       

Due to banks 1,293,133 132,177 - 2,567,136 - 3,992,446 
Derivative Financial 

Liabilities 1,801 - - - - 1,801 
Due to Customers 14,600,787 7,089,838  26,886,901 13,209,670  61,787,196 

Subordinated Debt 2,956 - - 1,974,720 - 1,977,676 
Other liabilities 686,720 - - - - 686,720 

Total Liabilities 16,585,397  7,222,015  26,886,901  17,751,526  -    68,445,839  

       

Marginal Gap  3,783,292  (5,035,014) (13,269,223)  10,672,415  11,547,093   7,698,563  

Cumulative Gap  3,783,292  (1,251,722)  (14,520,945) (3,848,530)  7,698,563   -    

 

Liquidity GAP reports are produced for the major exposure currencies Lek, Euro and USD and for the total 

statement of financial position as well. Maximum cumulative outflow limits, are managed and monitored on a 

daily-basis, have been assigned for each of the above currencies. Any issue arising from liquidity mismatch is 

managed through inter-bank activity (borrowing, lending) within the pre-approved credit lines. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(d) Market risks 

Market risk is the risk of reduction in economic value arising from unfavourable changes in the value 

or volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates, stock exchange indices, equity prices and 

commodities. 

Losses may also occur either from the trading portfolio or from the Assets-Liabilities management. 

The Bank identifies, measures, monitors and controls Market risk through established risk management 

framework- policies, procedures and working directions. 

Within the scope of policy-making for financial risk management exposure limits and maximum loss 

limits (stop loss) have been set. In particular, the following limits have been set for the following risks: 

 Foreign currency risk  

 Interest rate risk on bond positions  

 Credit risk regarding interbank transactions and Bonds 

Positions held are monitored on a daily basis and are examined for the corresponding limit percentage 

cover and for any limit excess.  

(e) Currency Risk  

The Bank’s open foreign currency position is mainly due to banking book assets and liabilities, as well 

as client related FX transactions, It is subject to active management on an on-going basis under the 

prescribed internal and regulatory limits. 

The Bank identifies, measures, monitors and controls currency (FX) risk through established risk 

management framework- policies, procedures and working directions. The Market Risk Management 

Policy provides the framework and principles for the effective management of market risks including 

currency (FX) risk.  

As the currency in which the Bank presents its financial statements is the Albanian Lek, the Bank’s 

financial statements are effected by movements in the exchange rates between the Albanian Lek and 

other currencies. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(e) Currrency risk (Continued) 

The analysis of monetary positions as at December 31,2019 and 2018 by currencies in which they were denominated is as follows: 

December 31,2019 LEK   EUR   USD   Other    Total 

 All amounts are in Lek ‘000          
Financial Assets          
Cash and balances with Central bank 2,208,772  6,191,305  336,608  100,568  8,837,253 

Loans and advances to financial 

institutions 230,038  13,142,813  5,670  710,005  14,088,526 

FVOCI 10,939,443  4,699,049  610,878  -  16,249,370 

FVPL -  1,096,299  128,551  -  1,224,850 

Loans and advances to customers 10,258,653  22,865,027  1,883,885  -  35,007,565 

Total 23,636,906  47,994,493  2,965,592  810,573  75,407,564 

          

Financial Liabilities          

Due to banks 4,393  1,458,347  -  -  1,462,740 

Due to customers 24,408,311  37,025,627  1,616,265  795,476  63,845,679 

Subordinated debt -  1,951,178  -  -  1,951,178 

Total 24,412,704  40,435,152  1,616,265  795,476  67,259,597 

          

Currency risk (775,798)  7,559,341  1,349,327  15,097  8,147,967 

 

The Bank does not hedge FX position resulting from the Paid in Capital, which is denominated in Euro and USD. Any hedging of the said position, would bring breaches 

in regulatory FX position (in accordance with which the Paid in Capital is considered as a monetary item and is included in Bank’s overall FX position). 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(e) Currency risk (Continued) 

December 31,2018 LEK   EUR   USD   Other    Total 

 All amounts are in Lek ‘000          
Financial Assets          
Cash and balances with Central bank 3,931,975  4,377,000  264,778  61,930  8,635,683 
Loans and advances to financial 

institutions -  13,823,659  3,089  656,231  14,482,979 
FVOCI 10,337,943  4,316,177  569,645  -  15,223,765 
FVPL -  1,114,456  541,025  -  1,655,481 
Loans and advances to customers 9,870,165  23,147,433  2,442,176  -  35,459,774 

Total 24,140,083  46,778,725  3,820,713  718,161  75,457,682           

Financial Liabilities          
Due to banks 1,417,208  2,575,238  -  -  3,992,446 
Due to customers 24,059,757  35,145,862  1,859,556  722,021  61,787,196 
Subordinated debt -  1,977,676  -  -  1,977,676 

Total 25,476,965  39,698,776  1,859,556  722,021  67,757,318 

          

Currency risk   (1,336,882)   7,079,949    1,961,157    (3,860)   7,700,364  

 

Actually a part of the open FX positions between Euro and USD are closed through an FX Swap transaction with Head Office. As of December 31, 2018 the Bank sold 

Euro 9,200,000 and bought USD 10,544.221. 

The negative local currency position is due to utilization of repo instruments with Central Bank. The Bank uses this instrument in order to cover all liquidity needs in 

local currency. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(e) Currency Risk(Continued) 

The net foreign exchange position as at December 31, 2019and 2018 presents the following sensitivity 

analysis: 

Currency 

Exchange rate variation scenario against 

Lek (%) 

Stress Scenario 

Impact 2019 

Stress Scenario 

Impact 2018 

 

EUR 

Appreciation of EUR 5% 378,434 410,771 

Depreciation of EUR 5% (378,434) (410,771) 

USD 

Appreciation of USD 5% 67,805 41,214 

Depreciation of USD 5% (67,805) (41,214) 

Other 

Appreciation of 5% 755 (193) 

Depreciation of 5% (755) 193 

 

In order to measure currency (FX) risk the Bank applies Value at Risk – VAR. The method applied for 

calculating VAR is historical simulation. The Bank uses a holding period of one and ten days, depending on 

the time that is required to liquidate the positions.  

The VAR methodology is complemented with scenario analysis and stress testing, in order to estimate the 

potential sized of losses that coule arise for hypothetical as well as historical extreme movements of market 

parameters (stress-testing).  

 

(f) Interest Rate Risk of banking book 
Interest Rate Risk is defined as the risk to earnings and economic value arising from adverse movements in 

interest rates. There are four main sources of interest rate risk which may have an impact on the Bank’s 

earnings and/or its economic value: 

Repricing risk: arises from timing differences in repricing of the Bank’s assets, liabilities both on and off 

balance sheet.  

Yield curve risk: arises when unanticipated shifts of the yield curve have adverse effects on the Bank’s 

earnings or underlying economic value.  

Basis risk: arises from imperfect correlation in the adjustment of the rates earned on and paid on different 

instruments with otherwise similar repricing characteristics; and  

Optionality risk: arises from embedded options in the Bank’s assets, liabilities or off balance sheet portfolios. 

The Risk Management Division, develops and recommends the appropriate interest rate risk policy, 

measurement techniques, limits and internal indicators along with their alert levels and warning procedures, 

in accordance with:  

 the Bank’s risk tolerance and business objectives;  

 the complexity of the Bank’s activities; and  

 the composition of the Bank’s balance sheet.  

 

The ALCo reviews and approves the recommended interest rate risk policy, measurement techniques, limits 

and internal indicators and reviews them on an annual basis or more frequently as appropriate, in order to 

ensure compliance with the Bank’s risk appetite, activities and business objectives. The Interest Rate Risk 

Policy is finally ratified by the Board of Directors of ABA. 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(f) Financial Risk of banking book (Continued) 

Interest Rate Risk Measurement  

The Risk Management Division is responsible for interest rate risk measurement. The main measure of Interest 

Rate risk is the Interest Rate Risk Gap for each currency, which represents the repricing schedule showing 

assets, liabilities and off balance sheet exposures by time band according to their maturity (for fixed rate 

instruments), or next reprice date (for adjustable/ floating rate instruments). 

The Risk Management Division, in cooperation with other units develops and recommends the appropriate 

stress test scenarios with respect to interest rate risk. The Interest Rate stress tests are performed on a monthly 

basis. The scenario analysis consists of measuring the impact on earnings and economic value of the current 

balance sheet by simulating various scenarios (i.e. interest rate shifts). The ALCo is responsible for approving 

and reviewing stress test scenarios for their appropriateness on an annual basis.  

Interest Rate Risk Monitoring  

Interest rate risk arises due to the imperfect correlation between the maturity (for fixed interest rates) or re-

pricing date (for floating interest rates) of the interest-bearing assets and liabilities, adverse evolution of the 

slope and shape of the yield curve (the unparallel evolution of the interest rate yields of the interest-earning 

assets and liabilities). Asset-liability risk management activities are conducted in the context of the Bank’s 

sensitivity to interest rate changes. The Bank generally grants loans with floating interest rates, according to 

Bank’s policy and also with indexed interest rates (which re-price based on reference interest rates like 

Treasury Bill, EURIBOR, LIBOR, etc.).  

On the deposit side, the Bank offers mainly products with fixed interest rates. The Bank is exposed to various 

risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial 

position and cash flows. 

Assets Liabilities Committeee is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by the 

Treasury Section in its day-to-day monitoring activities.  

The respective Interest Rate Risk Gaps of 2019 and 2018 take into consideration the economic conditions of 

the country, the characteristics of each product and the behavior of the clients and also the competition’s 

current structure, in the context of a more efficient and effective management of Interest Rate Risk of the 

Banking Book 

A summary of the Bank’s interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as follows: 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(f) Financial Risk of banking book (Continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk – banking book  

December 31,2019 Up to 1 month  1 to 3 months  3 to 12 months  Over 1 year  

Non interest 

bearing  Total 
            
Cash and balances with Central 

bank 2,325,875  990,113  3,555,706  1,965,559  -  8,837,253 

Loans and advances to financial 

institutions 14,088,526  -  -  -  -  14,088,526 

FVOCI 1,657,178  (1,095,930)  2,174,596  13,513,526  -  16,249,370 

FVPL (1,015)  -  1,225,865  -  -  1,224,850 

Loans and advances to customers 8,307,293  13,376,128  10,251,212  3,072,930  -  35,007,564 

Other assets -  -  -  -  2,928,531  2,928,530 

Total Assets 26,377,857  13,270,311  17,207,379  18,552,016  2,928,530  78,336,093 

            

Due to banks 1,462,740  -  -  -  -  1,462,740  

Derivative Financial Liability 34  -  -  -  -  34  

Due to customers 19,081,319  6,711,659  23,861,814  14,190,887  -  63,845,679  

Subordinated debt 2,858  1,948,320  -  -  -  1,951,178  

Other liabilities -  -  -  -  2,055,403  2,055,403  

Equity -  -  -  -  9,021,059  9,021,059 

Total Liabilities 20,546,951  8,659,979  23,861,814  14,190,887  11,076,462  78,336,093 

Marginal Gap 5,830,906  4,610,332  (6,654,435)  4,361,129  (8,147,932)  - 

Cumulative  Gap 5,830,906  10,441,238  3,786,803  8,147,932  -   

 

The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to 

various standard and non-standard interest rate scenarios.  
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4.  Financial risk management (Continued) 

(f)  Financial Risk of banking book (Continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk – banking book (Continued) 

December 31,2018 Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 12 months   Over 1 year   

Non interest 

bearing   Total 

            
Cash and balances with Central bank 2,557,701  885,048  3,497,752  1,695,182  -  8,635,683 
Loans and advances to financial 

institutions 14,482,979  -  -  -  -  14,482,979 
FVOCI 1,996,989  100,000  2,825,514  10,301,262  -  15,223,765 
FVPL  (4,750)  -  1,444,052  216,179  -  1,655,481 
Loans and advances to customers 8,302,341  5,799,064  9,736,313  11,622,056  -  35,459,774 
Other assets -  -  -  -  1,650,089  1,650,089 

Total Assets 27,335,260  6,784,112  17,503,631  23,834,679  1,650,089  77,107,771 

            

Due to banks 3,992,446  -  -  -  -  3,992,446 

Derivative Financial Liability 1,801  -  -  -  -  1,801 

Due to customers 16,213,718  6,948,091  26,249,037  12,376,350  -  61,787,196 

Subordinated debt 2,956  1,974,720  -  -  -  1,977,676 

Other liabilities -  -  -  -  686,720  686,720 

Equity -  -  -  -  8,661,932  8,661,932 

Total Liabilities 20,210,921  8,922,811  26,249,037  12,376,350  9,348,652  77,107,771 

Marginal Gap 7,124,339  (2,138,699)  (8,745,406)  11,458,329  (7,698,563)  - 

Cumulative  Gap 7,124,339  4,985,640  (3,759,766)  7,698,563  -   
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4.  Financial risk management (Continued) 

(f) Financial Risk of banking book (Continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk – banking book (Continued) 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. In case of 

upward movements by 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date, profit or loss would decrease by 

Lek 47,729 thousand as of December 31,2019 (2018: decrease by Lek 32,219 thousand). In case of downwards 

movements by 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date, profit or loss would decrease by 

Lek10,107 thousand as of December 31,2018 (2017: decrease by Lek 25,450 thousand). 

    2019 2018 

 

Interest Rate variation 

scenario 

 
Sensitivity for profit or 

loss  

  
Sensitivity for profit 

or loss  

Currency        
LEK +/(-)100b.p  (-) 60,638/ (+) 14,894      (-) 63,685 / (+) 1,448       

EUR +/(-)100b.p  (+) 97,306 / (-) 16,357   (+) 61,872 / (-) 11,377  

USD +/(-)100b.p  (+) 6,925 / (-) 14,929      (+) 7,669 / (-) 16,364    

Other 

(GBP/CHF) +/(-)100b.p  (+) 3,244/(-) 1,549       (+) 2,893/(-) 1,383     

The average effective yields of significant categories of financial assets and liabilities of the Bank as at 

December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 were as follows: 

 Weighted average 

interest rate 

(LEK) 

Weighted average 

interest rate  

(USD) 

Weighted average 

interest rate 

(EUR) 

December 31, 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

Financial assets       

Cash and balances with Central Bank 0.55% 0.55% - - -0.37% (0.62%) 

Loans and advances to financial 

institutions 0.99% - 1.13% 1.01% 0.29% 0.75% 

Investments in securities 5.55% 5.86% 5.43% 3.94% 2.53% 2.21% 

Loans to customers 5.42% 5.75% 4.89% 5.61% 3.24% 3.41% 

Financial liabilities       

Due to banks 1.27% 1.25% 1.02% 1.22% 1.57% 1.83% 

Due to customers 0.47% 0.46% 0.08% 0.07% 0.00% 0.01% 

       

Exposure to foreign exchange risk  

The applicable rate of exchange (Lek to foreign currency unit) for the principal currencies as at December 

31,2019 and December 31,2018 were as follows: 

 2019 2018 

USD 108.64 107.82 

EUR 121.77 123.42 

GBP 143 137.42 

CHF 112.3 109.60 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(g) Operational risks 

Operational Risk is defined as the risk of the occurrence of an event, with or without financial impact, resulting 

from inadequate or failed internal processes, IT systems, people (intentionally or unintentionally) and from 

external events.  

Operational risk also includes legal risk which is associated with legally flawed actions, uncertainty regarding 

the definition of the law that may lead to inadequate interpretation and potential inefficiencies in the legal 

framework. 

The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 

damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 

initiative and creativity.  

The Bank has also adopted an appropriate organizational structure, with clearly defines roles and 

responsibilities for its employees and units, in order to manage operational risk issues.  

In order to ensure proper implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework specific 

Committees and roles have been established: 

Operational Risk Committee has the overall responsibility for overseeing the Operational risk management 

activities and ensures that operational risks are properly identified and managed. In addition to the Operational 

Risk Committee, the Bank has established lower level Committees that are involved in the review and decision 

making process relevant to operational risk events. These Committees act within specific limits as per 

respective risk events. 

Risk Management Division which implements the operational risk framework and ensures compliance with 

the local regulatory framework. 

Organizational units throughout the Bank identify, assess, monitor and collect their own operational risk in 

compliance with Operational risk management framework. Each organizational unit has appointed 

Operational Risk Coordinators. This role has been assigned to Officers of the Bank’s Departments and 

Business Units with experience and knowledge of  the unit’s operations, in order to raise the awareness, to 

support all necessary communication and to promote corrective actions within the unit.  

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 

assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development 

of overall Bank standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:  

• requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of 

transactions  

• requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions  

• compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements  

• documentation of controls and procedures  

• requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified  

• requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action  

• development of contingency plans  

• training and professional development  

• ethical and business standards  

• risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.  

Operational Risk Management is performed according to a specific Group Framework with policies,  

procedures and guidelines, which are continuously reviewed and improved. It focuses particularly in the 

following areas: 
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(g) Operational risks (Continued) 

The “Operational Risk Event Data Collection” methodology including management of Lawsuits filed 

against the Bank, for the purpose of operational risk identification and assessment. The Bank collects events 

resulting from operational risks which are categorized by category, business lines, event cause and effect type. 

Reported operational risk events are recorded in the centralized data base. The process of event collection is 

centrally handled by Operational Risk Section within Risk Management Division, which consolidates and 

analyzes all available information. Additionally the Bank has established operational risk committees with 

specific authority limits delegated with the review and management of the operational risk events.  

Operational Risk Control Self-Assessment (ORCSA)  

As a tool for assessing operational risk exposure, the Bank uses operational risk and control self-assessment 

process as well as definition and monitoring of key risk indicators.  

The Bank has completed a Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) – Project in  2017 –. This was the third 

consecutive year that RCSA is conducted and this process involved all the business units of the Bank and 

aimed at enabling the Bank to take a proactive risk management approach.  

 

Outsourcing Risk Assessment Process 

In full compliance with the contents of the Group’s Outsourcing Policy in force, during 2018 it is initiated 

the Outsourcing Risk Assessment Process. 

The assessment process deals with the risks which are both related to: 

- The outsourced activities  

- The existing/potential vendors  

Risk Assessment process takes place on a periodical (at least annual) basis. 

Risk Unit has an oversight role, ensuring the timely conclusion of the process on the one hand and providing 

necessary support  to the business units on the other.  

 

Operational Risk monitoring and reporting  

Risk Management Division provides the Executive Board, Operational Risk Committee and competent 

Group’s units with a clear view and appropriate reports on the level of the Bank’s operational risk exposure.  

Operational Risk Committee reviews and analyses information related to operational risk events, ORCSA 

outcomes, Key Risk Indicators, IT Key Performance Indicators, providing the appropriate level of support, for 

action plans designed to prevent the recurrence of operational risk losses or to mitigate the identified 

operational risks and improve the quality of risk management.  

Operational Risk mitigation  

The Bank’s primary protection against operational risk exposure is achieved through the implementation of 

policies, procedures, as well as system of internal controls. Additionally the implementation of the action plans 

as defined in ORCSA process provide additional protection against future operational risk losses; The Bank 

has purchased specific local Insurance Policies which cover specific areas of operational risk (i.e. damage of 

physical assets) and, as a member of the Alpha Bank Group is covered by the Group Bankers Blanket Bond. 

Parallel to the recording and monitoring of the operational risk loss events, Alpha Bank Albania is 

countinously monitoring and reporting on a monthly basis the key operational risk indicators related to 

customer/counterparty interaction, processes, systems, information security etc.    

Finally the Bank also focuses on the continuous improvement of the Fraud Risk management by implementing 

a Fraud Risk Management Policy and Procedures Manual.  

Fraud Risk Management 

During 2019, the Bank has been focused on the improvement of the Fraud Risk management by implementing 

the  Fraud Risk Management Policy.  
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4. Financial risk management (Continued) 

(g) Operational risks (Continued) 

 

The purpose of this policy is to describe the steps to be followed during the fraud detection process, fraud 

investigation and respective corrective actions as part of the fraud risk management policy. It prescribes the 

Fraud Risk Management framework, aiming to protect the Bank, while ensuring the existence of the 

appropriate organizational structure and procedures for the prevention, detection, investigation and 

communication of fraud incidents 

 

Fraud Risk Management includes both the mitigation of factors that affect Fraud manifestation (e.g. 

opportunity, incentive, rationalization of illegal activity) as well as the reduction or elimination of the 

impacts such as financial impact, reputation impact, and any impact on business continuity.  

Fraud Risk Management includes the following stages:  

 Prevention  

 Detection  

 Investigation and Corrective Actions  

 Communication and Information Dissemination  

 

(h) Capital management 

Regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratio 

The Bank is subject to the Central Bank (“BoA”) regulation “On capital adequacy” pursuant to the law "On 

Banks in the Republic of Albania” for the purpose of its capital management.In implementing current capital 

requirements, the Central Bank requires from the secondary level banks to maintain a prescribed minimum 

capital adequacy ratio (total regulatory capital to total risk-weighted assets) of 12%. The minimum required 

Tier I Ratio (Tier I capital to total risk-weighted assets ) is 6%.The minimum capital adequacy ratio required 

for Alpha Bank Albania by the Central Bank is 14%.  

 

Regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratio (Continued)  

The local regulation on Capital Adequacy is based  onthe Basel II requirements. The Bank complied with the 

minimum required Capital Adequacy Ratio at December 31,2019 and 2018. 
  December 31,2019 December 31,2018 

Total qualifying Tier I capital  7,449,975  6,681,422 

Subordinated debt  796,642  1,202,996 

Total qualifying Tier I and II capital  8,246,617  7,884,418 
 

   
Risk-weighted assets  46,431,768 45,993,188 

    

Capital adequacy ratio  17.76% 17.14%  

The ratios mentioned above are based on the financial statements prepared for regulatory purposes which are 

different from IFRS.  
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5. Fair Value disclosures 

Fair value estimates are based on existing statement of financial position, financial instruments without 

attempting to estimate the value of anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities not 

considered financial instruments. 

FVOCI- Securities are classified as Level 1 if inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical securities. 

When the fair value is calculated based on non-binding market prices provided by dealers-brokers or using a 

discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity, 

they are classified as Level 2. Level 3 classification refers to a security with fair value estimated using 

significant unobservable inputs. In this case the fair value is quoted by the calculation agent of the issue and 

confirmed by the Group. Related to securities for which there is active market exists i.e. Albanian Government 

for Treasury bills and bonds the fair value has been estimated using a discounted cash flow model based on a 

current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity and they are classified as Level 2. 

Loans and advances to financial institutions - Loans and advances to financial institutions include inter-bank 

placements and items in the course of collection. As deposits are short term and at floating rates their fair value 

is considered to approximate their carrying amount. 

Loans and advances to customers - Loans and advances are net of allowances for impairment. The Bank’s 

loan portfolio has an estimated fair value approximately equal to its book value due to either their short-term 

nature or underlying interest rates (which are generally floating rates: T–Bills, EURIBOR, LIBOR plus interest 

margin), which approximate market rates. The majority of the loan portfolio is subject to reprising within a 

year, by changing the base rate. 

Deposits from banks - The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-

interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. 

Deposits from customers - Because no active market exists for these instruments, the fair value has been 

estimated using a discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining 

term to maturity. 

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 

hierarchy. 

  

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

December 31,2019        
Financial assets        
Debt securities 6,406,227  11,067,993  -  17,474,220 

Total 6,406,227  11,067,993  -  17,474,220         
December 31,2018        
Financial assets        
Debt securities 4,823,978  12,055,268  -  16,879,246 

Total 4,823,978  12,055,268  -  16,879,246 

There were no purchases or sales in level 3 FVOCI financial assets and the change in the carrying value of 

the balance is as a results of the change in fair value.



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

64 
 

5. Fair Value disclosures (Continued) 

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value: 

December 31,2019 

Loans and 

receivables 

  Other amortised 

cost 

  Total carrying 

amount 

  Fair value 

Level 3 

Financial Assets        

Cash and balances with Central Bank 8,837,253  -  8,837,253  8,837,253 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 14,088,526  -  14,088,526  14,088,526 

Loans and advances to customers 35,007,564  -  35,007,564  38,077,344 

Other assets -  2,928,530  2,928,530  2,928,530 

Total 57,933,343  2,928,530  60,861,873  63,931,653 

        

Financial Liabilities        

Due to banks -  1,462,740  1,462,740  1,462,740 

Derivative Financial Liabilities   34  34  34 

Due to Customers -  63,845,679  63,845,679  63,808,889 

Subordinated Debt -  1,951,178  1,951,178  1,937,520 

Other liabilities -  1,907,969  1,907,969  1,907,969 

Total -  69,167,600  69,167,600  69,117,152 
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5.  Fair Value disclosures (Continued) 

December 31, 2018 

Loans and 

receivables 

  Other amortised 

cost 

  Total carrying 

amount 

  Fair value 

Level 3 

Financial Assets        
Cash and balances with Central Bank 8,635,683  -  8,635,683  8,635,683 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 14,482,979  -  14,482,979  14,482,979 

Loans and advances to customers 35,459,774  -  35,459,774  39,014,772 

Other assets -  1,650,089  1,650,089  1,650,089 

Total 58,578,436 
 

1,650,089 
 

60,228,525 
 

63,783,523         
Financial Liabilities        
Due to banks -  3,992,446  3,992,446  3,992,446 

Due to Customers -  61,787,196  61,787,196  61,801,218 

Subordinated Debt -  1,977,676  1,977,676  1,969,971 

Other liabilities -  578,305  578,305  578,305 

Total -  68,335,623 
 

68,335,623 
 

68,341,940 
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6. Net interest income 

Net interest income is comprised as follows: 

  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Interest income from:     
Loans and advances to financial institutions   45,162   121,382  

Loans and advances to customers   1,477,128  1,435,845 

Income from Balances with Central Bank  15,801   17,690  

FVOCI securities  
 

809,266  
 

 854,903  

FVPL securities  18,195    14,397  

Other interest income   6,268   6,946  

Total interest income  2,371,820   2,451,163  

Interest expense for:     
Due to banks  (47,769)   (75,527) 

Due to customers  (117,238)   (116,057) 

Subordinated debt  (32,951)   (34,697) 

Other  (155,614)   (142,248) 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  (34,725)   

Total interest expense  (388,297)   (368,529) 

Net interest income  1,983,523  2,082,634 

 

Please see Note 4 (b) for the interest income from loans for the year 2019 and 2018 per IFRS 9 Stage. Interest 

income from loans to customers include an amount of Lek 42,228 thousand (2018: Lek 62,787 thousand), which 

represents the unwinding of discount effect. 

7. Net fee and commission income 

Net fee and commission income is comprised as follows: 

  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Service fees  181,918   171,537  

Telex-Swift  8,584   8,685  

Money transfers  21,372   21,084  

Treasury operation and inter-bank transactions  1,000   1,314  

Account maintenance  216,846   249,202  

Debit and Credit Cards  59,703   69,932  

Total fee and commission income  489,423   521,754  

Treasury operation and inter-bank transactions  (3,974)   (2,609) 

Service fees  (3,083)   (3,210) 

Debit and Credit Cards  (52,521)   (52,900) 

Total fee and commission expense  (59,578)   (58,719) 

Net fee and commission income  429,845   463,035  
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8. A) Gains less losses on financial transactions 

Gain less losses on financial transactions are comprised as follows: 

 

 For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Gains/losses from revaluation of bonds at fair value 

through profit or loss 

 

4,734    (12,393) 

Gains on sales of securitie  16,816  - 

Other gains/losses  -  (12,552) 

Foreign exchange translation differences  (49,720)  (641,494) 

Total  (28,170)  (666,439) 

 

B ) Other Operating Income 

Other Operating Income are comprised as follows: 

 

 For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

     

Gains/losses from sales of assets  3,778   2,697  

AMEX strategic plan  44,797   10,819  

Other gains/losses (from roundings)  1,010   576  

Total  49,585  14,092 

  

9. Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses are comprised as follows: 

  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Salaries  594,594   609,478  

Social and health insurance  75,182   74,133  

Training and per diem  6,551   10,456  

Staff housing expense  4,919   5,492  

Other  55,762   58,521  

Total  737,008   758,080  

 

At December 31, 2019 the Bank had 421 employees (December 31, 2018: 422 employees). 
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10. Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are comprised as follows: 

  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Computer equipment rent – maintenance  251,540   257,334 

Deposits’ insurance fund fee  216,343   217,738 

Other taxes  143,098   144,981 

Advertising and promotion costs  93,018   90,845 

Other administrative expenses  75,453  87,880 

Information technology costs  50,445   45,275 

Professional fees  63,018   69,148 

Security services for buildings and cash transport  47,376   43,265 

Electricity   31,431   35,421 

Telecommunications and postage  22,873   22,331 

Stationery and other dispensable materials  18,078   15,379 

Insurance   17,144   12,326 

Cleaning services  12,073   12,163 

Financial information fees  10,885   10,382 

Maintenance of buildings and equipment  10,755   15,820 

Restructuring costs  9,083   17,847 

Services from collections companies  3,641   4,127 

Buildings rent   2,919   203,335 

Other  210  - 

  1,079,383  1,305,597 

Other taxes include Lek 131,639 thousand (2018: Lek 137,072 thousand) that represent VAT charged on 

expenses.  
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11. Income tax 

  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Current income tax  54,206  - 

Deferred tax expense/ (benefit)  (54,206)  67,072 

Total income tax expense/ (benefit)  -  67,072 

The Bank has utilized part of its tax losses carried forward, up to the amount of the current income tax, so that 

to offset all current income tax obligation. The Bank has not recorded all tax losses carried forward amounting 

Lek 731,266 thousands due to the uncertainty of the fact whether all tax losses will be fully utilized in the future. 

Income tax in Albania is assessed at the rate of 15% of taxable income. The following is a reconciliation of 

income taxes calculated at the applicable nominal tax rate to income tax expense. 

  Tax rate  

December 31,  

2019  Tax rate  

December 31, 

2018 

(Loss)/profit before taxes   130,018    (910,884) 

Tax according to nominal tax rate  15.00%  20,703  15.00%  (136,633) 

Non-deductible expenses 24.27%  33,503  (12.12)%  110,365 

Non utilised tax losses   -  4.48%  (40,804) 

Tax losses utilized (39.27)%  (54,206)     

Losses carried forward     0.00%  - 

Previous years tax adjustments     0.00%  - 

Income tax expense 0%  0  7.36%  (67,072) 

 

The deferred tax assets have been presented net of the deferred tax liabilities as the amounts are due to the same 

tax authority and are expected to be settled on a net basis.  

The movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 

 

 

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Liability/ (asset) at the beginning of the year 108,415  (4,568) 

Deferred tax expense/ (benefit) 54,206  67,072 

Utilization of deferred tax benefit (54,206)   

Deferred tax through other comprehensive income 39,019  45,911 

At the end of the year 147,434  108,415 

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items: 

  2019  2018 

Deferred tax asset  

 

  
Tax losses carried forward  -  (67,072) 

Deferred tax liability     
Revaluation of FVOCI financial assets (note 24)  (147,434)  (41,343) 

Net deferred tax Asset/(Liability)  (147,434)  (108,415) 
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11. Income tax (Continued) 

The deferred tax included in the balance sheet and changes recorded in the income tax expense or equity are as 

follows: 

Movement of Deferred Tax 

  

Balance 

January 

1,2018 

Recognized in Income 

statement 
Recognized in Equity 

Balance 

December 

31,2018 

    Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities   

Valuation of bonds (62,504) - - - 45,911 (108,415) 

Tax losses carried 

forward 67,071 - - - 67,072 - 

Total 4,567 - - - 112,983 (108,415) 

 

  

Balance 

January 1, 

2019 

Recognized in 

Income statement 

Recognized in 

Equity 

Balance 

December 

31, 2019 

    Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities   

Valuation of 

bonds (108,415) - - -  39,019   (147,434) 

Tax losses carried 

forward - 54,206 54,206 - - - 

Total (108,415) 54,206 54,206 -  39,019   (147,434) 

 

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, other deferred tax items, include deferred tax assets as a result of temporary 

differences between the carrying amount and tax base at the balance sheet date of FVOCI Fnancial Assets. 

 

12. Cash and balances with Central Bank 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Cash on hand  1,847,509   1,509,663  
In Lek  647,444   483,213  

In foreign currencies  1,200,065   1,026,450  

Central Bank  6,989,744   7,126,020  
Current account   112,573   369,446  

Compulsory reserve  6,877,171   6,756,574  

Total  8,837,253  8,635,683 

 

Compulsory reserve 

In accordance with the Central Bank’s requirement relating to the deposit reserve, the Bank should maintain a 

specific minimum of its customer deposits with the Central Bank as a reserve account. 

On 7 February 2018 Bank of Albania approved the decision no.13 for the change on the Compulsory Reserve 

requirement. As such: 

- Obligatory reserve requirement rate for local currency liabilities to 7.5% and 5%. 70% of the Compulsory 

reserve in LEK is available for the Banks’ day-to-day operations. Compulsory reserve in Lek with the Central 

Bank earned interest at 100% of the BoA base rate of the repurchase agreements rate, which at December 31, 

2019 was 1% p.a.  

The obligatory reserve requirement rate for foreign currency liabilities is 12.5% and 20%. The rate 12.5% is 

applied on the value of foreign currency Liabilities, which are up to 50% of total liabilities included in the 

required reserve base. The rate 20% is applied for the additional value of these foreign currency liabilities of 

the bank exceeding  the value of 50% of the total deposits. 
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12. Loans and advances to financial institutions 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Current accounts with banks  2,279,570  1,030,925  

Non-resident   2,279,570   1,030,925  

Money market placements  11,808,956  13,452,054  

Resident  1,094,366   617,100  

Non-resident  10,714,484   12,834,299  

Interest accrued   106   655  

Total  14,088,526  14,482,979 

Current accounts with non-resident banks comprise balances held with Alpha Bank A.E., Athens, Deutsche 

Bank AG and Raiffeisen Bank International. Money market placements with non-resident banks include Lek 

thousand(2019: Lek 10,714,484thousand) held with other non-resident banks.Money market placements as at 

December 31,2019earn interest at the following rates: 

 EUR (0.2) to 0.5% p.a (2018: (0.2%) to 1.5% p.a) 

 GBP :0.4% p.a (2018: 0.47% ). 

On December 31, 2019 the loans and advances to Financial Institutions are rated as below: 

 

 
As at 

December 31, 2019 

 As at 

December 31, 2018 

A-   - 

BBB+ 2,271,490  1,026,948 

BBB 1,313,850  652,795 

B- 487,080  12,186,150 

B 8,921,720  - 

Unrated 1,094,386  617,086 

 14,088,526  14,482,979 

 

13. Investment Securities 

 

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Debt securities measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (note a) 16,249,370   15,223,765  

Debt securities measured at fair value through 

profit or loss (note b) 1,224,850   1,655,481  

Total 17,474,220  16,879,246 

An analysis of investment securities is provided in the following tables per classification category. 

a. Debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 2019   2018  

Albanian Government  10,939,442  11,083,786 

- Bonds 10,936,452  11,083,786  

-Treasury bills 2,990       -    

Other Governments 1,962,229   484,819  

- Bonds 1,962,229   484,819  

-Treasury bills  -      -    

Other issuers   3,347,699   3,655,160  

- listed 3,347,699   3,655,160  

-Non listed  -      -    

Total 16,249,370  15,223,765 
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13. Investment Securities (Continued) 

Details by remaining maturity are presented as follows: 
 

December 

31,  2019 

Nominal 

value 

Deferred 

discount 

Accrued 

interest 

Amortize

d Cost 

Revaluatio

n difference 

Expected 

credit loss  

Carrying 

amount 

24 months 1,328,666 12,694 22,478 1,363,838 28,167 5,230 1,386,777 

36 months 4,826,970 30,226 63,672 4,920,868 288,543 24,152 5,185,258 

60 months 3,296,750 76,092 49,118 3,421,961 379,371 17,826 3,783,506 

over 60 

month 5,239,806 271,184 119,643 5,630,632 286,812 23,615 5,893,829 

Total 14,692,192 390,196 254,911 15,337,299 982,893 70,823 16,249,370 
 

December 

31,  2018 

Nominal 

value 

Deferred 

discount 

Accrued 

interest 

Amortized 

Cost 

Revaluation 

difference 

Expected 

credit loss  

Carrying 

amount 

24 months 4,751,270 46,396 64,389 4,862,055 112,285 55,273 4,919,067 

36 months 250,000 6,179 4,916 261,095 10,293 1,769 269,619 

60 months 5,828,020 115,198 87,370 6,030,588 407,524 35,613 6,402,499 

over 60 

month 3,238,006 152,361 77,478 3,467,845 192,663 27,928 3,632,580 

Total 14,067,296 320,134 234,153 14,621,583 722,765 120,583 15,223,765 

 

The tables below presents the movement of the cumulative allowance of Debt Securities at FVOCI as at 

December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   

Debt securities 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2019 120,583 - - 120,583 

Movements with profit or loss impact - - - - 

Transfers between stages - - - - 

New financial assets originated or purchased 15,839 - - 15,839 

Foreign exchange and other movements (65,599) - - (65,599) 

Total net P&L charge during the period 70,823 -  70,823 

Other movements with no P&L impact - - - - 

Financial assets derecognised during the 

period - - - - 

Loss allowance as at December 31, 2019 70,823 - - 70,823 

 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   

Securities 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2018 83,675 - - 83,675 

Movements with profit or loss impact - - - - 

Transfers between stages - - - - 

New financial assets originated or purchased 41,076 - - 41,076 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (4,168) - - (4,168) 

Total net P&L charge during the period 120,583 -  120,583 

Other movements with no P&L impact - - - - 

Financial assets derecognised during the 

period - - - - 

Loss allowance as at December 31, 2018 120,583 - - 120,583 
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14. Investment Securities (Continued) 

a. Debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (Continued) 

The table below  presents the movement of the gross amount of  Debt Securities at FVOCI as at December 

31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   

Debt Securities 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Net balance  as at January 1, 2019 15,223,765 - - 15,223,765 

Movements with profit or loss impact - - - - 

Transfers between stages - - - - 

New financial assets originated or purchased 4,678,392 - - 4,678,392 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs - - - - 

Changes to model assumptions and 

methodologies - - - - 

Modification of contractual cash flows of 

financial assets - - - - 

Unwind of discount - - - - 

Write-offs - - - - 

Maturities\Sales  (4,277,838)    (4,277,838) 

FX and other movements  625,051  - -  625,051  

Total net P&L charge during the period 16,249,370 - - 16,249,370 

Other movements with no P&L impact - - -  
Financial assets derecognised during the period - - -  
Net balance as at December 31, 2019 16,249,370 - - 16,249,370 

 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   

Debt Securities 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL 

Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Net balance at January 1, 2018 14,181,665 - - 14,181,665 

Movements with profit or loss impact - - - - 

Transfers between stages - - - - 

New financial assets originated or purchased 886,364 - - 886,364 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs - - - - 

Changes to model assumptions and 

methodologies - - - - 

Modification of contractual cash flows of 

financial assets - - - - 

Unwind of discount - - - - 

Write-offs - - - - 

FX and other movements 155,736 - - 155,736 

Total net P&L charge during the period 15,223,765 - - 15,223,765 

Other movements with no P&L impact - - -  
Financial assets derecognised during the period - - -  
Net balance as at December 31, 2018 15,223,765 - - 15,223,765 
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14. Investment Securities (Continued) 

b. Debt securities measured at fair value through profit or loss 

 2019  2018 

Other Governments 1,096,299  1,114,456 

- bonds 1,096,299  1,114,456   

Other issuers 128,551  541,025  

- listed 128,551  541,025   

Total 1,224,850  1,655,481 

 

Details by remaining  maturity are presented as follows: 

   2019    

 

Purchase 

price 

Deferred 

discount 

Accrued 

interest 

Amortized 

Cost 

Revaluation 

difference 

Fair value 

24 months 1,225,863 867 742 1,227,472 (2,622) 1,224,850 

36 months - - - - - - 

60 months - - - - - - 

 1,225,863 867 742 1,227,472 (2,622)    1,224,850 

 

   

 

2018 

   

 

Purchase 

price 

Deferred 

discount 

Accrued 

interest 

Amortized 

Cost 

Revaluation 

difference 

Fair value 

24 months 1,660,231 1,673 933 1,662,837 (7,356) 1,665,481 

36 months - - - - - - 

60 months - - - - - - 

 1,660,231 1,673 933 1,662,837 (7,356) 1,665,481 
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15. Loans and advances to customers 

 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Gross loans  36,107,459  36,649,056 

Deferred loan origination fees  (43,115)  (48,758) 

Accrued interest  346,901  407,904 

  36,411,245  37,008,202 

Less allowance for impairment  (1,403,681)   (1,548,428) 

Total  35,007,564   35,459,774  

Expected credit losses charged to the profit or loss are presented net of recoveries from loans written off. 

Movements in the impairment allowances are as follows: 

  2019  2018 

     

     

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,548,428  1,536,320 

Loans written off  (472,341)  (730,594) 

Impairment loss  288,032  696,920 

Translation differences  (2,666)  (17,005) 

Unwinding of discount  42,228  62,787 

Balance at the end of the year  1,403,681  1,548,428 

 

Expected credit losses charged to the profit or loss are presented net of recoveries from loans written off: 

  2019  2018 

Impairment loss  288,032  696,920 

Recoveries from loans written off  (70,097)  (110,533) 

  217,935  586,387 

Movements in the provision for loan losses by classes of loans and advances are detailed as follows: 

 Corporate loans Retail Loans Total 

Balance at January 1, 2018 843,000 693,320 1,536,320 

Impairment losses 1,067,748 353,836 1,421,584 

Reversals (488,890) (235,774) (724,664) 

Write offs  (570,130)  (160,464)  (730,594) 

Translation differences (9,637) (7,368) (17,005) 

Unwinding of discount  20,483   42,304   62,787  

Balance at December 31, 2018  862,574 685,854 1,548,428  

Impairment losses 637,052 278,463 915,515 

Reversals (412,931) (214,552) (627,483) 

Write offs (348,675) (123,666) (472,341) 

Translation differences (1,229) (1,437) -2,666 

Unwinding of discount 5,767 36,461 42,228 

Balance at December 31, 2019 742,558 661,123 1,403,681 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 

Loans by IFRS 9 Stage (past due and not past due) 

 

The following tables presents past due and not past due loans, measured at amortised cost, per IFRS 9 Stage. 

There are no loans to report which were impaired at their acquisition/origination (POCI) or  measured at fair 

value through profit or loss. 

 

The following table presents past due and not past due loans, measured at amortised cost, per IFRS 9 Stage 1 

as at December 31, 2019 and December 31,2018: 

  Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Stage 1 

 December 31, 

2019 
Non Past Due Past due  Total Allowance 

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Retail lending 8,171,157 2,453,340 10,624,497 58,295 10,566,202 

Mortgage 5,105,973 1,641,624 6,747,597 9,528 6,738,069 

Consumer 2,902,486 780,514 3,683,000 45,828 3,637,172 

Credit cards 142,410 9,824 152,234 2,911 149,323 

Other (incl. SBL) 20,288 21,378 41,666 28 41,638 

Corporate 

lending 

9,407,622 1,675,578 11,083,200 209,017 10,874,183 

Large 8,489,401 1,156,602 9,646,003 196,152 9,449,851 

SME's 918,221 518,976 1,437,197 12,865 1,424,332 

Public sector 5,566,675 - 5,566,675 27,846 5,538,829 

Greece -  -     -     -    - 

Albania 5,566,675  -    5,566,675 27,846 5,538,829 

Total 23,145,454 4,128,918 27,274,372 295,158 26,979,214 

 

  Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Stage 1 

  December 31, 

2018 
Non Past Due Past due  Total Allowance 

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Retail lending 7,842,091 1,798,139 9,640,230 45,011 9,595,219 

Mortgage 5,143,218 1,207,601 6,350,819 7,557 6,343,261 

Consumer 2,508,765 569,817 3,078,582 33,822 3,044,761 

Credit cards 154,321 8,552 162,873 3,600 159,273 

Other (incl. SBL) 35,787 12,169 47,956 32 47,924 

Corporate 

lending 
6,444,727 3,844,985 10,289,712 223,760 10,065,953 

Large 5,171,895 3,512,216 8,684,112 203,393 8,480,719 

SME's 1,272,832 332,769 1,605,600 20,367 1,585,234 

Public sector 7,103,086 - 7,103,086 30,299 7,072,787 

Greece - - - - - 

Albania 7,103,086 - 7,103,086 30,299 7,072,787 

Total 21,389,904 5,643,124 27,033,028 299,070 26,733,959 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following table presents past due and not past due loans, measured at amortised cost, per IFRS 9 Stage 2 

as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Stage 2 

December 31, 2019 
Non Past Due Past due Total Allowance 

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Retail lending  372,207   985,037   1,357,244   65,574   1,291,670  

Mortgage  318,503   756,162   1,074,665   30,029   1,044,636  

Consumer  37,186   222,044   259,230   32,887   226,342  

Credit cards  2,091   5,782   7,873   2,369   5,504  

Other (incl. SBL)  14,427   1,049   15,476   289   15,188  

Corporate lending  3,338,305   1,314,971   4,653,276  173,095 4,480,181 

Large  3,247,176   1,078,188   4,325,364  172,230 4,153,134 

SME's  91,129   236,783   327,912  865 327,047 

Total  3,710,512   2,300,008   6,010,520  238,669 5,771,851 

 

 

 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Stage 2 

 December 31,2018 Non Past Due Past due Total Allowance 

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Retail lending 436,430 1,081,453 1,517,883 68,994 1,448,889 

Mortgage 366,643 867,617 1,234,260 32,818 1,201,442 

Consumer 61,342 199,156 260,498 31,449 229,049 

Credit cards 2,774 11,592 14,366 4,578 9,788 

Other (incl. SBL) 5,671 3,088 8,759 149 8,610 

Corporate lending 2,155,992 1,949,767 4,105,759 109,064 3,996,694 

Large 1,994,532 1,788,516 3,783,049 108,945 3,674,103 

SME's 161,460 161,251 322,710 119 322,591 

Total 2,592,422 3,031,220 5,623,642 178,058 5,445,583 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 

The following table presents past due and not past due loans, measured at amortised cost, per IFRS 9 Stage 3 

as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 

  Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

   Stage 3   

 December 31, 

2019 
Non Past Due Past due Total Allowance 

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Retail lending  26,835   1,169,092   1,195,928   548,664   647,265  

Mortgage  17,016   855,564   872,581   319,974   552,606  

Consumer  9,819   243,178   252,997   179,300   73,697  

Credit cards  -     26,414   26,414   18,133   8,283  

Other (incl. SBL)  -     43,936   43,936   31,257   12,679  

Corporate lending  378,327   1,552,099   1,930,425   321,190   1,609,234  

Large  268,632   1,128,119   1,396,751   252,733   1,144,017  

SME's  109,695   423,980   533,674   68,457   465,217  

Total  405,162   2,721,191   3,126,353   869,854   2,256,499  

 

 

  Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

   Stage 3   

 December 31, 

2018 
Non Past Due Past due Total Allowance 

Total Carrying 

Amount 

Retail lending 63,997 1,345,710 1,409,707 571,848 837,859 

Mortgage 47,123 1,000,674 1,047,797 320,961 726,837 

Consumer 16,874 260,787 277,661 198,718 78,943 

Credit cards - 29,816 29,816 20,231 9,584 

Other (incl. SBL) - 54,433 54,433 31,938 22,495 

Corporate lending 830,917 2,180,930 3,011,847 499,452 2,512,396 

Large 780,749 1,709,284 2,490,033 409,692 2,080,341 

SME's 50,168 471,646 521,814 89,760 432,055 

Total 894,914 3,526,640 4,421,554 1,071,300 3,350,255 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

Loans by credit quality and IFRS 9 Stage 

The following tables presents loans measured at amortised cost per IFRS 9 Stage and credit quality for Retail 

portfolio. There are no loans to report which were impaired at their acquisition/origination (POCI) or  measured 

at fair value through profit or loss as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

 December 31, 2019 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired 

Total 

Mortgage         

Strong  6,747,597   1,074,665   -     7,822,262  

Satisfactory  -     -     -     -    

Watch list (higher risk)  -     -     -     -    

Default  -     -     872,581   872,581  

Total gross amount  6,747,597   1,074,665   872,581   8,694,843  

Loss allowance  9,528   30,029   319,974   359,531  

Carrying amount  6,738,069   1,044,636   552,607   8,335,312  

Consumer  -     -     -     -    

Strong  3,682,999   259,230   -     3,942,229  

Satisfactory  -     -     -     -    

Watch list (higher risk)  -     -     -     -    

Default  -     -     252,997   252,997  

Total  3,682,999   259,230   252,997   4,195,226  

Loss allowance  45,828   32,888   179,300   258,016  

Carrying amount  3,637,171   226,342   73,697   3,937,210  

Credit cards  -     -     -     -    

Strong  152,234   7,873   -     160,107  

Satisfactory  -     -     -     -    

Watch list (higher risk)  -     -     -     -    

Default  -     -     26,414   26,414  

Total  152,234   7,873   26,414   186,521  

Loss allowance  2,911   2,369   18,132   23,412  

Carrying amount  149,323   5,504   8,282   163,109  

Other (incl. SBL)  -     -     -     -    

Strong  41,666   15,477   -     57,143  

Satisfactory  -     -     -     -    

Watch list (higher risk)  -     -     -     -    

Default  -     -     43,936   43,936  

Total  41,666   15,477   43,936   101,079  

Loss allowance  28   289   31,257   31,574  

Carrying amount  41,638   15,188   12,679   69,505  

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

80 
 

15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

December 31, 2018 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired 

Total 

Mortgage         

Strong 6,350,819 1,234,260 - 7,585,079 

Satisfactory - - - - 

Watch list (higher risk) - - - - 

Default - - 1,047,797 1,047,797 

Total gross amount 6,350,819 1,234,260 1,047,797 8,632,876 

Loss allowance 7,558 32,818 320,961 361,337 

Carrying amount 6,343,261 1,201,442 726,836 8,271,539 

Consumer - - - - 

Strong 3,078,582 260,498 - 3,339,080 

Satisfactory - - - - 

Watch list (higher risk) - - - - 

Default - - 277,661 277,661 

Total 3,078,582 260,498 277,661 3,616,741 

Loss allowance 33,822 31,449 198,718 263,989 

Carrying amount 3,044,760 229,049 78,943 3,352,752 

Credit cards - - - - 

Strong 162,873 14,366 - 177,239 

Satisfactory - - - - 

Watch list (higher risk) - - - - 

Default - - 29,816 29,816 

Total 162,873 14,366 29,816 207,055 

Loss allowance 3,600 4,578 20,231 28,409 

Carrying amount 159,273 9,788 9,585 178,646 

Other (incl. SBL) - - - - 

Strong 47,956 8,759 - 56,715 

Satisfactory - - - - 

Watch list (higher risk) - - - - 

Default - - 54,433 54,433 

Total 47,956 8,759 54,433 111,148 

Loss allowance 32 149 31,938 32,119 

Carrying amount 47,924 8,610 22,495 79,029 

 

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

81 
 

15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following table presents loans measured at amortised cost per IFRS 9 Stage and credit quality for 

Wholesale portfolio as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

 December 31, 2019 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired 
Total 

Corporate  -     -     -     -    

Strong 2,063,442 48,399  -    2,111,841 

Satisfactory 7,293,916 1,809,792  -    9,103,708 

Watch list (higher risk) 288,645 2,467,173  -    2,755,818 

Default  -     -    1,396,751 1,396,751 

Total 9,646,003 4,325,364 1,396,751 15,368,118 

Loss allowance 196,153 172,229 252,733 621,115 

Carrying amount 9,449,850 4,153,135 1,144,018 14,747,003 

SME's Corporate  -     -     -     -    

Strong 45,357  -     -    45,357 

Satisfactory 1,119,024 128,291  -    1,247,315 

Watch list (higher risk) 272,816 199,621  -    472,437 

Default  -     -    533,674 533,674 

Total 1,437,197 327,912 533,674 2,298,783 

Loss allowance 12,865 865 68,457 82,187 

Carrying amount 1,424,332 327,047 465,217 2,216,596 

Public Sector Albania  -     -     -     -    

Watch list (higher risk) 5,566,675  -     -    5,566,675 

Total 5,566,675  -     -    5,566,675 

Loss allowance 27,846  -     -    27,846 

Carrying amount 5,538,829  -     -    5,538,829 

Letters of guarantee, 

letters of credit and other 

guarantees 

 -     -     -     -    

Strong 11,941  -     -    11,941 

Satisfactory 540,535  -     -    540,535 

Watch list 30,729  -     -    30,729 

Default  -     -     -     -    

Exposure to credit risk 583,205  -     -    583,205 

Loss allowance  -     -     -     -    

Carrying amount 

(provision) 

583,205  -     -    583,205 

Undrawn loan agreements 

and credit limits 

 -     -     -     -    

Strong 716,034 14,844  -    730,878 

Satisfactory  348,719 556  -    349,275 

Watch list 73,713 90,480  -    164,193 

Default  -     -     -     -    

Exposure to credit risk 1,138,466 105,880  -    1,244,346 

Loss allowance  -     -     -     -    

Carrying amount 1,138,466 105,880  -    1,244,346 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

December 31, 2019 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired 
Total 

Corporate         

Strong 1,619,794 - - 1,619,794 

Satisfactory 6,296,797 2,547,008 - 8,843,805 

Watch list (higher risk) 767,521 1,236,041 - 2,003,562 

Default - - 2,490,033 2,490,033 

Total 8,684,112 3,783,049 2,490,033 14,957,194 

Loss allowance 203,393 108,945 409,692 722,030 

Carrying amount 8,480,719 3,674,104 2,080,341 14,235,164 

SME's Corporate - - - - 

Satisfactory 1,320,051 118,893 - 1,438,944 

Watch list (higher risk) 285,549 203,817 - 489,366 

Default - - 521,814 521,814 

Total 1,605,600 322,710 521,814 2,450,124 

Loss allowance 20,367 119 89,760 110,246 

Carrying amount 1,585,233 322,591 432,054 2,339,878 

Public Sector Albania - - - - 

Watch list (higher risk) 7,103,086 - - 7,103,086 

Total 7,103,086 - - 7,103,086 

Loss allowance 30,299 - - 30,299 

Carrying amount 7,072,787 - - 7,072,787 

Letters of guarantee, 

letters of credit and other 

guarantees 

- - - 

- 

Strong 156,305 - - 156,305 

Satisfactory  425,161 -  425,161 

Watch list 31,810 - - 31,810 

Default - - - - 

Exposure to credit risk 613,276 - - 613,276 

Loss allowance - - - - 

Carrying amount 

(provision) 
613,276 

- - 
613,276 

Undrawn loan agreements 

and credit limits 

- - - 
- 

Strong 723,482 16,426 - 739,908 

Satisfactory  1,008,992 14,946 - 1,023,938 

Watch list 36,216 123,783 - 159,999 

Default - - - - 

Exposure to credit risk 1,768,689 155,155 - 1,923,844 

Loss allowance - - - - 

Carrying amount 1,768,689 155,155 - 1,923,844 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following tables present ageing analysis by IFRS 9 Stage and product line expressed in net amounts for 

Retail portfolio as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 

 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Retail lending 

December 

31, 2019  
Mortgage Consumer 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current  5,102,139   312,892   12,849   5,427,880   2,883,676   33,726   4,921   2,922,323  

1 - 30 days  1,635,930   224,768   74,034   1,934,732   753,495   20,801   11,655   785,951  

31 - 60 days  -     357,686   136,841   494,527   -     93,064   14,338   107,402  

61 - 90 days  -     149,291   83,804   233,094   -     78,752   8,240   86,992  

91 - 180 days  -     -     4,873   4,873   -     -     8,647   8,647  

181 - 36days  -     -     16,019   16,019   -     -     11,575   11,575  

> 360 days  -     -     224,187   224,187   -     -     14,320   14,320  

Total  6,738,069   1,044,636   552,606   8,335,312   3,637,171   226,342   73,697   3,937,210  

Value of 

collateral  6,697,464   1,060,904   738,408   8,496,776   2,046,839   162,435   69,267   2,278,540  

         
  Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Retail lending 

December 

31, 2019  
Credit cards Other (incl SBL) 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current  140,139   1,607   -     141,747   20,260   14,139   -     34,399  

1 - 30 days  9,184   140   -     9,323   21,378   -     203   21,581  

31 - 60 days  -     2,663   -     2,663   -     1,049   3,855   4,904  

61 - 90 days  -     1,094   -     1,094   -     -     2,072   2,072  

91 - 180 days  -     -     408   408   -     -     -     -    

181 - 360 

days  -     -     7,874   7,874   -     -     -     -    

> 360 days  -     -     -     -     -     -     6,549   6,549  

Total  149,323   5,504   8,282   163,108   41,638   15,188   12,679   69,506  

Value of 

collateral  -     -     -     -     41,666   15,477   20,541   77,683  
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 

 Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

  Retail lending 

 December 

31, 2018 
Mortgage Consumer 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current 5,140,031 359,912 47,105 5,547,048 2,492,971 55,325 11,174 2,559,470 

1 - 30 days 1,203,230 197,642 93,079 1,493,951 551,790 20,199 14,955 586,944 

31 - 60 days - 378,591 90,481 469,072 - 90,270 5,541 95,811 

61 - 90 days - 265,297 143,603 408,900 - 63,255 7,496 70,751 

91 - 180 days - - 49,085 49,085 - - 9,192 9,192 

181 - 360 

days - - 31,979 31,979 - - 20,583 20,583 

> 360 days - - 271,505 271,505 - - 10,002 10,002 

Total 6,343,261 1,201,442 726,837 8,271,540 3,044,761 229,049 78,943 3,352,753 

Value of 

collateral 6,226,731 1,209,849 1,004,410 8,440,990 1,777,757 170,021 73,613 2,021,391 

         
  Loans measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

December 

31, 2018 
Retail lending 

  Credit cards Other (incl SBL) 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current 151,357 1,904 - 153,261 35,770 5,522 0 41,291 

1 - 30 days 7,916 468 - 8,384 12,155 2,197 5,835 20,187 

31 - 60 days - 6,546 - 6,546 - - - - 

61 - 90 days - 870 - 870 - 891 3,927 4,818 

91 - 180 days - - 580 580 - - - - 

181 - 360 

days - - 1,268 1,268 - - - - 

> 360 days - - 7,737 7,737 - - 12,733 12,733 

Total 159,273 9,788 9,584 178,645 47,925 8,610 22,495 79,029 

Value of 

collateral - - - - 45,944 9,035 32,421 87,400 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following tables present  ageing analysis by IFRS 9 Stage and Business segment expressed in net 

amounts for Wholesale portfolio as at December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

 

  AT AMORTISED COST   

  Corporate lending 

 December 

31, 2019 
Large SMEs 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current 8,304,888 3,098,522 237,147 11,640,557  910,147   91,112   104,693   1,105,952  

1 - 30 days  1,144,964   966,520   117,127   2,228,611   514,185   95,886   17,066   627,137  

31 - 60 days  -     60,970   95,793   156,763   -     114,557   19,623   134,180  

61 - 90 days  -     27,122   175,326   202,448   -     25,492   83,761   109,253  

91 - 180 days  -     -     207,533   207,533   -     -     83,666   83,666  

181 - 360 

days  -     -     49,442   49,442   -     -     47,611   47,611  

> 360 days  -     -     261,649   261,649   -     -     108,798   108,798  

Total 9,449,852 4,153,134 1,144,017 14,747,003  1,424,332   327,047   465,218   2,216,597  

Value of 

collateral  8,425,503   4,224,119   1,391,108   14,040,730   1,395,598   327,327   525,206   2,248,131  

 

 

 

  AT AMORTISED COST   

 December 31, 2019 Public Sector 

  Albania 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current 5,538,829   -     5,538,829 

Total  5,538,829  -      5,538,829 

Value of collateral  1,436,886   -      1,436,886  
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 
 AT AMORTISED COST   

December 

31, 2018 
Corporate lending 

  Large SMEs 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current 5,064,380 1,944,250 736,987 7,745,617 1,258,778 161,459 47,473 1,467,710 

1 - 30 days 3,416,339 1,239,901 271,856 4,928,096 326,455 67,771 37,624 431,850 

31 - 60 days - 435,264 108,641 543,905 - 37,343 66,731 104,074 

61 - 90 days - 54,689 150,925 205,614 - 56,018 21,866 77,884 

91 - 180 days - - 150,532 150,532 - - 57,923 57,923 

181 - 360 

days - - 383,200 383,200 - - 43,465 43,465 

> 360 days - - 278,200 278,200 - - 156,973 156,973 

Total 8,480,719 3,674,104 2,080,341 14,235,164 1,585,233 322,591 432,055 2,339,879 

Value of 

collateral 7,883,914 2,469,858 3,260,538 13,614,310 1,639,968 252,874 474,363 2,367,205 

 

 

 

  AT AMORTISED COST   

 December 31, 2018 Public Sector 

  Albania 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Current 7,072,787 - - 7,072,787 

Total 7,072,787 - - 7,072,787 

Value of collateral 2,567,136 - - 2,567,136 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying amount for the retail portfolio to help explain their 

significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same portfolio as at December 31, 2019 and 

December 31, 2018 : 

 

  Retail Lending 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
POCI 

Assets 
Total 

          

Balance at 1 January, 2019 9,640,230 1,517,883 1,409,707   12,567,820 

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 275,245 (260,635) (14,610 - - 

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (325,572) 448,809 (123,237) - - 

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (23,671) (111,972) 135,643 - - 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 2,776,672 - - - 2,776,672 

Derecognition of financial assets     -   

Interest on gross carrying amount 599,872 91,729 77,427 - 769,028 

Changes due to modifications that did 

not result in derecognition - - - - - 

Write-offs - - (132,732) - (132,732) 

Repayments and other changes (2,318,280) (328,569) (156,270) - (2,803,119) 

Reclassification to assets held for sale  - - - - - 

Gross Balance December 31, 2019 10,624,496 1,357,245 1,195,928 - 13,177,669 

 

  Retail Lending 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
POCI 

Assets 
Total 

          

Balance at 1 January, 2018 9,570,304 1,346,378 1,910,626 - 12,827,308 

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 213,555 (188,881) (24,674) - - 

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (423,898) 719,720 (295,822) - - 

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (45,020) (137,356) 182,376 - - 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 2,161,395 - - - 2,161,395 

Derecognition of financial assets - - - - - 

Interest on gross carrying amount 547,784 85,476 36,433 - 669,693 

Changes due to modifications that did not 

result in derecognition - - - - - 

Write-offs - - (144,380) - (144,380) 

Repayments and other changes (2,383,889) (307,454) (254,852) - (2,946,195) 

Reclassification to assets held for sale  - - - - - 

Gross Balance December 31, 2018 9,640,231 1,517,883 1,409,707 - 12,567,821 

 

 

  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 

  

88 
 

15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying amount for the Corporate lending & Public 

Sector portfolio to help explain their significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same portfolio 

as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 : 

 

 Corporate & Public Sector 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
POCI 

Assets 
Total 

      

Balance at 1 January 2019 17,392,799 4,105,759 3,011,847 - 24,510,405 

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 950,814 (940,597) (10,217) - 0 

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (812,974) 1,399,567 (586,593) - 0 

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (289,605) (35,377) 324,982 - 0 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 2,526,342 - - - 2,526,342 

Derecognition of financial assets - - - -   

Interest on gross carrying amount 567,995 86,739 95,596 - 750,330 

Changes due to modifications that 

did not result in derecognition     -   

Write-offs 0 0 (339,609) - (339,609) 

Repayments and other changes (3,619,745) 37,185 (565,581) - (4,148,141) 

Reclassification to assets held for 

sale  - - - - - 

Gross Balance December 31, 

2019 16,715,626 4,653,276 1,930,425 - 23,299,327 

 

 

 

  Corporate & Public Sector 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
POCI 

Assets 
Total 

       -  

Balance at 1 January, 2018 12,559,856 2,847,208 5,126,721 - 20,533,785 

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 380,562 (157,107) (223,455) - - 

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (1,731,563) 2,672,327 (940,764) - - 

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (242,442) (230,773) 473,215 - - 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 8,890,115 - - - 8,890,115 

Derecognition of financial assets - - - - - 

Interest on gross carrying amount 464,498 149,169 152,486 - 766,153 

Changes due to modifications that did 

not result in derecognition - - - - - 

Write-offs - - (586,214) - (586,214) 

Repayments and other changes (2,928,227) (1,175,066) (990,142) - (5,093,435) 

Reclassification to assets held for sale  - - - - - 

Gross Balance December 31, 2018 17,392,799 4,105,758 3,011,847 - 24,510,404 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

Reconciliation of accumulated provision for impairment losses of loans per IFRS 9 Stage 

 

The following tables includes the movement in the accumulated provision for impairment losses of Retail 

loans measured at amortised cost as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 : 

 

 

  
Allowance of loans and advances to customers at 

amortised cost 

  Retail lending 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at January 1, 2019 42,988 61,580 552,539 657,107 

Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 14,256 (10,933) (3,323) - 

Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (3,280) 18,505 (15,225) - 

Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (787) (8,846) 9,633 - 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (12,825) 7,817 34,982 29,974 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 25,435 5,122 0 30,557 

Derecognition of financial assets - 0 0 - 

Write-offs - 0 (132,732) (132,732) 

Changes in risk parameters (7,454) (7,589) 67,570 52,527 

Changes in models - - - - 

Foreign exchange and other 

movements (38) (82) (1,241) (1,361) 

Change in PV of the allowance 

Account - 0 36,461 36,461 

Total net P&L charge during the 

period 15,345 4,076 93,637 113,058 

Other movements with no P&L 

impact (38) (82) 35,220 35,100 

Financial assets derecognised during 

the period - - (132,732) (132,732) 

Balance December 31, 2019 58,295 65,574 548,664 672,533 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

Reconciliation of accumulated provision for impairment losses of loans per IFRS 9 Stage (Continued) 

 

 

  
Allowance of loans and advances to customers at amortised 

cost 

  Retail lending 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at January 1, 2018 35,805 58,100 599,415 693,320 

Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 17,218 (12,293) (4,925) - 

Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (3,083) 25,449 (22,366) - 

Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (874) (12,666) 13,540 - 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (15,378) 5,521 42,396 32,539 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 12,671 3,258 - 15,929 

Derecognition of financial assets (5,498) (2,622) (138,203) (146,323) 

Write-offs - - (144,380) (144,380) 

Changes in risk parameters 4,362 4,794 190,676 199,832 

Changes in models - - - - 

Foreign exchange and other 

movements (211) (547) (6,610) (7,368) 

Change in PV of the allowance 

Account - - 42,304 42,304 

Total net P&L charge during the 

period 
                     

(3,844) 

                     

10,952  

                     

94,869  

 

101,977 

Other movements with no P&L 

impact 
 

13,051 

 

(58) 

 

21,943 

 

34,936 

Financial assets derecognised during 

the period - - (144,380) (144,380) 

Balance December 31, 2018 45,012 68,994 571,847 685,853 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following table includes the movement in the accumulated provision for impairment losses of Corporate 

lending & Public Sector loans measured at amortised cost as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 : 

 

 

Allowance of loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 

 

 Corporate lending & Public Sector 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at January 1, 2019  232,874   76,965   308,168   618,007  

Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3)  11,137   (11,137)  -     -    

Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3)  (808)  1,197   (389)  - 

Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2)  (1,962)  -     1,962   -    

Net remeasurement of loss allowance  5,793   459   9,263   15,515  

New financial assets originated or 

purchased  25,765   45,376   -     71,141  

Derecognition of financial assets  -     -     -     -    

Initial recognition of financial assets   -     -     -    

Write-offs  -     -     (339,609)  (339,609) 

Changes in risk parameters  (34,940)  60,556   335,888   361,504  

Changes in models  -     -     -     -    

Foreign exchange and other 

movements  (994)  (323)  141   (1,176) 

Change in PV of the allowance 

Account  -     -     5,767   5,767  

Reclassification to assets held for sale  -     -     -     -    

Total net P&L charge during the 

period 4,985 96,451 346,723 448,160 

Other movements with no P&L 

impact (994)  (323) 5,909 4,591 

Financial assets derecognised 

during the period - - -339,609 -339,609 

Balance December 31, 2019 236,865 173,093 321,191 731,149 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

Allowance of loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 
 

 Corporate lending & Public Sector 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at January 1, 2018 85,526 46,993 710,481 843,000 

Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 5,025 (1,208) (3,817) - 

Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (6,702) 19,229 (12,527) - 

Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (2,010) (1,004) 3,014 - 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (3,259) 48,742 43,937 89,420 

New financial assets originated or 

purchased 71,637 - - 71,637 

Derecognition of financial assets (3,115) (246) (314,324) (317,685) 

Initial recognition of financial assets - - - - 

Write-offs - - (586,214) (586,214) 

Changes in risk parameters 109,108 (607) 643,069 751,570 

Changes in models - - - - 

Foreign exchange and other 

movements (2,151) (2,834) (4,651) (9,636) 

Change in PV of the allowance 

Account - - 20,483 20,483 

Reclassification to assets held for sale - - - - 

Total net P&L charge during the 

period 

 

174,371  

 

 47,889  

 

 372,682  

 

594,942  

Other movements with no P&L 

impact 

 

(5,838) 

 

14,183 

 

2,502 

 

10,847 

Financial assets derecognised 

during the period - - (586,214) (586,214) 

Balance December 31, 2018 254,059 109,065 499,451 862,575 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

 

The following table presents the analysis as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 of forborne loans 

by type of forberance measure: 

 

December 31, 2019 
Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) 

Net 

Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) 

Gross 

Interest payment only 94,406 200,270 

Reduce payments scheme 544,379 534,054 

Grace period - - 

Loan term extension 754,928 867,838 

Arrears capitalization 1,283,378 1,475,324 

Other 226,479 260,351 

Total net amount 2,903,570   3,337,837   

 

 

 

 December 31, 2018 
Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) 

Net 

Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) 

Gross 

Interest payment only 254,059 286,017 

Reduce payments scheme 677,492 762,712 

Grace period - - 

Loan term extension 1,100,924 1,239,407 

Arrears capitalization 1,871,571 2,106,992 

Other 330,277 371,822 

Total net amount 4,234,323 4,766,950 
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15. Loans and advances to customers (Continued) 

The following table presents the analysis of forborne loans by product line as at December December 31, 

2019 and December 31, 2018: 

 

 

 December 31, 2019 

Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) Net 

Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) 

Gross 

Retail lending 676,020 824,787 

Mortgage 579,834 680,326 

Consumer 75,777 119,618 

Credit cards - - 

Other (incl. SBL) 20,409 24,843 

Corporate lending 2,227,551 2,513,050 

Large 1,930,236 2,188,442 

SME's 297,315 324,608 

Total 2,903,571 3,337,837 

 

 

 

December 31, 2019 

Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) Net 

Loans measured at 

Amortised Cost (AC) 

Gross 

Retail lending 768,926 917,989 

Mortgage 678,276 765,214 

Consumer 74,066 127,889 

Credit cards - - 

Other (incl. SBL) 16,584 24,886 

Corporate lending 3,465,397 3,848,961 

Large 3,266,759 3,616,251 

SME's 198,638 232,710 

Total 4,234,323 4,766,950 
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16. Property, plant and equipment 

 

 Equipment 

Computers and 

furniture  

Vehicles and 

other assets 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Right-of use assets 

Total 

Cost       
At Janaury 1, 2018 209,018 791,477 94,472 1,152,047  2,247,014 

Additions 2,661 55,557 10,633 35,318  104,169 

Write – offs - (7,957) - (35,691)  (43,648) 

Disposals (2,291) (368) (35,833) -  (38,492) 

At December 31, 2018 209,388 838,709 69,272 1,151,674  2,269,043 

Impact from the 

implementation of I.F.R.S. 16 
- - (31,299) - 1,508,764 1,477,465 

Additions 1,066 28,437 - 9,943 8,215 47,661 

Write – offs (13) (750) - (19,382) - (20,145) 

Disposals (3,586) (25,938) -  - (29,524) 

At December31, 2019 206,855 840,458 37,973 1,142,235 1,516,979 3,744,500 

       
Accumulated depreciation      
At January 1, 2018 (199,006) (740,457) (65,848) (645,880)  (1,651,191) 

Charge for the year (3,930) (19,367) (8,106) (61,733)  (93,136) 

Write – offs 1,027 7,872 - 17,927  26,826 

Disposals 1,265 229 29,451 -  30,945 

At December 31, 2018 (200,645) (751,724) (44,503) (689,686)  (1,686,558) 

 - -  -   

Charge for the year (3,117) (29,565) 9,925 (58,197) (188,307) (269,261) 

Write – offs 11 2545 - 10,309 - 12,865 

Disposals 3,586 24,136 - - - 27,722 

At December31, 2019 (200,165) (754,608) (34,578) (737,574) (188,307) (1,915,232) 

Carrying amounts      
At January 1,2018 10,012 51,020 28,624 506,167 - 595,823 

At December31, 2018 8,745 86,987 24,769 461,988 - 582,489 

At December 31, 2019 6,691 85,851 3,395 404,660 1,328,671 1,829,268 

There are no assets pledged as collateral as at December 31,2019 (2018: none).
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16. Property, plant and equipment (Contined) 

 

Following the implementation of the new accounting standard, IFRS 16, effective from 1.1.2019, the Bank 

recognized a right-of use assets LEK 1,328,672 thousands as of December 31, 2019 ( LEK 1,290,168 thousand 

RoU on PPE buildings, LEK 29,106 thousand RoU on passenger cars, LEK 9,398 thousand RoU on other 

tangible fixed assets ). Additionally, due to the implementation of IFRS 16, existing leases of LEK 21,153 

thousands, which according to the former accounting standard were recognized as finance leases and were 

included in the “Vehicles and other assets” category, were reclassified to the “Right-of-use on fixed assets” at 

the amount of  LEK 1,328,672 thousands. 

 

Amounts recognized in profit and loss from implementation of IFRS 16 is detailed as follows: 

2019- Leases under IFRS 16   

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets                         188,307  

Interest expense on lease liabilities                           34,725  

Rent Expense for low value and short-term leases                             2,919  

Total 225,951 

  

2018 - Operating leases under IAS 17  

Rent expense 221,469 

Total 221,469 

 

17. Intangible Assets 

 Software  Total 

Cost    
At January 1, 2018 439,887  439,887 

Additions 4,063  4,063 

At December31, 2018 443,950  443,950 

Additions 30,138  30,138 

At December31,2019 474,088  474,088 

 
 

 

 

Accumulated amortization    
At January 1, 2018 (387,677)  (387,677) 

Charge for the year (13,235)  (13,235) 

At December31, 2018 (400,912)  (400,912) 

Charge for the year (12,025)  (12,025) 

At December31,2019 (412,937)  (412,937) 

 
 

 

 

Carrying amounts    
At January 1, 2018 52,210  52,210 

At December31, 2018 43,038  43,038 

At December 31,2019 61,151  61,151 
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18. Other assets 

Other assets are comprised as follows: 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Prepaid expenses  7,940  80,316 

Other debtors  293,391  208,889 

Other receivables  -  9,517 

Total  301,331  298,722 

Other assets comprise items which are expected to be settled during the course of the year. These assets are 

being monitored and reconciled by the Bank through relevant procedures, in order to asses and identify relevant 

problematic areas of possible unsettlement in the future.  

19. Repossessed assets 

Reposessed assets consist mainly of real estate property acquired through the enforcement of security over 

customer loans and advances.The Bank measures these assets at the lowest value between carrying amount and 

fair value. For cases that the fair value is lower than the carrying amount an impairment loss is recognized and 

recorded in other operating expenses.The fair value of reposessed assetsis classified in terms of fair value 

hierarchy in Level 3, since the Bank has made use of research inputs, assumptions and inputs relating to 

properties of relevant characteristics and therefore encompass a range of non-observable market inputs. 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Residential properties  99,037  99,510 

Commercial properties  617,164  609,415 

Total  716,201  708,925      

Total additions in reposessed assetsin 2019,were Lek 41,590 thousand (2018: Lek 312,410 thousand). During 

2019, the Bank recognized additional impairment of Lek 16,260 thousand (2018: Lek 9,209 thousand), for these 

assets. The sales of repossessed assets amounted Lek 10,199 thousand (2018: Lek 5,023 thousand) with a net 

gain of Lek 7,100 thousand (2018: Lek 528 thousand) included in other operating income. 

The movements in the net repossessed assets below: 

  2019  2018 

At January 1,  708,925  417,959 

Additions  41,590  312,410      

Sales  (10,199)  (5,023) 

Impairments  (20,160)  (9,209)      

Other differences  (3,955)  (7,212)      

At December31,  716,201  708,925      

 

The movements in the impairment loss of repossessed assets are presented below: 

  2019  2018 

At January 1,  (24,469)  (15,260) 

Additions   (20,160)  (9,209) 

At December31,   (44,629)  (24,469) 
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19. Prepaid taxes  

The movements in the prepaid taxes are presented below: 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Prepaid taxes  20,579  16,915 

Total  20,579  16,915 

 

During year 2019 the Bank did not compensate its tax obligations and consequently the prepaid income tax 

increased by Lek 3,664 thousand (December 2018: decreased by Lek 108,593 thousand). On 2018 the Bank 

compensated its tax obligations such as: social and health securities, and withholding taxes using the already 

prepaid income taxes (December 2018 the prepaid taxes decreased). 

 

20. Due to banks 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Current accounts  25,768  12,487 

Repo  -  1,411,273 

     

Cash collateral  1,436,886  2,568,136 

Interest accrued  86  550 

Total  1,462,740  3,992,446 

During 2019, the Bank has not pledged any Albanian Government Bonds since it has not performed repo 

transaction with Central Bank (2018: Lek1,411,273 thousand).  

In June 28, 2018, our Bank has signed with Alpha Bank AE an agreement on special purpose deposit serving as 

cash collateral to cover Large Exposure with Albanian Government , which has an amount of  Lek 1,436,886 

thousend as of 31 December 2019. 
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21. Derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities) 

The bank has entered in Foreign Exchange Derivatives transactions to cover liquidity needs in USD mainly to 

support its loans in USD through using excess liquidity in Euro. As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 

2018 the derivatives are as follows: 

December 31, 2019 

Contractual Nominal 

amount 

Fair value 

Assets Liabilities 

Foreign Exchange Derivatives       

FX swaps 241   34 

 

 

December 31, 2018 

Contractual 

Nominal amount 

 Fair value 

Assets Liabilities 

Foreign Exchange Derivatives       

FX swaps 2,090  1,801 

 

23. Due to customers 

  2019   2018  

  

Local 

currency 

Foreign 

currency Total 

Local 

currency 

Foreign 

currency Total 

Current accounts       
Individuals 4,786,527 12,055,825 16,842,352 3,791,853 10,004,119 13,795,972 

Private enterprises 2,298,796 5,309,263 7,608,059 1,664,875 3,534,788 5,199,663 

Public enterprises 11,879 197 12,076 103,649 157,419 261,068 

 7,097,202 17,365,285 24,462,487 5,560,377 13,696,326 19,256,703 

Savings accounts       
Individuals 2,713,795 10,702,180 13,415,975 2,387,502 9,061,617 11,449,119 

 2,713,795 10,702,180 13,415,975 2,387,502 9,061,617 11,449,119 

Term deposits       
Individuals 14,266,042 10,186,624 24,452,666 15,710,500 13,763,799 29,474,299 

Private enterprises 264,441 1,182,288 1,446,729 336,251 1,203,824 1,540,075 

 14,530,483 11,368,912 25,899,395 16,046,751 14,967,623 31,014,374 

       
Accrued interest 66,831 991 67,822 65,126 1,874 67,000 

Total 24,408,311 39,437,368 63,845,679 24,059,756 37,727,440 61,787,196 

Current and savings accounts bear interest rates ranging from 0% to 0.7 % for Lek (2018: from 0% to 0.45% 

p.a) and from 0% to 0.1% p.a. for foreign currencies as at December 31,2019 (2018: 0% to 0.12% p.a), excluding 

preferential interest rates. 

Term deposits bear interest rates ranging from 0% to 0.7% p.a. for Lek (2018: from 0.1% to 0.9 % p.a.) and 

from 0% to 0.2% p.a. for foreign currencies (2018: from 0% to 0.2%p.a.) excluding preferential interest rates. 
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24.  Subordinated debt 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Subordinated Debt  1,948,320  1,974,720 

Accrued Interest  2,858  2,956 

Total  1,951,178  1,977,676 

The subordinated debt of Lek 1,951,178 thousand (Euro 16 million) was granted from Alpha Bank A.E. through 

the agreement dated 12 May 2011. 

The principal is payable upon maturity, on 31 May 2021 (the amount of Euro 6 million) and on 31 May 2022 

(the amount of Euro 10 million), whilst the interest is payable on a quarterly basis. The debt bears interest at 

EURIBOR 3-month + 2% (2018: EURIBOR 3-month + 2% ). 
 

The changes in subordinated debt arised from financing activities, including the cash flow and non-cash flow 

changes, are presented in the table below: 

  January 1,2019 Cash Flows Non Cash Flows December 31,2019 

      

Accrued 

interest 

Foreign exchange 

differences   

Subordinated 

debt 1,977,676 (33,052) 32,951 (26,397) 1,951,178 

 

The above cash flows are incuded in the net cash flows from financing activities in the cash flow statement of 

the period. 

 

25. Other liabilities 

Other liabilities comprise the following: 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Suppliers and accrued expenses  194,397  225,765 

Provisions for other debtors  114,008  114,360 

Tax other than income tax  48,953  50,418 

Transactions as agent (State budget)  83,208  43,504 

Suspense accounts  58,493  38,055 

Payments in transit  19,091  36,781 

VAT payable  29,169  29,183 

Other  22,194  22,015 

Lease liabilities  1,336,044  15,706 

Social insurance payable  2,083  2,173 

Cheques for collections  329  345 

Total  1,907,969  578,305 

The amount of Lek 114,008 thousand (2018: 114,360 thousand) mainly represents “Provisions for account 

maintenance fees”. Suspense accounts represent accounts which the Bank expects to be settled within the course 

of the forthcoming year. 
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25. Other liabilities (Continued) 

Lease Liabilities (Continued) 

The following table presents the changes of lease liabilities as a result of the implementation of IFRS 16, by 

disclosing separately the cash flows, which are included in cash flows from financing activities as depicted in 

the cash flow statement, and the non-cash flows: 

 

 January 1, 2019 Cash Flows Non Cash Flows December 31, 2019 

     

New 

leases 

Foreign exchange 

differences   

Lease liability 1,477,468 (200,710) 43,867 15,419 1,336,044 

Lease  Liabilities 

Bank’s obligations with respect to leases consist mainly of buildings which are used either as branches or as 

other operating units, offsite ATMs and cars for senior management. 

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods, but may have extension options.The duration of the lease 

agreements for buildings is over 5 years, 1 year for offsite ATMs and 5 years for passenger cars. 

It is noted that there are no leases of fixed assets which include term of variable lease. The recognized expenses 

of variable lease relates to other type of lease. 

 

Following the implementation of IFRS 16, effective from 1.1.2019, the Bank recognized right-of-use assets and 

lease liabilities for all the leases fallen to IFRS 16. Lease liabilities were discounted at the incremental borrowing 

rate (IBR) of 1.1.2019. The weighted average rate was 2.22 %. More specifically, the Bank recognized as at 

1.1.2019 right-of-use assets of Lek 1,477,465, and lease liabilities of Lek  1,477,468 thousend. 

 

In Lek  1 January 2019 

Right-of-use  on PPE buildings 1,452,044 

Right-of-use on passenger cars 12,224 

Right-of-use assets on other tangible fixed assets 13,197 

Total 1,477,465 

 

In Lek  1 January 2019 

Lease Liabilities                       1,477,468 

 

 

The following table present the reconciliation of minimum future lease payments as disclosed in IAS 17 at the 

financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, with the lease liabilities recognized on January 1, 

2019 according to IFRS 16. 

 

Minimum future lease payments December 31, 2018  1,690,741  

Impact of discounted liabilities from leasing using incremental 

borrowing rate (IBR) on January 1, 2019 

 (213,273) 

Total lease liabilities recognized on January 1, 2019  1,477,468  

 

Finance lease liabilities from active lease contracts treated as finance lease under the light of IFRS 16 as at 31 

December 2019 are detailed as follows: 

  2019 

Lease Liabilities - current  169,925 

Lease Liabilities -non current  1,166,119 

Total Lease Liabilities 1,336,044 
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26. Share capital and other reserves 

The Bank’s authorized, issued and fully paid capital comprises a 100% stockholding by Alpha Bank A.E., 

Athens.There were no movements in share capital in 2019.At December 31,2019 and 2018,the share capital of 

the Bank includes contributions denominated in USD and in EUR as follows: 

Currency In original currency In Lek ‘000 Exchange rate 

USD 10,080,000 1,095,091 108.64 

EUR 61,152,499 7,446,540 121.77 

EUR 10,000,000 1,217,700 121.77 

Total  9,759,331  

Upon its transformation to subsidiary in 2012,the Bankused the historical foreign exchange rates approved by the 

Central Bank as of December 31, 2011, to register its share capital. This conversion resulted in the creation of a 

negative translation reserve of Lek 243,192 thousand, which is classified within Other reserves.Other reserves 

are comprised as follows: 

  2019  2018 

Fair value reserve (financial assets)  982,894  722,766 

Tax effect on the fair value reserve (see note 11)  (147,434)  (108,415) 

Conversion reserve   (243,191)  (243,191) 

Total  592,269  371,160 

 

27.  Regulatory reserve 

The regulatory reserve of Lek 817,483 thousand (2018: Lek 817,483 thousand), was established according to the 

Central Bank regulation “On Bank’s Regulatory Capital” approved by the Bank of Albania Supervisory Board 

with decision no.69 date 18 Decmeber2014. Banks and branches of foreign banks create reserves of 1.25% up to 

2% of the total risk weighted assets, by appropriating one fifth of the profit after taxes and before payment of 

dividends. 

 

28.  Cash and cash equivalent 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Cash in hand  1,847,509  1,509,663 

Current accounts with Central Bank  112,573  369,446 

Nostro and sight accounts with other banks  2,279,570  1,030,925 

Short term placements with other banks  11,808,956  13,452,054 

Total  16,048,608  16,362,088 
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29.  Commitments and contingencies 

Commitments and contingencies include guarantees received from and extended to customers as follows: 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019  

As at  

December 31, 2018 

Contingent liabilities     
Guarantees in favour of customers  583,205  613,276 

Letters of Credit  -  - 
Undrawn credit commitments  1,936,726  1,960,743 

Letters of credit and guarantees given to customers commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers 

contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract. 

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. 

Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire 

without being drawn upon, the total amounts do not necessarily represent cash requirements. 

Legal claims and litigations 

In the normal course of business the Bank is presented with legal claims and litigation.The Bank’s management 

is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in relation to legal claims outstanding as at December 

31,2019(December 31,2018: the same). 

 

30.  Related party transactions 

In the course of conducting its banking business, the Bank entered into various business transactions with related 

parties. The related parties with whom the Bank entered into business transactions are: 

 

  

As at December 31, 

2019  

As at December 31, 

2018 

Alpha Bank A.E.- assets     
Loans and advances to financial institutions  8,921,720  9,100,596 

Alpha Bank A.E. - liabilities     

Subordinated debt   1,951,178  1,977,676 

Due to banks  25,769  13,487 

FX Swap  34  1,801 

Cash Collateral to cover Large Exposures  1,436,972  2,567,463 

Other liabilities  117,287  127,654 

     out of which group companies  101,232  111,439 

Bank Directors     
Loans to Bank Directors  33,496  912 

Deposits and current accounts  22,108  25,126 

Collateral taken  34,217  1,425 

Interest income arising from  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2019  

For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 

Loans and advances from financial 

institutions  
38,094 

 
109,908 

Loans and advances to Bank Directors  381  25 

Interest expense arising from     
Due to banks  85,384  59,617 

Customer deposits – Bank Directors  10  10 

Other expenses     

Other expenses  238,829  252,588 

     out of which group companies  206,583  221,222 

Remuneration for Bank Directors  52,350  41,700 

Remuneration of non-executive members   5,765  4,160 
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31.  Subsequent events 

Subsequent to 31 December 2019, on 11 March 2020, World Health Organisation announced a pandemic due to 

the emergence and spread of the coronavirus Covid-19 in early 2020. The management has assessed the impact 

from this event for the Bank as disclosed in Note 3 (r). 

The Bank monitors the current situation regarding the rapid transmission of COVID-19 the impact on the asset 

quality, the risk model sensitivity in macroeconomic perimeters, as well as the implementation of the Business 

Plan. The Bank also reassessed the business continuity plan as well as the ability to retain its business operations, 

in order to support its customers. In addition, there are taken the necessary steps to ensure the security and the 

prosperity of the employees. 

The above efforts are being carried out concurrently with the actions of the Albanian Government to address the 

economic impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) and to support the economy and rentrepreneurship. On 17 

March 2020 there was a joint order of the prime minister and governor of the Bank of Albania for postponement 

by 3 months the payment of loan installments for all individuals and businesses who faced difficulties due to 

COVID-19 which on July were extended up to August 31, 2019.   

In this context, the Bank has already approved measures to address the current situation of individuals and 

businesses. 
In response to COVID – 19 pandemic situation, the Bank is currently under the process of assessing the 

impact related to the calculation of expected credit loss for loans and advances to customers. 

 

The management of the Bank is not aware of any other events after the reporting date that would require either 

adjustment or additional disclosures in these financial statements. 
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